

Supersymmetric localization in two dimensions

Francesco Benini, Bruno Le Floch

▶ To cite this version:

Francesco Benini, Bruno Le Floch. Supersymmetric localization in two dimensions. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 2017, 50 (44), pp.443003. 10.1088/1751-8121/aa77bb . hal-04798026

HAL Id: hal-04798026 https://hal.science/hal-04798026v1

Submitted on 22 Nov 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

Supersymmetric localization in two dimensions

Francesco Benini^{1,2} and Bruno Le Floch³

¹International School for Advanced Studies (SISSA), via Bonomea 265, 34136 Trieste, Italy

²Blackett Laboratory, Imperial College London, London SW7 2AZ, United Kingdom

³Princeton Center for Theoretical Science, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ 08544, USA

fbenini@sissa.it, blefloch@princeton.edu

Abstract

This is an introductory review to localization techniques in supersymmetric two-dimensional gauge theories. In particular we describe how to construct Lagrangians of $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ theories on curved spaces, and how to compute their partition functions and certain correlators on the sphere, the hemisphere and other curved backgrounds. We also describe how to evaluate the partition function of $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ theories on the torus, known as the elliptic genus. Finally we summarize some of the applications, in particular to probe mirror symmetry and other non-perturbative dualities.

This is a contribution to the review volume "Localization techniques in quantum field theories" (eds. V. Pestun and M. Zabzine) which contains 17 Chapters available at [1]

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	2			
2	$\mathcal{N}=$	$\mathcal{N}{=}(2,2)$ gauge theories on spheres				
	2.1	Multiplets, Lagrangians and supersymmetry	(
	2.2	BPS equations	8			
	2.3	Coulomb branch localization	1(
	2.4	The A-system	1:			
	2.5	Higgs branch localization	1!			
	2.6	One-loop determinants	18			
3	Oth	Other $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ curved-space results 2				
	3.1	Local operator insertions	2			
	3.2	Twisted multiplets on the sphere	2			
	3.3	Localization on the hemisphere	20			
	3.4	Ω -deformed A-twist on the sphere \ldots	2			
	3.5	General supersymmetric backgrounds	3			

4	$\mathbf{Elli}_{\mathbf{I}}$	Elliptic genera of $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ and $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ theories			
	4.1	Multiplets, Lagrangians and supersymmetry	38		
	4.2	The localization formula and the JK residue	40		
		4.2.1 The Jeffrey-Kirwan residue	42		
	4.3	The derivation	43		
	4.4	Extensions and applications	45		
5	Dualities				
	5.1	Mirror symmetry	48		
	5.2	Seiberg duality with unitary groups	51		
	5.3	Variants of Seiberg duality	55		
	5.4	$\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ trialities	58		
6	Con	clusion	59		

1 Introduction

Two-dimensional theories, despite the low dimensionality, are interesting for a number of reasons: they often appear in statistical physics and condensed matter physics; they share many properties with four-dimensional theories but are more tractable and yet quite nontrivial; they play a central role in string theory; they endow intricate mathematical problems and structures. Particularly tractable are supersymmetric theories, and we will be mostly concerned with 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ and $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ supersymmetry. Those theories appear on the worldsheet of strings compactified down to four dimensions with $\mathcal{N}=2$ or $\mathcal{N}=1$ supersymmetry. They also exhibit dualities, which identify low-energy limits of pairs of theories, similar to 4d Seiberg duality [2]. Two-dimensional non-linear sigma models (NLSMs) with Kähler or Calabi-Yau target space, or bundles on such spaces, are related to mathematical problems such as mirror symmetry, Gromov-Witten invariants and quantum sheaf cohomology. Gauged linear sigma models (GLSMs), namely two-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories, can provide convenient ultraviolet (UV) descriptions of NLSMs [3] thus proving to be extraordinary computational tools. Finally, GLSMs are also used as microscopic descriptions of surface operators in higher dimensions and as worldsheet theories for brane intersections (such as M-strings).

In this review we summarize recent results in supersymmetric localization techniques for two-dimensional theories, and applications to Calabi-Yau manifolds and dualities. The first half of the review concerns $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ theories on curved (compact) spaces: their construction and the computation of the corresponding Euclidean path-integral—that we will generically call a "partition function". Curved-space Lagrangians can be obtained by coupling the supersymmetric theory to supergravity, and then switching on background values for the metric and the other bosonic fields in the graviton multiplet [4] (also Contribution [5]). While the flat space $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ supersymmetry algebra admits both a vector and an axial U(1) R-symmetry, a mixed anomaly prevents them from being simultaneously gauged: the curved space background must break one, giving rise to A-type and B-type backgrounds, respectively. Supersymmetric supergravity backgrounds on compact orientable Riemann surfaces and preserving the vector R-symmetry were classified in [6].¹ With the topology of the sphere, one finds the well-known A- (and \overline{A} -) twist [8] with ± 1 units of R-symmetry flux, as well as an " Ω -deformation" thereof [9, 10] (see subsection 3.4)—but also "untwisted" backgrounds [11, 12, 13] (see section 2 and subsection 3.2) with zero net R-symmetry flux, analogous to the seminal setup of Pestun on S^4 [14]. The genus g = 1 case includes flat tori (see section 4). For all these cases, we show how partition functions can be computed. For g > 1, the only solution is the A-twist and we will not discuss it further.

To begin with, in section 2 we follow [11, 12, 13] and perform supersymmetric localization for $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ chiral and vector multiplets on squashed-sphere untwisted backgrounds preserving the vector R-symmetry R. Since continuous deformations of the coefficients in kinetic and superpotential terms in the action do not affect the path-integral (as those terms are \mathcal{Q} -exact with respect to a supercharge \mathcal{Q}), the partition function is independent of gauge couplings and wave-function renormalization and it is thus a renormalization group (RG) invariant. It is a non-trivial non-perturbative function of R-charges and twisted chiral parameters: twisted masses and flavor fluxes (background field strengths coupled to flavor symmetries) as well as Fayet-Iliopoulos (FI) parameters and theta angles (appearing in the twisted superpotential).

To showcase the supersymmetric localization method, we go through this relatively tractable case in detail. The path integral localizes to fixed-points of Q (see subsection 2.2) and quadratic fluctuations around these. Their contribution (see subsection 2.6) is found by adding to the action a Q-exact and Q-closed deformation term $t\delta_Q V$: the limit $t \to \infty$ localizes the path integral further to saddle-points of $\delta_Q V$. It turns out that using two different deformation terms one can get different-looking expressions (2.17) and (2.40). The first one (see subsection 2.3), called *Coulomb branch formula*, is a sum over gauge fluxes and an integral over a Coulomb branch parameter of the theory, which converges for generic FI/theta parameters. We show in subsection 2.4 that it obeys a system of differential equations called the A-system. The second one (see subsection 2.5), called *Higgs branch formula*, is an expansion in some corner of the FI/theta moduli space: it involves a sum over solutions (dubbed Higgs branches) of the D-term equations, with non-perturbative contributions from point-like (anti-)vortices at the (South) North pole. Q-invariant operators can also be included in both expressions (see subsection 3.1).

The two forms are useful in different settings. Higgs branch expressions are used to confirm Seiberg-like dualities, as discussed in subsection 5.2. For instance, U(K) and U(N-K)gauge theories with N fundamental chiral multiplets are expected to have the same lowenergy limit. Their sphere partition functions are shown to be equal by mapping the $\binom{N}{K}$ solutions of D-term equations of one theory to the $\binom{N}{N-K}$ solutions for the other, and equating (anti-)vortex contributions order by order in the number of vortices. More complicated variants of this duality can also be checked using Higgs branch expressions (see subsection 5.3).

On the other hand, Coulomb branch expressions are useful to characterize "phases" of

^{1 A more general classification was provided in [7].}

GLSMs. Let us consider briefly a famous example: a U(1) vector multiplet and chiral multiplets P, X_1, \ldots, X_5 of charges $(-5, +1, \ldots, +1)$ with a superpotential $W = PG_5(X)$ for some homogeneous degree 5 polynomial G_5 . For FI parameter $\zeta \gg 0$ this GLSM flows to an NLSM on the quintic hypersurface $\{G_5(X) = 0\} \subset \mathbb{CP}^4$, while for $\zeta \ll 0$ the GLSM flows to an orbifolded Landau-Ginzburg model with a single classical vacuum. The distinction between these two phases can be seen in the sphere partition function: the Coulomb branch integral can be expanded as a sum of residues of poles to one side or the other of the integration contour depending on whether $2\pi\zeta \leq 5\log 5$ (see [15, 16] for more general discussions).

We also use the Coulomb branch integral as our starting point when investigating mirror symmetry in subsection 5.1. As explained in Contribution [17], metric deformations of the NLSM's target Calabi-Yau decompose into complex structure deformations and Kähler structure deformations, which correspond respectively to superpotential and twisted superpotential terms in the GLSM action. The partition function Z_A preserving R gives the Kähler potential $K_K = -\log Z_A$ on the moduli space of Kähler structure deformations [18, 13, 19, 20]. Important enumerative geometry data of the Calabi-Yau manifold, namely its genus-zero Gromov-Witten invariants, can then be extracted from the $\zeta \gg 0$ expansion of Z_A . The Kähler potential on the moduli space of complex structure deformations is similarly $K_C = -\log Z_B$ in terms of the partition function Z_B of the GLSM on a supergravity background that preserves the axial R-symmetry [21]. We compute Z_B in subsection 3.2. Mirror symmetry states that pairs of Calabi-Yau manifolds have identical moduli spaces, with complex structure and Kähler structure deformations interchanged. Accordingly, we describe in subsection 5.1 how Z_A of a GLSM is equal to Z_B of a GLSM flowing to an NLSM on the mirror Calabi-Yau.

Another important case where localization was performed is the hemisphere [22, 23, 24] (see subsection 3.3), which is the simplest case of a manifold with boundaries. GLSMs on the hemisphere can be used to describe open strings with Calabi-Yau target space: boundary conditions for fields on the hemisphere are branes in the target. The hemisphere partition function has an integral and a series representations, like the sphere partition function Z_A (although the contour is difficult to work out in general). We do not discuss the real projective plane calculation of [25], which gives information about orientifold planes in the Calabi-Yau target.

As is well-known, Kähler potentials are only defined up to Kähler transformations $K \to K + f(z) + \overline{f(z)}$ where z is a holomorphic coordinate on the given Kähler manifold (here a moduli space of metric deformations of a Calabi-Yau). This translates to a multiplicative ambiguity of sphere partition functions, which can be traced to a freedom in choosing how FI parameters (promoted to twisted chiral multiplets) couple to background supergravity [13, 6, 19]. Derivatives $\partial \overline{\partial} \log Z$ of the Kähler potential remain unambiguous. An analysis of supergravity counterterms [20] shows that there is no such universal content for general $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ theories on the sphere. In order to find physical observables, one needs to compute correlators. For some $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ deformations of $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ GLSMs, placed on the sphere using the A/2-twist, correlators were computed using supersymmetric localization in [26].

The review is organized as follows. In section 2 we calculate the (squashed) sphere partition function of $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ GLSMs using the two different localization approaches. In section 3 we extend the results in various ways: we discuss the inclusion of operators, twisted chiral and twisted vector multiplets, the hemisphere, the Ω -deformed A-twist, ending with a general discussion of $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ supersymmetry on curved spaces. In section 4 we turn to a second major localization result in two dimensions: the (equivariant) elliptic genus of $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ and $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ theories, namely their partition function on a flat torus. Contrarily to the sphere, the torus has non-trivial cycles and we include flat background connections. The elliptic genus is an important probe of supersymmetry breaking and is one of the rare RG invariant quantities available to test dualities between $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ theories. After defining the elliptic genus and its modularity properties, we describe $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ multiplets and Lagrangians in subsection 4.1, then give the localization formula (4.28) in subsection 4.2 followed by an outline of the derivation in subsection 4.3, and we end with several extensions and applications in subsection 4.4. In section 5 we highlight some applications of the sphere and torus partition functions. We begin with a check of Abelian mirror symmetry in subsection 5.1. Then we check that Seiberg-dual $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ theories have equal sphere partition functions and equal elliptic genera in subsection 5.2 before turning to generalizations in subsection 5.3. We compare elliptic genera for the $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ triality in subsection 5.4. We conclude in section 6 with a brief discussion of topics that were not included in the review.

2 $\mathcal{N}{=}(2,2)$ gauge theories on spheres

This section is devoted to partition functions of $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ Euclidean gauge theories on the round [11, 12] and squashed [13] sphere. The aims are to show localization at work and to obtain two exact expressions, (2.17) and (2.40), for the S^2 partition function.

In terms of the standard flat superspace [3], the basic $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ multiplets are: chiral superfields defined by $\overline{D}_{\pm}\Phi = 0$; vector superfields with gauge transformation $V \cong V + \Lambda + \overline{\Lambda}$ for Λ chiral; twisted chiral superfields defined by $\overline{D}_{+}\tilde{\Phi} = D_{-}\tilde{\Phi} = 0$; twisted vector superfields with gauge transformation $\tilde{V} \cong \tilde{V} + \Lambda_t + \overline{\Lambda}_t$ for Λ_t twisted chiral. The field-strength multiplets $\Sigma = \overline{D}_{+}D_{-}V$ and $\tilde{\Sigma} = \overline{D}_{+}\overline{D}_{-}\tilde{V}$ are twisted chiral and chiral, respectively. Twisted and untwisted multiplets are interchanged by a \mathbb{Z}_2 automorphism of the $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ superalgebra, that also exchanges the vector $U(1)_R$ and axial $U(1)_A$ R-symmetries. One can write down kinetic terms for the basic multiplets,

$$\int d^2\theta \, d^2\bar{\theta} \Big(\overline{\Phi}\Phi + \overline{\tilde{\Phi}}\widetilde{\Phi}\Big) \; ,$$

including (twisted) chirals and field strengths. Besides, one can write superpotential interactions terms (top component of a composite chiral field W) and twisted superpotential terms (top component of a composite twisted chiral field \widetilde{W}).

We focus in this section on gauged linear sigma models built from vector and chiral multiplets. The components of chiral multiplets (a complex scalar ϕ , a complex Dirac spinor ψ and a complex auxiliary scalar F) transform in some representation \Re of a gauge and

flavor symmetry group $G \times G_f$, their conjugates $(\bar{\phi}, \bar{\psi}, \bar{F})$ transform in $\overline{\mathfrak{R}}$, while the vector multiplet components (a real gauge field A_i , real scalars η , σ , complex Dirac fermions λ , $\bar{\lambda}$ and a real auxiliary scalar D) transform in the adjoint representation of G.

In subsection 2.1 we place these GLSMs on the sphere in a way that preserves $U(1)_R$, describe how supersymmetries act and write supersymmetric Lagrangians. Other $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ theories and backgrounds are considered in section 3. We choose a localization supercharge \mathcal{Q} whose square rotates the sphere around its poles. In subsection 2.2 we find that Q-invariant field configurations are generically parametrized by a discrete gauge flux \mathfrak{m} through S^2 and a vector multiplet scalar σ . When chiral multiplets are not charged under $U(1)_R$, we note the existence of additional vortex and antivortex configurations near the poles for particular values of σ named Higgs-branch roots. In subsection 2.3 we localize using a deformation term that eliminates (anti)vortices and expresses the partition function as a sum over fluxes and an integral over the Coulomb branch parameter σ of one-loop determinants computed later. The partition function obeys a system of differential equations [15], shown in subsection 2.4, that are (anti)holomorphic in certain combinations of Fayet-Iliopoulos (FI) parameters and theta angles. It must thus be a sum of products of a holomorphic solution and an antiholomorphic solution. We reproduce the factorization for a large class of GLSMs in subsection 2.5 (in the absence of R-charges) by a different choice of deformation term which interpolates between the Coulomb branch integral and a sum over Higgs branches. Each term in this sum factorizes into (anti)holomorphic vortex partition functions due to (anti)vortices at the (South) North pole. These can be obtained explicitly by expressing the Coulomb branch integral as a sum of residues. We end in subsection 2.6 by outlining how one-loop determinants for fluctuations around saddle points are computed, correcting a sign in the process.

2.1 Multiplets, Lagrangians and supersymmetry

We now place vector and chiral multiplets and their Lagrangians on squashed spheres which preserve a $U(1) \subset SU(2)$ isometry of S^2 . The metric, vielbein, and spin connection are²

$$ds^2 = \delta_{ab}e^a e^b$$
, $e^1 = f(\theta) d\theta$, $e^2 = r\sin(\theta) d\varphi$, $\omega = \frac{r\cos\theta}{f(\theta)} d\varphi$, (2.1)

where φ is 2π -periodic, $0 \le \theta \le \pi$, and $f(0) = f(\pi) = r$ to avoid conical singularities at the North $(\theta = 0)$ and South $(\theta = \pi)$ poles. The full covariant derivative is $D_i = \nabla_i - iA_i$ in terms of the metric-covariant derivative ∇_i and (dynamical and background) gauge fields A_i . Using the vielbein, $D_1 = f(\theta)^{-1}D_{\theta}$ and $D_2 = (r\sin(\theta))^{-1}D_{\varphi}$.

The metric is conformally flat, hence the generators of superconformal transformations are those of flat space. Among those, supercharges which square to isometries of the sphere generate the Poincaré superalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)$ for the round sphere $f(\theta) = r$, and $\mathfrak{su}(1|1)$ in general. Explicitly, we will use a supercharge $\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{su}(1|1)$ whose square is $\mathcal{Q}^2 = J + R/2$, where J is the U(1) rotation and R is a U(1) vector R-symmetry.

²This metric assumes that lengths of meridian circles are monotonic from the equator to each pole. Final results will only involve the equatorial radius r.

Thanks to conformal flatness, the action of superconformal transformations (and Q in particular) on vector and chiral multiplets is known. It is conveniently written in terms of conformal Killing spinors ϵ , namely solutions of $\nabla_i \epsilon = \gamma_i \tilde{\epsilon}$ for some $\tilde{\epsilon}$. Unfortunately the conformal map between the squashed sphere and the plane is quite unwieldy, thus the resulting conformal Killing spinors are complicated. Another approach, which works for nonconformally-flat spaces in higher dimensions [27, 28], is to keep spinors simple by introducing an R-symmetry background gauge field V_i . For definiteness we choose³

$$\epsilon = e^{i\theta\gamma_1/2}e^{i\varphi/2}\epsilon_0, \quad \bar{\epsilon} = e^{i\theta\gamma_1/2}e^{-i\varphi/2}\bar{\epsilon}_0, \quad \text{with } \gamma_3\epsilon_0 = \epsilon_0 \text{ and } \gamma_3\bar{\epsilon}_0 = -\bar{\epsilon}_0 \tag{2.2}$$

and the normalization $\bar{\epsilon}\epsilon = \bar{\epsilon}_0\epsilon_0 = 1$. These spinors span the space of solutions to $\nabla_i\epsilon = i\gamma_i\epsilon/2r$ on the round sphere. On squashed spheres they are solutions to the R-covariant conformal Killing spinor equation

$$D_i \epsilon = (\nabla_i - iV_i)\epsilon = \frac{i\gamma_i \epsilon}{2f(\theta)} \qquad D_i \bar{\epsilon} = (\nabla_i + iV_i)\bar{\epsilon} = \frac{i\gamma_i \bar{\epsilon}}{2f(\theta)}$$
(2.3)

with a connection $V = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{r}{f(\theta)}\right) d\varphi$ smooth everywhere. Note that supersymmetry transformations of vector and chiral multiplets must likewise be made covariant by including V in every covariant derivative, with the R-charge of each field as its coefficient.

Let us now write the supersymmetry variations $\delta_{\mathcal{Q}}$ of vector and chiral multiplet components under the supercharge \mathcal{Q} built from $\epsilon, \bar{\epsilon}$). We only list the supersymmetry transformations of fermions (we have also shifted the auxiliary field D by σ/r), and refer to [11, 12, 21, 6] for the complete expressions:

$$\delta_{\mathcal{Q}}\lambda = (iV_m^+\gamma^m - D)\epsilon \qquad \text{where} \qquad V_i^{\pm} = \mp D_i\sigma + \varepsilon_{ij}D^j\eta \\ \delta_{\mathcal{Q}}\bar{\lambda} = (iV_m^-\gamma^m + D)\bar{\epsilon} \qquad \text{where} \qquad V_3^{\pm} = F_{12} \pm i[\sigma,\eta] - \eta/f(\theta)$$
(2.4)

$$\delta_{\mathcal{Q}}\psi = \left(i\gamma^{i}D_{i}\phi + i\sigma\phi + \gamma_{3}\eta\phi - q\phi/(2f(\theta))\right)\epsilon + \bar{\epsilon}F$$

$$\delta_{\mathcal{Q}}\bar{\psi} = \left(i\gamma^{i}D_{i}\bar{\phi} + i\bar{\phi}\sigma - \gamma_{3}\bar{\phi}\eta - q\bar{\phi}/(2f(\theta))\right)\bar{\epsilon} + \epsilon\bar{F} .$$
(2.5)

The implicit summations on the first and second line are over m = 1, 2, 3.

The most general renormalizable action with $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ supersymmetry involving only vector and chiral multiplets takes the form

$$S = S_{\text{v.m.}} + S_{\widetilde{W}} + S_{\text{c.m.}} + S_W$$
 (2.6)

The vector multiplet action $S_{\text{v.m.}}$, the chiral multiplet action $S_{\text{c.m.}}$ and the superpotential term S_W are dimensional reductions of their 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ counterparts, with corrections of order 1/r and $1/r^2$ to preserve supersymmetry on the squashed sphere.

³Our conventions for spinor components of chiral and vector multiplets and our choice of Killing spinors follow [11] for consistency with the rest of the review. They differ from [12, 13] by factors of $e^{i\pi(1-\gamma^3)/4}$. Note that $e^{i\pi(1-\gamma^3)/4}\gamma^i e^{-i\pi(1-\gamma^3)/4} = \varepsilon^{ij}\gamma_j$. Moreover the contraction of spinor indices is $\psi\chi = \psi_{\alpha}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}\chi_{\beta}$, namely the symbol $\psi\chi$ stands for $\psi^{\mathsf{T}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}\chi$ in standard matrix notation.

The twisted superpotential term $S_{\widetilde{W}}$ is analogous to the superpotential term S_W : a (twisted) superpotential is the top component of a polynomial in (twisted) chiral multiplets. In theories of vector and chiral multiplets the only twisted chiral multiplet available is the field strength Σ of the vector multiplet, and the most commonly used twisted superpotential in a gauge theory is linear in Σ . The twisted superpotential term $S_{\widetilde{W}}$ is then—for each U(1) gauge group—the familiar FI D-term and a topological term measuring the gauge field flux \mathfrak{m} through S^2 . The coefficients ζ (FI parameter) and ϑ (theta angle) combine into a complexified FI parameter $z = e^{-2\pi\zeta + i\vartheta}$.

Finally, one can endow chiral multiplets with twisted masses by coupling the flavor symmetry group to an external (non-dynamical) vector multiplet and giving it a supersymmetric background value. We solve the BPS equations in (2.14) and find that the background is parametrized by a real scalar τ and a discrete flux \mathbf{n} . The action $S_{\text{c.m.}}$ and the supersymmetry transformations (2.5) of a chiral multiplet then depend on its R-charge q, its twisted mass τ and the flux \mathbf{n} .

Except for the twisted superpotential term $S_{\widetilde{W}}$, all terms in the action (2.6) are \mathcal{Q} -exact and \mathcal{Q} -invariant. Explicitly, the corresponding Lagrangian densities are

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{v.m.}} = \delta_{\mathcal{Q}} \delta_{\bar{\epsilon}} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\bar{\lambda} \lambda / 2 - 2\sigma D + \sigma^2 / f(\theta) \right)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{c.m.}} = \delta_{\mathcal{Q}} \delta_{\bar{\epsilon}} \left(\bar{\psi} \psi - 2i \bar{\phi} \sigma \phi + (q-1) \bar{\phi} \phi / f(\theta) \right)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{W} = \delta_{\mathcal{Q}} \left(\psi_{(W)} \epsilon + \bar{\epsilon} \bar{\psi}_{(\bar{W})} \right).$$
(2.7)

Therefore, any Q-invariant observable is independent of the coefficients in $S_{v.m.}$, $S_{c.m.}$ and S_W , and can only depend on parameters in the twisted superpotential (FI parameters, theta angles) and in supersymmetry transformations (R-charges, twisted masses, background fluxes). In particular, these observables are independent of the gauge couplings g_{YM} hence are invariant under the RG flow, which makes them very powerful probes of the low-energy limit of GLSMs.

2.2 BPS equations

The localization argument guarantees that only Q-invariant field configurations (and quadratic fluctuations nearby) contribute to Q-invariant path integrals. The variations δ_Q of bosons involve fermionic fields hence vanish automatically and we are left with solving $\delta_Q \lambda = \delta_Q \overline{\lambda} = 0$ and $\delta_Q \psi = \delta_Q \overline{\psi} = 0$ for the spinors ϵ , $\overline{\epsilon}$ defining Q.

The vanishing of gluino variations (2.4) implies

$$iV_3^{\pm} \mp V_1^{\pm} \sin \theta = D \cos \theta$$
 and $iV_2^{\pm} \pm V_1^{\pm} \cos \theta = D \sin \theta$. (2.8)

The integration contour is fixed by convergence of the path integral: the bosons A_i , η , σ , and D in vector multiplets are real, thus V_m^{\pm} are real as well. In one of the localization calculations we will replace D by its complex on-shell value, thus we now keep D general

when solving the BPS equations. Extracting the real and imaginary parts of (2.8) yields $V_1^{\pm} = \operatorname{Re} D = 0, V_2^{\pm} = \sin \theta \operatorname{Im} D$ and $V_3^{\pm} = \cos \theta \operatorname{Im} D$. Therefore, the BPS equations read

$$0 = D_2 \eta = D_1 \sigma = D_2 \sigma = [\eta, \sigma]$$

$$(2.9)$$

$$D_1 \eta = -\sin\theta \operatorname{Im} D$$
 and $F_{12} - \frac{\eta}{f(\theta)} = \cos\theta \operatorname{Im} D$. (2.10)

Fixing the gauge $A_{\theta} = 0$, equations (2.10) imply $\partial_{\theta}(A_{\varphi} + r\eta \cos \theta) = 0$. Solving in either region $0 \leq \theta < \pi$ or $0 < \theta \leq \pi$ one gets $A = (k - r \cos \theta \eta) d\varphi$ where k is fixed by continuity at the pole to be $k^+ = r\eta(0)$ and $k^- = -r\eta(\pi)$, respectively. The two A are gauge equivalent away from the poles provided the flux $\mathfrak{m} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int F = r\eta(0) + r\eta(\pi) = k^+ - k^-$ is GNO quantized [29] namely has integer eigenvalues on any representation of G. The remaining equations imply that the constant σ commutes with all $\eta(\theta, \varphi)$ and that

$$\partial_{\varphi}\eta = i[k^{\pm}, \eta] \tag{2.11}$$

with a constant k^{\pm} depending on the gauge. Periodicity in φ requires η to lie in integer eigenspaces of k^{\pm} (in the adjoint representation), which coincide due to GNO quantization of $k^+ - k^-$.

We now turn to the BPS equations of the chiral multiplet. Linear combinations of $\delta_{\mathcal{Q}}\psi = 0$ and the complex conjugate of $\delta_{\mathcal{Q}}\bar{\psi} = 0$ yield $0 = F = \sigma\phi$ and

$$0 = \cos\frac{\theta}{2}(D_1 + iD_2)\phi - \sin\frac{\theta}{2}\left(\eta + \frac{q}{2f(\theta)}\right)\phi = \sin\frac{\theta}{2}(D_1 - iD_2)\phi - \cos\frac{\theta}{2}\left(\eta - \frac{q}{2f(\theta)}\right)\phi .$$
(2.12)

Taking into account $A = (k^{\pm} - r \cos \theta \eta) d\varphi$ from above, the equations imply

$$0 = F = \sigma\phi = \left(\sin\theta\partial_{\theta} - f(\theta)\eta + \frac{q}{2}\cos\theta\right)\phi = \left(\partial_{\varphi} - ik^{\pm} + \frac{iq}{2f(\theta)/r}\right)\phi.$$
(2.13)

Periodicity in φ requires ϕ to lie in the integer eigenspaces of $k^{\pm} - iqr/2f(\theta)$ for all θ , but this is only possible if q = 0 (or if the sphere is round). At the poles, (2.12) imply additionally to first order in θ that ϕ is (anti)holomorphic at the (South) North pole.

In subsection 2.3 we will keep D real and assume that all R-charges are positive (and the sphere is squashed), so that $\phi = 0$. Since Im D = 0 we now have $\partial_{\theta} \eta = 0$ hence η is equal to its value at the poles and is constant. Altogether,

$$f(\theta) F_{12} = \eta = \frac{\mathfrak{m}}{2r}$$
, $\sigma = \text{constant}$, $0 = [\eta, \sigma] = D = \phi = F$. (2.14)

The path integral localizes to these "Coulomb branch" configurations, so named in analogy to the Coulomb branch of the flat space theory. Since η and σ commute, a constant gauge transformation reduces them to the Cartan algebra \mathfrak{t} of G. Another outcome of this computation concerns non-dynamical vector multiplets: one can turn on a flux $\mathfrak{m}^{\text{ext}} = \mathfrak{n}$ and a real twisted mass $\sigma^{\text{ext}} = \tau$ for each chiral multiplet, as announced in subsection 2.1.

In subsection 2.5 we will assume that all R-charges vanish and alter the contour of integration of D (equivalently we evaluate its Gaussian path integral) to localize onto complex saddle points of the deformation term chosen there. Namely,

$$D = -i(\phi\phi - \chi) \tag{2.15}$$

where we will choose a "deformation" FI parameter χ for each U(1) gauge factor. Besides Coulomb branch configurations similar to (2.14) with $\phi = 0$, there are now Higgs branch (and mixed branch) configurations with $\phi \neq 0$. Writing a twisted mass τ_I for each chiral multiplet ϕ_I explicitly, the constraint $(\sigma + \tau_I)\phi_I = 0$ only allows non-zero ϕ at particular points on the Coulomb branch. For generic twisted masses at most rank G different chiral multiplets can be non-zero. Due to (2.13), $\phi(\theta, \varphi) \sim (e^{i\varphi} \sin \theta)^{k^{\pm}} \phi_0$ near the poles, hence regular non-zero solutions ϕ must additionally lie in the non-negative integer eigenspaces of k^{\pm} . The remaining BPS equations

have not been analysed in full generality. For G = U(N) with (anti)fundamental matter and generic twisted masses we will find that all contributions to the localized path integral are suppressed as $\chi \to \infty$ except those in which the group is fully Higgsed. The condition is that the non-vanishing chiral multiplets span \mathbb{C}^N : then $(\sigma + \tau_I)\phi_I = 0$ fixes σ , and more importantly all eigenvalues of k^{\pm} must be non-negative integers. While in the Coulomb branch localization scheme only the difference $k^+ - k^-$ was GNO quantized, in the Higgs branch localization scheme $\chi \to \infty$ both k^+ and k^- are quantized (and non-negative). We will interpret k^{\pm} as counting vortices at the North pole and antivortices at the South pole.

2.3 Coulomb branch localization

In this section we assume for simplicity that all R-charges are in the range 0 < q < 2. In all models of interest this condition can be made to hold by mixing the R-charge with U(1) gauge charges if needed. Other values for the R-charges can be reached by analytic continuation.

Recall the localization argument: we add a Q-invariant deformation term $t\delta_Q V$ to the action and take $t \to \infty$ thus making the saddle-point approximation exact. Any Q-invariant observable then reduces to an integral over saddle points of its classical value at these saddles, with a measure given by a Gaussian integral (one-loop determinant) of quadratic fluctuations around the saddles. Additionally, saddle points that are not Q-invariant cannot contribute since the Grassmann integral of a constant vanishes. This second argument would not be necessary if we used the canonical deformation term $\delta_Q \left(\lambda \,\overline{\delta_Q \lambda} + \psi \,\overline{\delta_Q \psi}\right)$ since the saddle points of its bosonic part are precisely Q-invariant configurations. However, we use the Qclosed and Q-exact deformation term $S_{\rm v.m.} + S_{\rm c.m.}$ in (2.7). It is straightforward to check that all Q-invariant configurations (2.14) are saddle points.

The (squashed) sphere partition function of a 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ GLSM with gauge group G and chiral multiplets in the representation $\mathfrak{R} = \bigoplus_I \mathfrak{R}_I$ (each with an R-charge q_I , a background flux \mathfrak{n}_I , and a twisted mass τ_I) is then a sum over GNO-quantized fluxes (\mathfrak{m} has integer eigenvalues on any representation of G) and an integral over the Cartan algebra \mathfrak{t} of G of classical and one-loop factors

$$Z_{S^2} = \frac{r^{c/3}}{|\operatorname{Weyl}(G)|} \sum_{\mathfrak{m}} \int_{\mathfrak{t}} \frac{d(r\sigma)}{(2\pi)^{\operatorname{rank} G}} Z_{\operatorname{cl}}(z, \bar{z}; r\sigma, \mathfrak{m}) Z_{\operatorname{gauge}}(r\sigma, \mathfrak{m}) Z_{\operatorname{matter}}(q, r\sigma + r\tau, \mathfrak{m} + \mathfrak{n}) .$$

$$(2.17)$$

The order |Weyl(G)| of the Weyl group appears due to residual discrete gauge redundancy in \mathfrak{t} . The result only depends on the squashed sphere through its equatorial radius r. We explain in subsection 2.6 how to compute vector multiplet and chiral multiplet one-loop determinants: they are products over positive roots α of G and over weights ρ of each representation \mathfrak{R}_I ,

$$Z_{\text{gauge}} = \prod_{\alpha>0} (-1)^{\alpha(\mathfrak{m})} \left[r^2 \alpha(\sigma)^2 + \frac{\alpha(\mathfrak{m})^2}{4} \right]$$

$$Z_{\text{matter}} = \prod_{I,\rho} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{q_I}{2} - ir\tau_I - \frac{\mathfrak{n}_I}{2} - ir\rho(\sigma) - \frac{\rho(\mathfrak{m})}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{q_I}{2} + ir\tau_I - \frac{\mathfrak{n}_I}{2} + ir\rho(\sigma) - \frac{\rho(\mathfrak{m})}{2}\right)}.$$
(2.18)

For the common case of a linear twisted superpotential \widetilde{W} with an FI parameter ζ_{ℓ} and a theta term ϑ_{ℓ} for each U(1) gauge factor, the classical contribution is

$$Z_{\rm cl} = \prod_{\ell} z_{\ell}^{{\rm Tr}_{\ell}(ir\sigma + \frac{\mathfrak{m}}{2})} \bar{z}_{\ell}^{{\rm Tr}_{\ell}(ir\sigma - \frac{\mathfrak{m}}{2})}$$
(2.19)

where $z_{\ell} = e^{-2\pi\zeta_{\ell}+i\vartheta_{\ell}}$ and we denote Tr_{ℓ} the projection onto the ℓ -th U(1) factor: for $G = \prod_{\ell} U(N_{\ell})$ these really are traces. To be more precise, (2.19) involves renormalized FI parameters at the scale 1/r,

$$z_{\ell} = (rM_{\rm UV})^{\sum_{I} Q_{I}^{\ell}} z_{\ell}^{\rm UV} , \qquad (2.20)$$

where z^{UV} are bare parameters at some UV scale M_{UV} and Q_I^{ℓ} are charges of chiral multiplets under the ℓ -th U(1) factor. We obtain this dependence on r from zeta function regularization when computing one-loop determinant in subsection 2.6, and also obtain the overall power $r^{c/3}$,

$$\frac{c}{3} = \sum_{I} (1 - q_I) \dim \mathfrak{R}_I - \dim G .$$
(2.21)

For theories that flow to a superconformal field theory (SCFT), c is the central charge. The equatorial radius r is also used as a scale for twisted masses and σ .

Several comments are in order. The partition function only depends on parameters in the twisted superpotential (here z, \bar{z}), on R-charges, twisted masses and background fluxes. This is expected since the coupling constants $g_{\rm YM}$ and superpotential couplings multiply Q-exact terms. In particular any superpotential simply specializes Z_{S^2} by fixing some linear combinations of the R-charges to 2. The partition function depends holomorphically on the combinations $\frac{q_I}{2} - ir\tau_I$ hence it can be extended to R-charges beyond 0 < q < 2.

Groups with $(-1)^{2\delta(\mathfrak{m})} = 1$	Groups with $(-1)^{2\delta(\mathfrak{m})}$ a discrete theta angle
$SU(MN)/\mathbb{Z}_M$ with M odd or N even	$SU(MN)/\mathbb{Z}_M$ with M even and N odd
SO(2N)	SO(2N+1)
$SO(8N)/\mathbb{Z}_2, SO(8N+2)/\mathbb{Z}_2$	$SO(8N+4)/\mathbb{Z}_2, SO(8N+6)/\mathbb{Z}_2$
$Sp(4N)/\mathbb{Z}_2, Sp(4N+3)/\mathbb{Z}_2, E_6/\mathbb{Z}_3$	$Sp(4N+1)/\mathbb{Z}_2, Sp(4N+2)/\mathbb{Z}_2, E_7/\mathbb{Z}_2$
Simply-conneted groups: $SU(N)$,	Quotients $Spin(4N)/\mathbb{Z}_2$ other than $SO(4N)$
$Spin(N), Sp(N), E_6, E_7, E_8, F_4, G_2$	

Table 1: Effect of the vector multiplet one-loop determinant sign $(-1)^{2\delta(\mathfrak{m})}$ for connected compact simple groups. It is trivial when the Weyl vector δ is a weight, and otherwise corresponds to a \mathbb{Z}_2 discrete theta angle. For U(N) the sign shifts the (continuous) theta angle by π if N is even.

Another extension is to include Q-invariant operators in the path integral, such as $\operatorname{Tr}_{\ell}(i\sigma + \eta)$ at the North pole or $\operatorname{Tr}_{\ell}(i\sigma - \eta)$ at the South pole: this is achieved by including their on-shell values $\operatorname{Tr}_{\ell}(i\sigma \pm \frac{\mathfrak{m}}{2r})$ in the integrand (2.17), and will be further discussed in subsection 3.1. These insertions can be realized by taking derivatives with respect to $\log z_{\ell}$ and $\log \bar{z}_{\ell}$, respectively. This is a manifestation of the fact that the integrand in (2.17) factorizes as a function of z and $i\sigma + \frac{\mathfrak{m}}{2r}$ times a function of \bar{z} and $i\sigma - \frac{\mathfrak{m}}{2r}$. This factorization will play an important role later.

Note that the sign

$$\prod_{\alpha>0} (-1)^{\alpha(\mathfrak{m})} = e^{2\pi i \delta(\mathfrak{m})} , \qquad (2.22)$$

which we will derive later, was originally missed. It was correctly predicted in [24, 30, 31]. For many groups this sign is +1 because the Weyl vector δ (half sum of positive roots) is a weight of G. An important exception is U(N) with N even: then the sign is equivalent to a shift of the theta angle by π . Table 1 gives a list for simple groups.

We expect the one-loop determinants of two chiral multiplets X and Y with opposite gauge and flavor charges and with R-charges q and 2 - q to cancel. Indeed, such chiral multiplets can be integrated out by including a superpotential mass term $W = \mu XY$ with $\mu \to \infty$, and W does not affect the partition function. Omitting external sources here for brevity,

$$\prod_{\rho} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{q}{2} - ir\rho(\sigma) - \frac{\rho(\mathfrak{m})}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{q}{2} + ir\rho(\sigma) - \frac{\rho(\mathfrak{m})}{2}\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{q}{2} + ir\rho(\sigma) + \frac{\rho(\mathfrak{m})}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{q}{2} - ir\rho(\sigma) + \frac{\rho(\mathfrak{m})}{2}\right)} = \prod_{\rho} (-1)^{\rho(\mathfrak{m})} .$$
(2.23)

We have used $\Gamma(x + \mathfrak{m}/2)/\Gamma(1 - x + \mathfrak{m}/2) = (-1)^{\mathfrak{m}}\Gamma(x - \mathfrak{m}/2)/\Gamma(1 - x - \mathfrak{m}/2)$ which is a consequence of Euler's identity $\Gamma(y)\Gamma(1 - y) = \pi/\sin \pi y$. Since weights sum to zero for simple factors of G, the sign simply shifts theta angles of some U(1) gauge factors by π .

The one-loop determinant of a vector multiplet can be recast as that of a collections of chiral multiplets of R-charge q = 2 and gauge charges equal to the roots α of G. This can be understood in terms of the Higgs mechanism. If the theory had an extra chiral multiplet of

R-charge 0 in the adjoint representation, we could give a VEV to its diagonal components without breaking the R-symmetry. The VEV would break the gauge group to its maximal torus $U(1)^{\operatorname{rank} G}$, and give a mass both to vector and chiral multiplet components along the roots α . Taking into account the observation above, we have schematically the relations: $Z_{\operatorname{gauge}} = 1/\prod_{\alpha} Z_{\operatorname{chiral}}^{(\alpha), q=0} = \prod_{\alpha} Z_{\operatorname{chiral}}^{(\alpha), q=2}$. This fact implies that Z_{S^2} of a non-Abelian GLSM is the specialization of Z_{S^2} of an associated "Cartan theory" which has gauge group $U(1)^{\operatorname{rank} G}$, has rank G parameters z_{ℓ} , and has one chiral multiplet for each weight w of \mathfrak{R} and one for each root α of G. The original partition function is retrieved by setting $z_{\ell} = 1$ for each FI parameter that does not correspond to a U(1) factor of the original theory.

2.4 The A-system

Remarkably, the partition function (2.17) obeys a system of differential equations that are holomorphic in the z_{ℓ} and a similar system for \bar{z}_{ℓ} . We first review the results of [15], which apply to abelian GLSMs and to non-abelian GLSMs through their associated Cartan theory. Set r = 1 for brevity. Consider a GLSM with abelian gauge group $G = U(1)^N$ and chiral multiplets of charges Q_I^{ℓ} under the ℓ -th gauge group factor. Its partition function is

$$Z_{S^2} = \sum_{\mathfrak{m}\in\mathbb{Z}^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{d^N\sigma}{(2\pi)^N} \prod_{\ell=1}^N \left[z_\ell^{i\sigma_\ell + \frac{\mathfrak{m}_\ell}{2}} \bar{z}_\ell^{i\sigma_\ell - \frac{\mathfrak{m}_\ell}{2}} \right] \prod_I \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{q_I}{2} - i\tau_I - \frac{\mathfrak{n}_I}{2} - Q_I^\ell(i\sigma_\ell + \frac{\mathfrak{m}_\ell}{2})\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{q_I}{2} + i\tau_I - \frac{\mathfrak{n}_I}{2} + Q_I^\ell(i\sigma_\ell - \frac{\mathfrak{m}_\ell}{2})\right)} \right]$$
(2.24)

with an implicit summation over ℓ . If we shift the summation on \mathfrak{m} by any $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathbb{Z}^N$ and the contour for each σ_ℓ by $-i\mathfrak{u}_\ell/2$ (the contour encounters no pole), then the classical action is multiplied by $z_\ell^{\mathfrak{u}_\ell}$ and the arguments of gamma functions are shifted by $-Q_I^\ell \mathfrak{u}_\ell$ in the numerator. Extracting these shifts from the gamma function arguments yields some factors linear in $i\sigma_\ell + \mathfrak{m}_\ell/2$ which can be reproduced by acting on Z_{S^2} with the holomorphic differential operators $z_\ell \partial/\partial z_\ell$. We find that for any $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathbb{Z}^N$,

$$\prod_{I, \ Q_{I}^{\ell}\mathfrak{u}_{\ell}>0} \left(\frac{q_{I}}{2} - i\tau_{I} - \frac{\mathfrak{n}_{I}}{2} - Q_{I}^{\ell} \frac{\partial}{\partial \log z_{\ell}}\right)_{Q_{I}^{\ell}\mathfrak{u}_{\ell}} Z_{S^{2}}$$

$$= \left(\prod_{\ell=1}^{N} z_{\ell}^{\mathfrak{u}_{\ell}}\right) \prod_{I, \ Q_{I}^{\ell}\mathfrak{u}_{\ell}<0} \left(\frac{q_{I}}{2} - i\tau_{I} - \frac{\mathfrak{n}_{I}}{2} - Q_{I}^{\ell} \frac{\partial}{\partial \log z_{\ell}}\right)_{-Q_{I}^{\ell}\mathfrak{u}_{\ell}} Z_{S^{2}}$$

$$(2.25)$$

in terms of Pochhammer symbols $(x)_n = \prod_{i=0}^{n-1} (x+i) = \Gamma(x+n)/\Gamma(x)$. The same system with $z_\ell \to (-1)^{\sum_I Q_I^\ell} \bar{z}_\ell$ and $\mathfrak{n} \to -\mathfrak{n}$ holds.

This "A-system" of equations—a slight generalization of the GKZ (Gel'fand, Kapranov, Zelevinski) A-hypergeometric systems—is highly redundant: the equation for $\mathfrak{u} + \mathfrak{u}'$ is a consequence of those for \mathfrak{u} and \mathfrak{u}' , at least if $Q_I^\ell \mathfrak{u}_\ell$ and $Q_I^\ell \mathfrak{u}'_\ell$ have the same sign for all I. The space of holomorphic solutions to (2.25) is typically finite-dimensional, so Z_{S^2} is a linear combination of holomorphic times antiholomorphic solutions:

$$Z_{S^2} = \sum_k C_k \,\mathcal{F}_k(z) \,\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_k(\bar{z}) \;. \tag{2.26}$$

For GLSMs that flow in the infrared to NLSMs on Calabi-Yau manifolds, the differential equations are the well-known Picard-Fuchs differential equations and the functions \mathcal{F}_k are periods of the mirror Calabi-Yau.

For non-Abelian examples it turns out that many solutions to the associated Cartan theory's A-system are absent from explicit factorizations of Z_{S^2} into (2.26). This suggests the existence of more stringent differential equations whose set of solutions would capture exactly the (anti)holomorphic dependence of Z_{S^2} . Let us focus for concreteness on SQCD, namely G = U(N) with N_f fundamental and N_f antifundamental chiral multiplets. We replace the single FI parameter z by z_{ℓ} , $1 \leq \ell \leq N$ as in the associated Cartan theory, but we write the vector multiplet one-loop determinant as a differential operator rather than as a chiral multiplet determinant. Concretely:

$$Z_{S^2}^{\text{SQCD}}(z,\bar{z}) = \frac{1}{N!} \left[\prod_{k$$

The sign $(-1)^{N-1}$ comes from $(-1)^{\alpha(\mathfrak{m})}$ in the vector multiplet one-loop determinant (see Table 1). The partition function $Z_{S^2}^{N=1}$ of SQED (an Abelian theory) obeys the A-system, which reduces in this case to a single equation $(\mathfrak{u} = 1)$:

$$\left[\prod_{I=1}^{N_f} \left(\frac{q_I}{2} - i\tau_I - \frac{\mathfrak{n}_I}{2} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \log z_\ell}\right) - z_\ell \prod_{I=1}^{N_f} \left(\frac{q_I}{2} - i\tau_I - \frac{\mathfrak{n}_I}{2} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \log z_\ell}\right)\right] Z_{S^2}^{N=1} = 0.$$
(2.28)

The space of holomorphic solutions to this N_f^{th} order differential equation is spanned by N_f functions $\mathcal{F}_I(z)$ for $I = 1, \ldots, N_f$. The antiholomorphic counterpart $z \to \bar{z}$ also holds, so in an appropriate basis $Z_{S^2}^{N=1}(z, \bar{z}) = \sum_I C_I \mathcal{F}_I(z) \mathcal{F}_I(\bar{z})$. Expand each SQED partition function $Z_{S^2}^{N=1}$ in (2.27) as such a sum, so as to get $(N_f)^N$ factorized terms in total. Note that the holomorphic differential operator in (2.27) is antisymmetric in the z_k , hence only $\binom{N_f}{N}$ terms remain.⁴

We now show that these $\binom{N_f}{N}$ terms are solutions of an ordinary differential equation of order $\binom{N_f}{N}$ in $z\partial/\partial z$, rather than a system of differential equations in $z_\ell\partial/\partial z_\ell$. By expanding the differential operator in (2.27) into a sum of monomials which are products of derivatives acting on individual factors $Z_{S^2}^{N=1}(z_j, \bar{z}_j)$, then setting $z_j = (-1)^{N-1}z$ and $\bar{z}_j = (-1)^{N-1}\bar{z}$ as indicated in (2.27), one writes the SQCD partition function as (2.29) below, for $p_j = j$. Consider more generally

$$F_p(z,\bar{z}) = \varepsilon_{\ell_1\cdots\ell_N} \prod_{j=1}^N \left[\left(iz \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \right)^{p_j-1} \left(i\bar{z} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}} \right)^{\ell_j-1} Z_{S^2}^{N=1}(z,\bar{z}) \right]$$
(2.29)

for integers $p_j \ge 1$. Reordering the p_j only affects signs, and F_p vanishes if any $p_i = p_j$. The $iz\partial/\partial z$ derivative of F_p is a sum of N such functions (each with one $p_j \to p_j + 1$). On the

⁴For $N_f < N$, localization gives a vanishing result for Z_{S^2} : this is due to supersymmetry breaking.

other hand, the GKZ equation (2.28) for $Z_{S^2}^{N=1}(z, \bar{z})$ expresses its N_f^{th} derivative as a linear combination of its lower derivatives. Thus F_p with any $p_j > N_f$ can be written as a sum of terms with lower p. All derivatives of $Z_{S^2}^{\text{SQCD}} = F_{1,2,\dots,N}$ are hence linear combinations (with known holomorphic coefficients) of the $\binom{N_f}{N}$ functions F_p for which all $1 \leq p_j \leq N_f$. This establishes the existence of a holomorphic differential equation of order $\binom{N_f}{N}$ obeyed by the SQCD partition function (coefficients can be made polynomial in z).

This proof extends to quiver gauge theories, and gives bounds on the number of terms needed in the factorization of Z_{S^2} that are stronger than those deduced from the GKZ system of the associated Cartan theory. On the other hand the proof is not constructive; no closed form expression for the differential equation is known at present.

2.5 Higgs branch localization

As we have just seen, the sphere partition function of a GLSM can be factorized into holomorphic times antiholomorphic functions of its complexified FI parameters. We now interpret the factors physically as being due to vortices at the poles, by localizing the path integral directly into this form. After this "Higgs branch" localization was found for 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ theories [11, 12], it was used to explain a similar factorization in 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ theories [32, 33] and 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories [34, 35].

Because the Coulomb branch result (2.17) is analytic in $\frac{q_I}{2} - ir\tau_I$, we can work with $q_I = 0$. We also ignore fluxes for external vector multiplets for simplicity, and set r = 1. Of course, we assume that the theory has U(1) gauge factors as otherwise the factorization property is vacuously true.

We localize using in addition to $\mathcal{L}_{v.m.} + \mathcal{L}_{c.m.}$ the deformation term [11]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{Higgs}} = \delta_{\mathcal{Q}} \operatorname{Tr} \left[-i \left(\phi \bar{\phi} - \chi \right) \delta_{\mathcal{Q}} \sigma \right].$$
(2.30)

For each U(1) gauge factor, it includes a parameter χ which will play the role of an FI parameter. The trace denotes the natural pairing between $\bar{\phi}$ and $(\delta_{\mathcal{Q}}\sigma)\phi$ on the one hand, and the projection onto each U(1) gauge factor with coefficients χ on the other hand. The bosonic part of this deformation term includes $iD(\phi\bar{\phi}-\chi)$, and leads to the on-shell value $D = -i(\phi\bar{\phi}-\chi)$ up to unimportant coefficients. After integrating out D, saddle points of the deformation term are exactly the \mathcal{Q} -invariant configurations analyzed in subsection 2.2:

$$\eta(\theta,\varphi) = e^{i\varphi[k^{\pm},\cdot]}\eta(\theta,0) , \qquad \qquad \phi(\theta,\varphi) = e^{i\varphi k^{\pm}}\phi(\theta,0) , \qquad (2.31)$$

$$\partial_{\theta}\eta = f(\theta)\sin\theta \left(\phi\bar{\phi} - \chi\right), \qquad \qquad \sin\theta \,\partial_{\theta}\phi = f(\theta)\,\eta\phi\,, \qquad (2.32)$$

where $k^+ = \eta(0)$ is used in the simply-connected region $0 \le \theta < \pi$ while $k^- = -\eta(\pi)$ in the region $0 < \theta \le \pi$. The remaining fields are a constant σ which commutes with all $\eta(\theta, \varphi)$ and such that $(\sigma + \tau_I)\phi_I = 0$ for all flavors I, and $A = (k^{\pm} - \cos \theta \eta) d\varphi$ whose flux $\mathbf{m} = k^+ - k^-$ is GNO quantized. We have also seen that any non-zero ϕ lies among non-negative integer eigenspaces of k^{\pm} . Since (σ, k^{\pm}) commute pairwise, a constant gauge transformation diagonalizes them. The partition function localizes to an integral over all solutions to these equations, and one should compute one-loop determinants. One technique described in subsection 2.6 to compute one-loop determinants involves localization to fixed points of Q^2 , namely the poles. One-loop determinants are then a product of contributions from each pole that only depend on values of the Q-invariant field configuration at those points. The one-loop determinants (2.18) computed in the Coulomb branch factorize as functions of $i\sigma \pm \frac{m}{2}$, which we associated to the North and South poles by considering correlators of the Q-invariant operators $i\sigma \pm \eta$ in subsection 2.3. We deduce that the one-loop determinant is, more generally,

$$Z_{1-\text{loop}} = \prod_{\alpha>0} (-1)^{\alpha(\mathfrak{m})} \alpha \left(i\sigma + \eta(0) \right) \alpha \left(i\sigma - \eta(\pi) \right) \prod_{I,w} \frac{\Gamma \left(-i\tau_I - w(i\sigma + \eta(0)) \right)}{\Gamma \left(1 + i\tau_I + w(i\sigma - \eta(\pi)) \right)} .$$
(2.33)

Both $k^+ \mp k^- = \eta(0) \pm \eta(\pi)$ are integrals over the squashed sphere. One is the flux:

$$\eta(0) + \eta(\pi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^\pi d\theta \int_0^{2\pi} d\varphi \,\partial_\theta(-\eta\cos\theta) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int F = \mathfrak{m}$$
(2.34)

and fluxes through each hemisphere are $k^+ = \eta(0)$ and $-k^- = \eta(\pi)$. The other is the integral of the *D*-term equation with the volume form:

$$\eta(0) - \eta(\pi) = \int_0^\pi d\theta \left(-\partial_\theta \eta\right) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int \left(\chi - \phi\bar{\phi}\right) d\mathrm{vol}_2 \equiv \Delta \ . \tag{2.35}$$

For a fixed flux \mathfrak{m} , each ratio of Gamma functions in (2.33) has the asymptotics

$$\left|\frac{\Gamma\left(-i\tau_I - w(i\sigma + \mathfrak{m}/2 + \Delta/2)\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 + i\tau_I + w(i\sigma - \mathfrak{m}/2 + \Delta/2)\right)}\right| \stackrel{w(\Delta) \to \pm\infty}{=} e^{-\left(2w(\Delta) + 1\right)\left(\log|w(\Delta)| - 1\right) + O(1)} .$$
(2.36)

Taking the product over weights w, we expect the one-loop determinant to be suppressed for large Δ . We shall prove for a class of theories that in the appropriate limit $\chi \to \pm \infty$ the one-loop determinant indeed is suppressed for all saddle points except those for which the *D*-term $\phi \bar{\phi} - \chi$ is small throughout the sphere. The path integral localizes in this limit to solutions to $\phi \bar{\phi} = \chi$ with vortices at the poles.

Let us focus for concreteness on U(N) SQCD with N_f fundamental and $N_a \leq N_f$ antifundamental chiral multiplets of generic twisted masses τ_I and $\tilde{\tau}_I$ respectively. The case $N_a \geq N_f$ is obtained by charge conjugation. We assume $N_f \geq N$ to avoid supersymmetry breaking. The results extend to $\prod_{\ell} U(N_{\ell})$ quiver gauge theories by considering gauge groups one by one, and perhaps to more general matter contents.

Consider a smooth Q-invariant configuration, and diagonalize σ by a constant gauge transformation. At most N chiral multiplets are non-zero: in each eigenspace of σ , at most one chiral multiplet is non-zero because of $(\sigma + \tau_I)\phi_I = 0$ for fundamentals and $\tilde{\phi}_I(-\sigma + \tilde{\tau}_I) =$ 0 for antifundamentals. Focus first on a non-zero fundamental $\phi_I \neq 0$. The trace of (2.32) in the eigenspace $\sigma = -\tau_I$ implies (with no summation on I in this paragraph)

$$\sin\theta \,\partial_{\theta}(\bar{\phi}_{I}\phi_{I}) = 2f(\theta)\bar{\phi}_{I}\eta\phi_{I}\,,\qquad \partial_{\theta}(\bar{\phi}_{I}\eta\phi_{I}) = f(\theta)\sin\theta\,(\bar{\phi}_{I}\phi_{I}-\chi)\bar{\phi}_{I}\phi_{I}\,.\tag{2.37}$$

We prove by contradiction that $\phi_I \phi_I \leq \chi$ for any such non-zero solution (in particular $\chi > 0$). Consider the infimum θ_0 of angles at which $\bar{\phi}_I \phi_I \geq \chi$ (if it exists). The derivative of $\bar{\phi}_I \phi_I$ must be non-negative, thus $\bar{\phi}_I \eta \phi_I \geq 0$. These two inequalities continue to hold for $\theta \in [\theta_0, \pi]$ since derivatives are non-negative. However, we know that ϕ_I is among non-positive eigenspaces of $\eta(\pi) = -k^-$, thus the second inequality must be saturated everywhere, hence $\eta \phi_I = 0$ and we find constant ϕ_I solutions with $|\phi_I|^2 = \chi$. Similarly, solutions where an antifundamental $\tilde{\phi}_I \neq 0$ is non-zero obey $|\tilde{\phi}_I|^2 \leq -\chi$ hence require $\chi < 0$. Collecting these results, we deduce in particular that the *D*-term $\chi \mathbb{1}_N - \phi_I \bar{\phi}_I + \tilde{\phi}_I \tilde{\phi}_I$ is positive semidefinite for $\chi > 0$ and negative semidefinite for $\chi < 0$. Furthermore, its trace is at least $|\chi|$ (in absolute value) unless *N* chiral multiplets are non-zero, fully Higgsing the gauge group (fixing σ).

The (diagonal) matrix Δ is the integral (2.35) of this semidefinite matrix. One consequence is that $\operatorname{Tr} \Delta \to \pm \infty$ (with the same sign as χ) in the limits $\chi \to \pm \infty$, except for saddle points for which N chiral multiplets are non-zero and the D-term equation is approximately obeyed throughout the sphere. Another consequence is that all eigenvalues of Δ have the same sign as $\operatorname{Tr} \Delta$; then taking the product of (2.36) over all weights we find that the full one-loop determinant is suppressed as $\operatorname{Tr} \Delta \to +\infty$ (for $N_a > N_f$ instead it would be suppressed as $\operatorname{Tr} \Delta \to -\infty$ while for $N_a = N_f$ it is suppressed in both limits). Therefore, the only saddle points that contribute as $\chi \to +\infty$ are those with N non-zero fundamental chiral multiplets. The requirement that ϕ belongs to non-negative integer eigenspaces of k^{\pm} at poles then forces all eigenvalues of k^{\pm} to be non-negative integers.

At the (South) North pole ϕ_I obeys BPS (anti)vortex equations. The eigenvalues of k^{\pm} control the asymptotics $\phi_I \sim (e^{i\varphi} \sin \theta)^{k^{\pm}} \phi_I^{\circ}$ at the poles thus counting (anti)vortices there. Since the integral of D is $k^+ + k^-$, the distance over which $|\phi_I|^2$ goes from 0 at the poles to χ must scale like $k^{\pm}/\sqrt{\chi}$: vortices become point-like as $\chi \to \infty$.

Altogether, the path integral is a sum over $\binom{N_f}{N}$ Higgs branches H, namely choices of N flavors with $\phi_I \neq 0$, and over vorticities k_j^{\pm} (j = 1, ..., N). The classical action for each such configuration is evaluated using that the gauge flux and integrated D-term are $k^+ \mp k^-$, and the result factorizes: contributions from (anti)vortices at the (South) North pole depend (anti)holomorphically on z. After some massaging,

$$Z_{S^2}^{\text{SQCD}} = \sum_{\substack{H \subset \{1, \dots, N_f\} \\ \#H = N}} \left[\prod_{J \in H} \frac{(z\bar{z})^{-i\tau_J} \prod_{I \notin H} \gamma(-i\tau_I + i\tau_J)}{\prod_{I=1}^{N_a} \gamma(1 + i\tilde{\tau}_I + i\tau_J)} f_H(z) f_H((-1)^{N_f - N_a} \bar{z}) \right]$$
(2.38)

$$f_{\{J_1,\dots,J_N\}}(x) = \sum_{k_1,\dots,k_N \ge 0} \prod_{j=1}^N \frac{x^{k_j} \prod_{I=1}^{N_a} (-i\tilde{\tau}_I - i\tau_{J_j})_{k_j}}{\prod_{i=1}^N (i\tau_{J_i} - i\tau_{J_j} - k_i)_{k_j} \prod_{I \notin \{J_i\}} (-i\tau_I + i\tau_{J_j} - k_j)_{k_j}}$$
(2.39)

where $\gamma(y) = \Gamma(y)/\Gamma(1-y)$ and z is the renormalized value (2.20). Up to a relabeling of parameters, the function $f_H(z)$ coincides with previously known vortex partition functions computed in the Omega background. This is unsurprising as point-like vortices are unaffected by the precise IR regulator (sphere or Omega background). The sign difference $(-1)^{N_f-N_a}$ between vortices and antivortices is explained by noting that Q^2 rotates counterclockwise around one pole but clockwise around the other, hence one should map the rotation parameter $1/r \to -1/r$, and by noting that the renormalized z includes a factor $r^{N_f - N_a}$.

We have glossed over a technical difficulty: the one-loop determinant (2.36) is singular for chiral multiplets ϕ_I that acquire a non-zero value in a given Higgs branch. The corresponding zero-mode of ϕ_I is removed by the *D*-term equation, in other words integrating out *D* makes ϕ_I massive. To derive (2.38) we have eliminated these zero-modes by taking the appropriate residues, but fixing signs is not straightforward in this approach. On the other hand, we know that Coulomb branch and Higgs branch localization must yield the same result. One can derive the Higgs branch expression (2.38) from the Coulomb branch integral (if $N_a < N_f$ or $N_a = N_f$ and the true FI parameter $\zeta > 0$) by closing the integration contours and writing the integral as a sum of residues. From the Coulomb branch integral, k^{\pm} appear as the flux $\mathfrak{m} = k^+ - k^-$ and integers $k_j^+ + k_j^- \ge 0$ labeling poles of gamma functions. Factorization is due to the fact that the integrand in the Coulomb branch expression is a product of a function of z and $i\sigma + \mathfrak{m}/2$ by a function of \bar{z} and $i\sigma - \mathfrak{m}/2$.

In more general theories, the Higgs branch localization result takes the form

$$Z_{S^2} = \sum_{\text{Higgs branches}} Z_{\text{cl}} Z'_{1\text{-loop}} Z_{\text{vortex}} Z_{\text{antivortex}} . \qquad (2.40)$$

The sum ranges over constant solutions to $(\sigma + \tau_I)\phi_I = 0$ and to the *D*-term equation $\phi\bar{\phi} = \chi$, which form a discrete set for generic twisted masses.⁵ The factors are a classical contribution from these constant solutions, a one-loop determinant with poles removed as outlined above, and (anti)holomorphic contributions from point-like (anti)vortices at the poles. The detailed expression can in principle be obtained by localizing onto the Higgs branch as we have just done for SQCD, but solutions to the BPS equations have not been investigated in general.

A simpler approach to obtain (2.40) is to start from the Coulomb branch integral and close contours: as for SQCD, the residues organize themselves into a factorized form. This leads to vortex partition functions which were also later computed in the Omega background [36]. The relevant sets of poles are described in subsection 6.2 of Contribution [17]. We apply this technique to compare partition functions of dual theories in subsection 5.2.

2.6 One-loop determinants

The first step in computing one-loop determinants around a Q-invariant configuration Φ_0 is to write the quadratic Lagrangian for fluctuations $\delta \Phi$, including a gauge fixing term. The Lagrangian takes the form $\delta \Phi \Delta[\Phi_0] \delta \Phi$ for some operator Δ whose bosonic part Δ_b is essentially a Laplacian, and whose fermionic part Δ_f is essentially a Dirac operator. The one-loop determinant reads

$$Z_{1-\text{loop}}[\Phi_0] = \frac{\det \Delta_{\mathbf{f}}[\Phi_0]}{\det \Delta_{\mathbf{b}}[\Phi_0]} , \qquad (2.41)$$

where we omit the usual square root by considering $\Delta_{\rm b}$ as a complex operator rather than a real operator on the same space of fields. Additionally, the operators $\Delta_{\rm b}$ and $\Delta_{\rm f}$ split

⁵In theories with a complicated matter content, this should be checked explicitly.

into direct sums of contributions from the vector and chiral multiplets, which decompose further into individual roots or weights. Three techniques are commonly used to evaluate these determinants.

The most pedestrian approach (for the round sphere only) is to decompose fields into spherical harmonics. In this decomposition $\Delta_{\rm b}$ and $\Delta_{\rm f}$ are block diagonal, with blocks involving a finite number of modes. The determinant of each block is straightforward to evaluate, and in their product, contributions of many bosonic and fermionic modes cancel.

A second approach harnesses the cancellation by constructing two eigenmodes of $\Delta_{\rm f}$ for each eigenmode of $\Delta_{\rm b}$, and viceversa. The pairing fails to be exactly 2-to-1 for some modes, which thus contribute to the ratio of determinants (2.41). Only these eigenvalues need to be computed, instead of the whole spectrum of Δ .

The third approach is more systematic. To begin with, find a basis (X, X') of the fluctuation fields such that QX = X' and $QX' = \mathcal{R}X$ where $\mathcal{R} = Q^2$ is bosonic. Separate pairs (X_0, X'_0) with X_0 bosonic and X'_0 fermionic from pairs (X_1, X'_1) with opposite statistics, and write down the part of V quadratic in fluctuations as

$$V^{(2)} = X'_0 D_{00} X_0 + X_1 D_{10} X_0 + X'_0 D_{01} X'_1 + X_1 D_{11} X'_1 .$$
(2.42)

The operators $\Delta_{\rm b}$ and $\Delta_{\rm f}$ are read from $\mathcal{Q}V^{(2)}$. After some linear algebra, the constraint $\mathcal{Q}^2 V^{(2)} = 0$ implies that⁶

$$\frac{\det \Delta_{\rm f}}{\det \Delta_{\rm b}} = \frac{\det' \mathcal{R}_1}{\det' \mathcal{R}_0} = \frac{\det_{\operatorname{coker} D_{10}} \mathcal{R}_1}{\det_{\ker D_{10}} \mathcal{R}_0} = \prod_i \mathcal{R}(i)^{-m_i} , \qquad (2.43)$$

where *i* indexes eigenvalues $\mathcal{R}(i)$ of \mathcal{R} , and m_i is the multiplicity of $\mathcal{R}(i)$ in ker D_{10} minus that in coker D_{10} . These eigenvalues and multiplicities are read from the \mathcal{R} -equivariant index

$$\operatorname{ind}_{\mathcal{R}}(D_{10}) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\ker D_{10}} e^{t\mathcal{R}} - \operatorname{Tr}_{\operatorname{coker} D_{10}} e^{t\mathcal{R}} = \sum_{i} m_{i} e^{t\mathcal{R}(i)} , \qquad (2.44)$$

itself computed as a sum over fixed points of \mathcal{R} , thanks to the Atiyah-Bott-Berline-Vergne equivariant localization formula [37, 38].

Each of these methods requires lengthy calculations for which we refer to appendices of [11, 12, 13]. To clarify a sign that was originally missed (in the vector multiplet one-loop determinant) we must describe some salient points. By continuity, squashing cannot affect signs, so we focus for simplicity on the round sphere $f(\theta) = r$ and let r = 1.

As a warm-up before the vector multiplet, consider the one-loop determinant for fluctuations of a chiral multiplet along a particular weight w of \mathfrak{R} . Denote by $w(\mathfrak{m})$ and $w(\sigma)$ the (on-shell) components of the vector multiplet when acting on this weight. One finds the eigenvalues of $\Delta_{\rm b}$ by expanding fields in (spin) spherical harmonics: $\left(J + \frac{1}{2}\right)^2 - \left(iw(\sigma) + \frac{1-q}{2}\right)^2$ with multiplicity 2J + 1 for $J - \frac{|w(\mathfrak{m})|}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. The fermionic Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathbf{c.m.}(w)} = i\bar{\psi}\Delta_{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathbf{c.m.}(w)}\psi = i\bar{\psi}\left(-\not{D} - w(\mathfrak{m})/2 + (iw(\sigma) - q/2)\gamma^3\right)\psi, \qquad (2.45)$$

⁶For a non-degenerate deformation term, $\Delta_{\rm f}$ and $\Delta_{\rm b}$ have no zero-modes transverse to the localization locus. \mathcal{R}_0 and \mathcal{R}_1 can have such zero-modes, which should be omitted from det $\mathcal{R}_1/\det \mathcal{R}_0$, however these are transverse to coker D_{10} and ker D_{10} .

where $\not{D} = \gamma^i D_i$ involves a flux $w(\mathfrak{m})$ through the sphere. Note that we extracted a factor of i from $\Delta_{\mathbf{f}}$: this multiplies the determinant by an overall constant phase which only affects the normalization of the partition function. The operator \not{D} has $|w(\mathfrak{m})|$ zero-modes of chirality sign $w(\mathfrak{m})$, and it has, for each $J - |w(\mathfrak{m})|/2 - 1/2 \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, 2J + 1 pairs of modes with eigenvalues $\pm i\sqrt{(J+1/2)^2 - w(\mathfrak{m})^2/4}$ interchanged by γ^3 . The operator $\Delta_{\mathbf{f}}$ thus decomposes into blocks with the following determinant (the matrix is expressed in a basis of eigenmodes of \not{D})

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} -i\sqrt{(J+1/2)^2 - w(\mathfrak{m})^2/4} - w(\mathfrak{m})/2 & -iw(\sigma) + q/2 \\ -iw(\sigma) + q/2 & i\sqrt{(J+1/2)^2 - w(\mathfrak{m})^2/4} - w(\mathfrak{m})/2 \end{pmatrix} \quad (2.46)$$
$$= \left(J + \frac{1-q}{2} + iw(\sigma)\right) \left(J + \frac{1+q}{2} - iw(\sigma)\right),$$

as well as $|w(\mathfrak{m})|$ eigenvalues $-w(\mathfrak{m})/2 + (iw(\sigma) - q/2) \operatorname{sign} w(\mathfrak{m})$. Combining these ingredients,

$$\frac{\det \Delta_{\rm f}^{\rm c.m.(w)}}{\det \Delta_{\rm b}^{\rm c.m.(w)}} = \left(-w(\mathfrak{m})/2 - (q/2 - iw(\sigma)) \operatorname{sign} w(\mathfrak{m})\right)^{|w(\mathfrak{m})|} \times \frac{\prod_{J=(|w(\mathfrak{m})|+1)/2}^{\infty} \left(J + 1/2 - q/2 + iw(\sigma)\right)^{2J+1} \left(J + 1/2 + q/2 - iw(\sigma)\right)^{2J+1}}{\prod_{J=|w(\mathfrak{m})|/2}^{\infty} \left(J + 1 - q/2 + iw(\sigma)\right)^{2J+1} \left(J + q/2 - iw(\sigma)\right)^{2J+1}} = \left(-\operatorname{sign} w(\mathfrak{m})\right)^{|w(\mathfrak{m})|} \prod_{J=|w(\mathfrak{m})|/2}^{\infty} \frac{J + 1 - q/2 + iw(\sigma)}{J + q/2 - iw(\sigma)} \right).$$
(2.47)

The infinite product is divergent and we apply zeta-function regularization, namely replace $\prod_{k\geq 0}(x+k)$ by $\sqrt{2\pi}/\Gamma(x)$. Combining the contributions from all weights w of the chiral multiplet representation, we get the chiral multiplet one-loop determinant

$$Z_{1-\text{loop}}^{\text{c.m.}} = \prod_{w} \frac{\left(-\operatorname{sign} w(\mathfrak{m})\right)^{|w(\mathfrak{m})|} \Gamma\left(\frac{q}{2} - iw(\sigma) + \frac{|w(\mathfrak{m})|}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{q}{2} + iw(\sigma) + \frac{|w(\mathfrak{m})|}{2}\right)} = \prod_{w} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{q}{2} - iw(\sigma) - \frac{w(\mathfrak{m})}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{q}{2} + iw(\sigma) - \frac{w(\mathfrak{m})}{2}\right)} .$$
(2.48)

The last equality can be proven using $\Gamma(x+1) = x\Gamma(x)$.

We now move on to the vector multiplet, with an emphasis on signs rather than the precise factors. The quadratic action, hence the one-loop determinant, splits into contributions from each root α of G. Again we denote by $\alpha(\mathfrak{m})$ and $\alpha(\sigma)$ the relevant on-shell components of the vector multiplet. The bosonic operator $\Delta_{\rm b}^{\alpha}$, taking into account ghosts, is positive definite as for the chiral multiplet hence will not affect signs in the final result. The fermionic action is closely related to the action (2.45) of an adjoint chiral multiplet of R-charge q = 0. It is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathbf{v}.\mathbf{m}.(\alpha)} = -i\bar{\lambda}\Delta_{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathbf{v}.\mathbf{m}.(\alpha)}\lambda = -i\bar{\lambda}\Big(-\not{D} + \frac{1}{2}[w(\mathfrak{m}),\cdot] + i\gamma^{3}[w(\sigma),\cdot]\Big)\lambda , \qquad (2.49)$$

which differs from its chiral multiplet counterpart for the same weight α in two respects: we extracted a different overall factor -i instead of i, and more importantly the sign in front of

 $w(\mathfrak{m})$ changed. Keeping track of the effect of this change on the eigenvalues found previously gives

$$\det \Delta_{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathbf{v}.\mathbf{m}.(\alpha)} = \left(-\operatorname{sign}\alpha(\mathfrak{m})\right)^{|\alpha(\mathfrak{m})|} \left(\frac{|\alpha(\mathfrak{m})|}{2} + i\alpha(\sigma)\right)^{|\alpha(\mathfrak{m})|} \prod_{J=\frac{|\alpha(\mathfrak{m})|+1}{2}}^{\infty} \left((J+\frac{1}{2})^2 + \alpha(\sigma)^2\right)^{2J+1}.$$
(2.50)

Upon taking the product over the roots α , the signs for positive and negative roots combine:

$$\prod_{\alpha} \left(-\operatorname{sign} \alpha(\mathfrak{m}) \right)^{|\alpha(\mathfrak{m})|} = \prod_{\alpha>0} (-1)^{\alpha(\mathfrak{m})} = e^{2\pi i \delta(\mathfrak{m})}$$
(2.51)

where δ is the Weyl vector, half-sum of the positive roots, and $2\delta(\mathfrak{m}) \in \mathbb{Z}$ may be odd. The other contributions in (2.50) combine into positive factors, and most are cancelled by bosonic factors. Altogether, the vector multiplet one-loop determinant is

$$Z_{1\text{-loop}}^{\text{v.m.}} = e^{2\pi i \delta(\mathfrak{m})} \prod_{\alpha>0} \left[\frac{\alpha(\mathfrak{m})^2}{4} + \alpha(\sigma)^2 \right].$$
(2.52)

More precisely, the one-loop determinant omits factors for roots with $\alpha(\mathfrak{m}) = 0$. We include these factors nevertheless: they arise as Vandermonde determinants when replacing the integral over all scalars σ in the Lie algebra of G commuting with \mathfrak{m} by an integral over the Cartan subalgebra only.

Had we kept the radius explicitly, it would appear as $1/r^2$ in each factor of (2.52) and 1/r in each factor of (2.47). The zeta-function regularized form of $\prod_{k\geq 0}(x+k/r)$ is $\sqrt{2\pi}r^{rx-1/2}/\Gamma(rx)$, thus the one-loop determinant listed above are multiplied altogether by

$$r^{-\dim G + \operatorname{rank} G} \prod_{w} r^{1 - q + 2irw(\sigma)} = r^{c/3 + \operatorname{rank} G + 2ir\sum_{w} w(\sigma)} , \qquad (2.53)$$

with $c/3 = \sum_{w} (1-q) - \dim G$ as in (2.21). This power of r, together with the power $r^{-\operatorname{rank} G}$ due to integrating over $r\sigma$ rather than σ , yields the overall power $r^{c/3}$ and the renormalization (2.20) of FI parameters in subsection 2.3.

3 Other $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ curved-space results

In this section we will briefly present some of the main directions in which the simple computation of the S^2 partition function has been developed.

3.1 Local operator insertions

Besides the computation of pure Euclidean partition functions, localization is also extremely powerful in computing expectation values and correlators of BPS operators: both local and non-local, both order and disorder.⁷ In order to be computable, the operators must be invariant under the supercharge Q used to localize, in other words they must be BPS. However the superalgebra on a curved manifold may be quite different from the flat-space one, therefore localization on S^2 (or other curved manifolds) grants us access to correlators that go beyond the standard "chiral rings" on flat space.

Let us discuss local operators on $S^{2,8}$ It follows from (2.4)-(2.5) that the order operators invariant under Q are the field-strength twisted chiral operators Σ —whose bottom components are the complex scalars ($\sigma - i\eta$)—at the North pole x_N , and their conjugates $\bar{\Sigma}$ at the South pole x_S (since $Q^2 = J + R/2$, Q-closed local operators must sit at fixed points of J). For order operators the localization prescription is simply to insert the operator into the integrand, in this case $\sigma \mp i\mathfrak{m}/2r$ for Σ and $\bar{\Sigma}$, respectively. Schematically and setting r = 1, non-normalized correlators are given by

$$\left\langle \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{N}}\left(\Sigma(x_{\mathrm{N}})\right)\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{S}}\left(\bar{\Sigma}(x_{\mathrm{S}})\right)\right\rangle_{\mathrm{n.n.}} = \frac{1}{\left|\mathrm{Weyl}\right|} \sum_{\mathfrak{m}} \int_{\mathfrak{t}} \frac{d^{\mathrm{rank}}\sigma}{(2\pi)^{\mathrm{rank}}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{N}}\left(\sigma - \frac{i\mathfrak{m}}{2}\right) \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{S}}\left(\sigma + \frac{i\mathfrak{m}}{2}\right) Z_{\mathrm{cl,1-loop}}$$
(3.1)

where $\mathcal{O}_{N,S}$ are arbitrary gauge-invariant polynomial functions, while normalized correlators are further divided by Z_{S^2} .

There is a subtlety, though. Since we are forced to place all chiral operators at the same point (and similarly for anti-chirals), one might expect contact terms to show up. Such contact terms can be understood in terms of operator mixings [40]. Indeed the correlators (3.1) do not satisfy the flat-space chiral ring relations. It turns out [41, 10] that they realize a sort of non-commutative deformation of the chiral ring. Let us present the simple example of \mathbb{CP}^{N-1} , *i.e.* the U(1) GLSM with N chiral multiplets of charge 1. With a trick similar to the one used in subsection 2.4, one can show that the correlators satisfy

$$\left\langle \Sigma^{N} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{N}}(\Sigma) \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{S}}(\bar{\Sigma}) \right\rangle = \left(\frac{i}{r}\right)^{N} z \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{N}}\left(\Sigma - \frac{i}{r}\right) \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{S}}(\bar{\Sigma}) \right\rangle,$$
 (3.2)

where Σ and $\overline{\Sigma}$ are inserted at the North and South pole, respectively. In the limit $r \to \infty$ this reproduces the twisted chiral ring of the GLSM, namely $\Sigma^N = (\frac{i}{r})^N z$,⁹ which coincides with the quantum cohomology of \mathbb{CP}^{N-1} [42]. To interpret the deformation, we rewrite (non-normalized) correlators of Σ as derivatives of the partition function, $\Sigma \to \frac{z}{ir} \frac{\partial}{\partial z}$, which obviously do not commute with z. Then (3.2) reduces to the A-system equation for \mathbb{CP}^{N-1} , $(\frac{\partial}{\partial \log z})^N - (-1)^N z = 0$, and the non-commutative ring is the \mathcal{D} -module obtained as quotient of the Weyl algebra by that equation.

An interesting class of local disorder operators is given by vortex operators.¹⁰ They are

⁷By "order" operators we mean standard polynomial functions of the fundamental fields in the Lagrangian, while "disorder" operators are defined as singular boundary conditions for the fields in the path-integral at points or submanifolds [39].

⁸Wilson line operators can be easily computed as well, see [12].

⁹On flat space this should be written as $\Sigma^N = (iM_{\rm UV})^N z_{\rm UV}$, where the UV Fayet-Iliopoulos term is related to the renormalized one as in (2.20).

¹⁰They are the equivalent of vortex line operators in 3d, and of certain simple surface operators in 4d.

defined by the singular behavior of the gauge field A around a point,

$$A \sim \gamma \, d\varphi \,,$$
 (3.3)

where φ is an angular coordinate around that point and $\gamma \in \mathfrak{g}$. The definition (3.3) is in a gauge where matter fields are regular, therefore it corresponds to a point-like insertion of magnetic flux: $F_{12} = 2\pi\gamma \,\delta^2(x)$. On S^2 we can insert BPS local vortex operators at the two poles, and the supersymmetric operator also involve the local source $D = 2\pi i \gamma \,\delta^2(x)$. In [43] the correlator of two vortex operators at the two poles, and labelled by $\gamma^{N,S}$, has been computed with localization techniques in $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ simple gauge theories. A useful trick is the equivalence between gauge theories in the presence of (quantized) vortex operators and on orbifolds [44]. In the Abelian case the result is that the correlators, as functions of γ , are piecewise constant with jumps at certain specific values. In the non-Abelian case, instead, there is a dependence on the Levi subgroup specified by γ , which is the reductive subgroup of G commuting with γ . In both cases the partition function still factorizes as in subsection 2.5.

3.2 Twisted multiplets on the sphere

So far we have considered the simplest type of $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ gauge theories: those made of vector and chiral multiplets. Things become even more interesting when including other types of multiplets. The addition of twisted chiral multiplets has been studied in [13]. A twisted chiral multiplet $Y: (y, \chi, G)$ satisfies $\overline{D}_+ Y = D_- Y = 0$ and it comprises a complex scalar y, a Dirac fermion χ and a complex auxiliary scalar G. One can write Lagrangians for them on the sphere that preserve the $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)$ supersymmetry algebra of S^2 , and apply localization to compute partition functions and correlators.¹¹ Twisted chiral multiplets must be neutral under vector multiplets, however they can couple to the field-strength twisted chiral multiplet Σ through a twisted superpotential \widetilde{W} .

The supersymmetric action on S^2 follows from the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{t.c.m.}} = D^{i} \bar{y} D_{i} y + i \bar{\chi} \gamma^{i} D_{i} \chi + \left| G + \frac{\Delta}{r} y \right|^{2}.$$
(3.4)

The parameter Δ is the Weyl weight of the twisted chiral multiplet. In the special case $\Delta = 1$, the action is the same as for an Abelian vector multiplet, because with the identifications $y = \sigma - i\eta$, $\chi = \lambda$ and $G = D - iF_{12}$ we construct the field-strength twisted chiral multiplet.

The interaction term $\mathcal{L}_{\widetilde{W}}$ has been already considered in subsection 2.1. In the context of mirror symmetry, as we will see in subsection 5.1, particularly important is the non-minimal coupling $\widetilde{W} = \Sigma Y$ between a vector multiplet and twisted chiral multiplets, where Y plays the role of a dynamical FI term.

One can perform localization with respect to the same supercharge Q used before [13]. From the BPS equations $\delta \chi = \delta \bar{\chi} = 0$, one obtains the conditions

$$y = \text{const.}, \qquad G + \frac{\Delta}{r}y = 0, \qquad (3.5)$$

¹¹In fact, [13] generalizes the construction to squashed rotationally-invariant spheres which preserve only an $\mathfrak{su}(1|1)$ superalgebra. It turns out that the localization computations do not depend on the squashing.

in other words the complex scalar y can be an arbitrary constant on the sphere. The Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_{\text{t.c.m.}}$ is \mathcal{Q} -exact and can be used as a localization term. The one-loop determinant is trivial, in the sense that it does not depend on y. Thus, for a system of twisted chiral multiplets Y_I the localization formula reads

$$Z_{S^2} = \int \left(\prod_I d^2 y_I\right) e^{-4\pi i r \widetilde{W}(y) - 4\pi i r \overline{\widetilde{W}}(\bar{y})} , \qquad (3.6)$$

where the index I runs over the twisted chiral multiplets. As we will see in subsection 5.1, this expression can be used to confirm the mirrors [45] of Hori and Vafa.

The superalgebra on S^2 we have considered so far—that we will call $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_A$ —is a subalgebra of the $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ superconformal algebra whose bosonic part comprises $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ rotations of S^2 and the $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ vector-like R-symmetry. There exists, though, another inequivalent choice, $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_B$, which instead contains the $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ axial R-symmetry [21]. The two are swapped by the \mathbb{Z}_2 mirror outer automorphism that exchanges the R-symmetries and exchanges multiplets with twisted multiplets. Those superalgebras contain supercharges \mathcal{Q}_A and \mathcal{Q}_B , respectively. The charge \mathcal{Q}_A annihilates twisted chiral operators at the North pole and their conjugates at the South pole: it can be used to compute their correlators on S^2 (as we saw in subsection 3.1), as well as the Zamolodchikov metric on the Kähler moduli space of conformal fixed points. Those quantities are independent of complex structure moduli because chiral (superpotential) deformations are \mathcal{Q}_A -exact. Likewise, \mathcal{Q}_B annihilates chiral operators at the North pole and their conjugates at the South pole, it can be used to compute their correlators on S^2 and the Zamolodchikov metric on the complex structure moduli space of fixed points [21]. They will be independent of Kähler moduli because twisted chiral (superpotential) deformations are \mathcal{Q}_B -exact.

At this point, the easiest way to construct $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_B$ -invariant actions on S^2 and compute their path-integrals with localization is to exploit the \mathbb{Z}_2 mirror automorphism. Thus, the $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_B$ partition function of a gauge theory of vector and chiral multiplets is equal to the $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_A$ partition function of a theory of twisted vector and twisted chiral multiplets. In this way, we can perform all computations in the $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_A$ framework we have used to far, provided we study all types of twisted multiplets, in particular twisted vector multiplets.

A twisted vector multiplet is a real multiplet \tilde{V} subject to gauge redundancy by a twisted chiral multiplet: $\tilde{V} \cong \tilde{V} + \Lambda_t + \overline{\Lambda}_t$. It has the same components as a standard vector multiplet, $\tilde{V} : (A_\mu, \sigma, \overline{\sigma}, \eta, \overline{\eta}, D)$, but the supersymmetry transformations are different. In particular, the field strength sits in the chiral multiplets $\tilde{\Sigma} : (\sigma, \eta, D + iF)$ and its conjugate, the transformation of which we have already discussed. Twisted chiral multiplets can be minimally coupled to twisted vector multiplets; in Wess-Zumino gauge, the transformations of the former pick up a dependence on the latter. One can then write down supersymmetric actions on S^2 [21], in particular the Yang-Mills Lagrangian for \tilde{V} equals the kinetic Lagrangian for the chiral multiplet $\tilde{\Sigma}$. The FI term sits in a linear superpotential term for $\tilde{\Sigma}$.

An important point to stress is that charged twisted chiral multiplets contribute to the gauge- $U(1)_R$ anomaly. Since $U(1)_R$ is part of the supersymmetry algebra on S^2 (rather than being an outer automorphism as on flat space), such an anomaly would spoil supersymmetry.

Therefore, only theories for which the sums of the charges of twisted chirals under Abelian twisted vectors vanish can preserve supersymmetry on S^2 quantum mechanically.¹²

Both kinetic actions are Q-exact and can be used for localization [21]. The bosonic part of the Lagrangian reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm kin}\Big|_{\rm bos} = \frac{1}{2g^2} \operatorname{Tr}\left(|D_{\mu}\sigma|^2 + \frac{1}{4}[\sigma,\bar{\sigma}]^2 + F^2 + \tilde{D}^2\right) \\ + |D_{\mu}y|^2 + |G|^2 + \frac{1}{2}\left(|\sigma y|^2 + |\bar{\sigma}y|^2\right) + \frac{g^2}{2}(y\bar{y}-\chi)^2 , \quad (3.7)$$

where $\tilde{D} \equiv D + ig^2(y\bar{y} - \chi)$ and χ is the matrix of FI terms that commutes with the gauge generators. Under the standard reality conditions, that Lagrangian is semipositive definite. The path-integral localizes¹³ to its zeros modulo gauge transformations, that is the manifold

$$\mathcal{M} = \left\{ y \, \big| \, y = \text{const.} \,, \, y\bar{y} - \chi = 0 \right\} / G = \mathbb{C}^{|\mathfrak{R}|} / _{\chi} G \tag{3.8}$$

with all other fields vanishing. Therefore, \mathcal{M} is a Kähler quotient of $\mathbb{C}^{|\mathfrak{R}|}$ at levels χ of the moment map, where $|\mathfrak{R}|$ is the dimension of the matter representation.

Let us consider the Abelian case discussed in [21]: the gauge group is $U(1)^{N_c}$ and there are N_f twisted chiral multiplets of charges $Q_{I=1...N_f}^{a=1...N_c}$ subject to $\sum_I Q_I^a = 0$. The one-loop determinant turns out to be

$$Z_{1-\text{loop}} = \det(M^{\dagger}M) , \qquad (3.9)$$

where M is the $N_f \times N_c$ matrix $M_I^a = Q_I^a y_I$. Obviously it must have $N_f \ge N_c$, otherwise the gauginos have fermionic zero-modes and the determinant vanishes. After some algebra, the partition function can be written as

$$Z_{S^2} = \int \frac{d^{N_f} y \wedge d^{N_f} \bar{y}}{(2\pi)^{N_c}} \det(M^{\dagger} M) \prod_a \delta\left(2\mu_a + \chi_a\right) e^{-4\pi i r \widetilde{W}(y) - 4\pi i r \overline{\widetilde{W}}(\bar{y})} , \qquad (3.10)$$

where the functions

$$\mu_a = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_I Q_I^a |y_I|^2 \tag{3.11}$$

are the moment maps for the gauge action. Twisted chiral and antichiral operators are easily inserted at the North and South pole, respectively, by including $\mathcal{O}_{NP}(Y)$ and $\mathcal{O}_{SP}(\bar{Y})$ in the integrand.

An interesting check performed in [21] in models with a low-energy geometric description as Calabi-Yau NLSMs, is that the partition function assumes the form

$$Z_{S^2} = i^{\dim \mathcal{M}} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \Omega \wedge \bar{\Omega} = e^{-\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{C}}}$$
(3.12)

¹²The same statement is true if we try to use the B-type topological twist [46].

 $^{^{13}}$ As always, one should be careful to include the gauge-fixing sector. The details can be found in the reference.

in terms of the nonwhere vanishing holomorphic top form Ω . Thus, the sphere partition function computes the Kähler potential on the complex structure moduli space.

There are other multiplets that represent the $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ supersymmetry algebra, such as semichiral multiplets, semichiral vector multiplets and large vector multiplets [47, 48]. The most general $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ NLSM contains chiral, twisted chiral and semichiral multiplets, and has a non-Kähler target with bi-Hermitian [49] (also known as generalized Kähler [50, 51]) geometry with torsion. Some of those models can be realized at the IR of GLSMs constructed out of the more general multiplets. For instance, the sphere partition function of GLSMs with semichiral multiplets has been computed in [52].

3.3 Localization on the hemisphere

A very interesting development of the localization programme is to consider theories on manifolds with boundaries. This is an extremely rich and interesting problem in its own right, it allows to discuss domain walls and interfaces between different phases, it relates with lower-dimensional theories that may live along the boundary, and in the 2d case it makes contact with the physics of D-branes via string theory.

As a first step, [22, 23, 24] study 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2, 2)$ gauge theories on the hemisphere (topology of the disk D_2) and compute their partition function with localization. The result $Z_{D_2}(\mathcal{B})$ depends on the boundary conditions—or D-brane—at the boundary, and they mainly focus on B-branes [46, 53, 54, 55]. The partition function depends holomorphically on twisted chiral parameters and it is independent of chiral parameters. In fact, it computes the inner product $\langle \mathcal{B}|1\rangle$ between two states in the Ramond sector, one generated by the identity operator¹⁴ and the other by the boundary conditions, and this is called the *central charge* of the Dbrane [53]. For theories that flow to NLSMs on Kähler manifolds, the large-volume limit reproduces the known geometric expression [56], however the localization formula contains all quantum corrections (to be compared with [45, 54]). This can help in identifying the precise correspondence between the original B-brane and the mirror A-brane.

The partition function takes the form of an integral of a meromorphic form, and the choice of contour is related to the choice of boundary conditions for vector multiplets. There is no a priori rule to decide the boundary conditions, but the convergence of the integral imposes strong constraints. Near the phase boundaries, a convergent contour can be found only for a very restricted class of branes, and this reproduces the *grade restriction rule* found in [55] in some specific cases, generalizing it to non-Abelian GLSMs and non-Calabi-Yau geometries.

Let us briefly describe the localization computation of $Z_{D_2}(\mathcal{B})$ [22, 23, 24]. The hemisphere is parametrized by θ in the range $\left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right]$ and the boundary breaks the superalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_A$ to $\mathfrak{su}(1|1)_A$, whose bosonic $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ subalgebra is a combination of rotations and vectorlike R-symmetry rotations. To construct the kinetic actions for vector and chiral multiplets, one can use the same \mathcal{Q} -exact expressions as on S^2 , however they will now involve boundary

¹⁴More generally, one can compute $\langle \mathcal{B} | \mathcal{O} \rangle$ by inserting the twisted chiral operator \mathcal{O} at the pole.

terms (we set r = 1):

$$\delta_{\mathcal{Q}}\delta_{\bar{\epsilon}}\int d\mathrm{vol}_{2} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\bar{\lambda}\lambda/2 - 2D\sigma + \sigma^{2}\right) = \int d\mathrm{vol}_{2} \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{v.m.}} + \oint_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} d\varphi \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{v.m.}}^{\mathrm{bd}}$$

$$\delta_{\mathcal{Q}}\delta_{\bar{\epsilon}}\int d\mathrm{vol}_{2} \left(\bar{\psi}\psi - 2i\bar{\phi}\sigma\phi + (q-1)\bar{\phi}\phi\right) = \int d\mathrm{vol}_{2} \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{c.m.}} + \oint_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} d\varphi \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{c.m.}}^{\mathrm{bd}}.$$
(3.13)

Likewise, the FI and ϑ -terms as well as more general twisted superpotential interactions are corrected by boundary terms to be supersymmetric. However the variation of the superpotential is a boundary term:

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_W = i D_\mu \Big(\bar{\epsilon} \gamma^\mu \psi_i \, \partial_i W(\phi) \Big) + i D_\mu \Big(\epsilon \gamma^\mu \bar{\psi}_{\bar{\imath}} \, \partial_{\bar{\imath}} W(\bar{\phi}) \Big) \tag{3.14}$$

called the Warner term [57]. This is not easily canceled by a boundary term as before.

To cancel the variation of the superpotential, we need to construct the so-called Chan-Paton boundary interaction [55]. First we need a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded vector space

$$\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}^e \oplus \mathcal{V}^o \ . \tag{3.15}$$

We can think of the space $\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{V})$ as a superalgebra, and take the odd endomorphisms to anticommute with the fermionic fields. Then \mathcal{V} must furnish a unitary representation of $G \times G_F \times U(1)_R$, *i.e.* its coordinates are assigned R-charges q_* and a gauge/flavor representation ρ_* . Finally we should construct two polynomials $\mathfrak{Q}(\phi)$, $\overline{\mathfrak{Q}}(\overline{\phi})$ (complex conjugate in Lorentzian signature) with values in $\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{V})^o$, invariant under $G \times G_F$ and with R-charge 1 and -1, respectively, such that

$$\mathfrak{Q}(\phi)^2 = W(\phi) \, \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{V}} \,, \qquad \qquad \bar{\mathfrak{Q}}(\bar{\phi})^2 = \bar{W}(\bar{\phi}) \, \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{V}} \,. \tag{3.16}$$

These equations are called a *matrix factorization* of W, and \mathfrak{Q} is called a *tachyon profile*. With it we construct the super-connection

$$\mathcal{A}_{\varphi} = \rho_* \left(A_{\varphi} + i\sigma \right) + \frac{R}{2} - \frac{i}{2} \{ \mathfrak{Q}, \bar{\mathfrak{Q}} \} + \frac{1}{2} (\psi_+ - \psi_-)^i \partial_i \mathfrak{Q} + \frac{1}{2} (\bar{\psi}_+ - \bar{\psi}_-)^i \partial_i \bar{\mathfrak{Q}}$$
(3.17)

and the boundary interaction is given by the supertrace

$$\operatorname{Str}_{\mathcal{V}}\left[\operatorname{Pexp}\left(i \oint d\varphi \,\mathcal{A}_{\varphi}\right)\right].$$
 (3.18)

One can show that the SUSY variation of the Chan-Paton interaction cancels the Warner term [55]. The term $\{\mathfrak{Q}, \overline{\mathfrak{Q}}\}$ represents a boundary potential.

At this point one should specify boundary conditions invariant under supersymmetry and compatible with the Euler-Lagrange equations. The issue is somehow delicate, and details can be found in [22, 23, 24]. The boundary conditions for vector multiplets include $D_{\theta}\sigma = 0$ and $F_{\mu\nu} = 0$, therefore—compared to the S^2 case—the BPS moduli space does not include the flux parameter \mathfrak{m} . For chiral multiplets there are two options: Neumann or Dirichlet. Neumann boundary conditions include $D_{\theta}\phi = D_{\theta}\bar{\phi} = 0$ and describe directions along the D-brane (in target space). Dirichlet boundary conditions include $\phi = \bar{\phi} = 0$ and describe directions perpendicular to the D-brane. The BPS equations fix $\sigma = D = \text{const.}$ The one-loop determinants are

$$Z_{\text{gauge}} = \prod_{\alpha>0} i\alpha(\sigma) \sin\left(i\pi\alpha(\sigma)\right)$$

$$Z_{\text{matter}}^{\text{Neu}} = \prod_{w\in\Re} \Gamma\left(-iw(\sigma)\right), \qquad \qquad Z_{\text{matter}}^{\text{Dir}} = \prod_{w\in\Re} \frac{-2\pi i \, e^{\pi w(\sigma)}}{\Gamma\left(1+iw(\sigma)\right)}. \tag{3.19}$$

As usual, twisted masses are introduced by including an external vector multiplet with scalar component τ , and R-charges are accounted by the shift $\tau \to \tau + iq/2$. The final localization formula is

$$Z_{D_2}(\mathcal{B}) = \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Weyl}(G)|} \int \frac{d^N \sigma}{(2\pi)^N} z^{i\sigma} \operatorname{Str}_{\mathcal{V}}\left[e^{-2\pi\sigma}\right] Z_{1-\operatorname{loop}}$$
(3.20)

where $z = e^{-2\pi\zeta + i\vartheta}$ is the exponential of the complexified FI parameter and $N = \operatorname{rank} G$. As we have discussed before, the integration contour should be defined with care: it should be a deformation of the real contour $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}^N$ which ensures convergence, and only for a very restricted set of branes can this be achieved for all values of z [24].

To clarify the role of the Chan-Paton interaction, let us give a simple example of D0branes on \mathbb{C}^n . The model has *n* free chiral multiplets with flavor symmetry $G_F = U(n)$. To describe D0-branes one can simply impose Dirichlet boundary conditions in all directions, which does not break U(n). There is no gauge sector and the partition function reads

$$Z_{D_2}(D0) = \prod_{j=1}^{n} \frac{-2\pi i \, e^{\pi \tau_j}}{\Gamma(1+i\tau_j)}$$
(3.21)

where τ_j are the twisted masses (equivariant parameters). On the other hand, we can impose Neumann boundary conditions and construct a boundary interaction. To construct \mathcal{V} we take fermionic oscillators $\{\eta_i, \bar{\eta}^j\} = \delta_i^j$ and a Clifford vacuum $|0\rangle$ such that $\bar{\eta}^j |0\rangle = 0$: then we identify \mathcal{V} with the fermionic Fock space. We choose the tachyon profile

$$\mathfrak{Q}(\phi) = \phi^i \eta_i , \qquad \qquad \bar{\mathfrak{Q}}(\bar{\phi}) = \bar{\phi}_j \bar{\eta}^j . \qquad (3.22)$$

Clearly $\mathfrak{Q}(\phi)^2 = \overline{\mathfrak{Q}}(\overline{\phi})^2 = 0$. As η_i generate the Fock space and transform in the antifundamental representation of U(n), one gets $\operatorname{Str}_{\mathcal{V}}\left[e^{-2\pi\tau}\right] = \prod_j (1 - e^{2\pi\tau_j})$. Hence

$$Z_{D_2}(D0) = \prod_{j=1}^n \left(1 - e^{2\pi\tau_j}\right) \Gamma(-i\tau_j) = \prod_{j=1}^n \frac{-2\pi i \, e^{\pi\tau_j}}{\Gamma(1 + i\tau_j)} \,. \tag{3.23}$$

We have indicated the boundary conditions in the same way as before, namely as D0, because they realize the same D-brane in the IR, and indeed the central charges agree. The boundary interaction creates a potential $\{\mathfrak{Q}, \overline{\mathfrak{Q}}\} = \overline{\phi}^i \phi_i$ whose only minimum is at the origin, therefore at low energies it gives the same D-brane as by imposing Dirichlet boundary conditions. This is a simple example of tachyon condensation [58]: one can describe all lower-dimensional branes using space-filling branes and a suitable boundary tachyon profile.

An important outcome of the localization computation is the expression for the D-brane central charge in large-volume geometric phases [24]:

$$Z_{D_2}(\mathcal{B}) = \int_X \hat{\Gamma}_X \ e^{B + i\omega/2\pi} \ \mathrm{ch}(\mathcal{B}) \ . \tag{3.24}$$

Here X is the Kähler target manifold, ω its Kähler class, B is the B-field and ch(\mathcal{B}) is the Chern character of the complex of holomorphic vector bundles that specifies the brane (see [24] for details). Moreover $\hat{\Gamma}_X$ is the *Gamma class* of the holomorphic tangent bundle of X, defined in the standard way in terms of the Chern roots by the function

$$\hat{\Gamma}(x) = \Gamma\left(1 - \frac{x}{2\pi i}\right). \tag{3.25}$$

The formula was already known to mathematicians [59, 60, 61],¹⁵ and the appearance of $\hat{\Gamma}_X$ from the perturbative part of the NLSM path-integral has also been confirmed in [62]. A similar analysis for orientifold planes, as opposed to D-branes, has been done in [25] by studying the partition function of GLSMs on \mathbb{RP}^2 , and an expression for the central charge in large-volume geometric phases has been found.

3.4 Ω -deformed A-twist on the sphere

The modern "Coulomb branch localization" framework initiated by Pestun [14] can be applied to well-studied setups to obtain new interesting results. In particular, the canonical way to preserve supersymmetry on a curved manifold is to perform the so-called *topological twist* [63]: one turns on a background vector field that couples to the R-symmetry, equal and opposite to (some component of) the spin connection. On S^2 , the A-type topological twist corresponds to one unit of magnetic flux for the vector R-symmetry R.¹⁶ Thus, the A-twist [8] consists of a supersymmetric background for 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ theories—different from the one we have discussed so far—preserving an $\mathfrak{su}(1|1)_A$ subalgebra (the bosonic $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ is the vector-like R).

The interesting observables in the A-model [8, 46] are correlation functions of twisted chiral operators at non-coincident points (and their descendants). For gauge theories, they are gauge-invariant polynomials $\mathcal{O}(\Sigma(p))$ of the field-strength twisted multiplet at points p. Those operators form a chiral ring, and the correlations functions are independent of the insertion points p. For theories that flow to NLSMs, the correlators equal the structure constants of the quantum cohomology ring of the target.

¹⁵In particular notice that $\hat{\Gamma}_X$ appears in place of the A-roof class \hat{A}_X .

¹⁶In the B-type twist one turns on one unit of flux for the axial R-symmetry. Since the two are equivalent, up to the \mathbb{Z}_2 automorphisms that swaps multiplets with twisted multiplets, we shall consider the A-twist only.

Localization has been applied to topologically twisted theories since the beginning, however in a form more similar to the "Higgs branch localization" in which the path-integral localizes to holomorphic maps in A-twisted NLSMs, and to point-like vortices in A-twisted GLSMs (see *e.g.* [3, 64]). It turns out that Coulomb branch localization can be applied as well, producing compact and easily-calculable expressions for correlators in A-twisted gauge theories on S^2 [9, 10] and yielding new results in non-Abelian theories.

The A-twisted background can be generalized into a sort of Ω -deformed S^2 [6]:¹⁷ the superalgebra is still $\mathfrak{su}(1|1)$, however the $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ bosonic subalgebra is a linear combination of R and rotations of S^2 along an axis, controlled by a parameter ϵ_{Ω} . This deformation had already appeared in the mathematical literature, starting with the work of Givental [65]. Since rotations are part of the supersymmetry algebra, for $\epsilon_{\Omega} \neq 0$ local operators can only be inserted at the North and South poles.

Localization can be applied to the more general Ω -deformed A-twist as well [9, 10]. The BPS configurations are parametrized by the Cartan part of the complex scalar σ in the vector multiplet, as well as by diagonal magnetic fluxes \mathbf{m} in the coroot lattice Γ_t . For a theory with exponentiated complex FI term $z = e^{-2\pi\zeta + i\vartheta}$ the classical action is

$$Z_{\rm cl} = z^{\rm Tr\,\mathfrak{m}} \,. \tag{3.26}$$

The one-loop determinants for vector and chiral multiplets are

$$Z_{1\text{-loop}}^{\text{gauge}} = \prod_{\alpha>0} \left[\alpha(\sigma)^2 - \frac{\alpha(\mathfrak{m})^2 \epsilon_{\Omega}^2}{4} \right], \quad Z_{1\text{-loop}}^{\text{chiral}} = \prod_{w\in\mathfrak{R}} \prod_{j=-\frac{|B_w|-1}{2}}^{\frac{|B_w|-1}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{w(\sigma)+j\,\epsilon_{\Omega}} \right)^{\text{sign}\,B_w}$$
(3.27)

where $B_w = w(\mathfrak{m}) - q_w + 1$. Here q_w are the R-charges, which on the A-twisted background have to be chosen integral (because of Dirac quantization). Each operator insertion $\mathcal{O}(\Sigma)$ brings an extra factor

$$\mathcal{O}\left(\sigma \pm \epsilon_{\Omega} \frac{\mathfrak{m}}{2}\right)$$
.

The sign is \pm for insertions at the North/South pole, while for $\epsilon_{\Omega} = 0$ operators can be inserted at any point. Then the localization formula is

$$\left\langle \prod_{i} \mathcal{O}_{i} \right\rangle_{\Omega} = \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Weyl}(G)|} \sum_{\mathfrak{m} \in \Gamma_{\mathfrak{t}}} \left[\sum_{\sigma_{*} \in \mathfrak{M}_{\operatorname{sing}}} \operatorname{JK-Res}_{\sigma = \sigma_{*}} \left(\mathsf{Q}(\sigma_{*}), \eta \right) \prod_{i} \mathcal{O}_{i} Z_{\operatorname{cl}} Z_{\operatorname{l-loop}} + \operatorname{bdry} \right].$$
(3.28)

This formula has a similar flavor to the previous ones, however the integration is over a specific middle-dimensional contour in the complex σ -plane which effectively computes a weighted sum of residues of the integrand at the singular points $\sigma_* \in \mathfrak{M}_{\text{sing}}$. This particular contour is called the Jeffrey-Kirwan residue [66]: its importance for recent localization computations has been recognized in [67] in the context of the elliptic genus, and we will explain

¹⁷A geometric way to understand this deformation is to start in 3d with an S^2 -bundle over S^1 in which S^2 rotates by an angle ϵ_{Ω} as we wind around S^1 . Then reduce on S^1 to 2d [9].

it in detail in section 4, including the notation used in (3.28). The JK residue depends on the choice of an auxiliary parameter $\eta \in \mathfrak{t}$, while the last term represents boundary contributions at infinity of the σ -plane. The sum of all contributions does not depend on η , however for certain choices the boundary contribution vanishes making the computation easier. More details can be found in [9, 10].

3.5 General supersymmetric backgrounds

To study supersymmetric backgrounds more general than the $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ massive superalgebras on the round S^2 or the A-twist, one can employ a systematic method developed by Festuccia and Seiberg in four dimensions [4], and adapted to the two-dimensional case in [6] (the method is summarized in Contribution [5]). The method consists in coupling the flat-space supersymmetric theory of interest to some off-shell supergravity,¹⁸ giving an expectation value to the bosonic fields in the graviton multiplet (including the metric and the auxiliary fields), and then taking a rigid limit in which the Newton constant goes to zero but the background remains fixed. In this limit, supersymmetry of the background is guaranteed by the vanishing of gravitino variations (possibly including gaugino variations, when they are part of the graviton multiplet).

The two-dimensional Lorentzian $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ superalgebra can have at most the R-symmetry group automorphism $U(1)_{\text{left}} \times U(1)_{\text{right}} \simeq U(1)_R \times U(1)_A$, *i.e.* a vector and an axial part. We restrict to theories with a vector-like R-symmetry, then the algebra admits a complex central charge Z.¹⁹ On Euclidean flat space, the supersymmetry algebra is

$$\{Q_{\alpha}, \tilde{Q}_{\beta}\} = \left[2\gamma^{\mu}P_{\mu} + 2i\mathbb{P}_{+}Z - 2i\mathbb{P}_{-}\tilde{Z}\right]_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \{Q_{\alpha}, Q_{\beta}\} = \{\tilde{Q}_{\alpha}, \tilde{Q}_{\beta}\} = 0, \quad (3.29)$$

where \mathbb{P}_{\pm} are the projectors on positive/negative chirality spinors. Tilded quantities are complex conjugate in Lorentzian signature, but are independent complexified quantities in Euclidean signature. To Q_{\pm} , \tilde{Q}_{\pm} we assign R-charges -1 and +1, respectively.

Theories with an R-symmetry have an \mathcal{R} -multiplet²⁰ containing the conserved operators

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mu} := \left(T_{\mu\nu}, S_{\alpha\mu}, \tilde{S}_{\alpha\mu}, j^{R}_{\mu}, j^{Z}_{\mu}, j^{\widetilde{Z}}_{\mu} \right), \qquad (3.30)$$

namely the stress tensor, the supersymmetry currents, and the currents for R-symmetry and central charges. Correspondingly, there exists an off-shell 2d supergravity—dimensional reduction of new minimal 4d supergravity [69, 70, 71]—whose graviton multiplet couples to the \mathcal{R} -multiplet. In a Wess-Zumino gauge it contains the fields

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mu} := \left(g_{\mu\nu}, \Psi_{\alpha\mu}, \tilde{\Psi}_{\alpha\mu}, V_{\mu}, C_{\mu}, \tilde{C}_{\mu}\right), \qquad (3.31)$$

¹⁸This step has the technical limitation that we need an off-shell formulation both for supergravity and the quantum field theory. Thus, it becomes difficult to apply the method when the number of supercharges is large.

¹⁹The $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ superalgebra admits two complex central charges, each breaking one of the two R-symmetries. A superconformal theory cannot have central charges.

 $^{^{20}}$ For a discussion of supercurrent multiplets in two dimensions see [68].

namely the metric, the gravitinos and the gauge fields coupling to R- and central charges. The gauge fields $V_{\mu}, C_{\mu}, \tilde{C}_{\mu}$ appear in covariant derivatives, $D_{\mu} = \nabla_{\mu} - iqV_{\mu} + \frac{z}{2}\tilde{C}_{\mu} - \frac{\tilde{z}}{2}C_{\mu}$, as well as through their field strengths. It is convenient to introduce the dual field strengths

$$\mathcal{H} = -i\varepsilon^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}C_{\nu} , \qquad \qquad \widetilde{\mathcal{H}} = -i\varepsilon^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\widetilde{C}_{\nu} . \qquad (3.32)$$

The gravitino variations—which will be referred to as the generalized Killing spinor (GKS) equations—are:

$$0 = \frac{1}{2}\delta\Psi_{\mu} = (\nabla_{\mu} - iV_{\mu})\epsilon - \frac{1}{2}\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{H} & 0\\ 0 & \widetilde{\mathcal{H}} \end{pmatrix}\gamma_{\mu}\epsilon + \dots$$

$$0 = \frac{1}{2}\delta\widetilde{\Psi}_{\mu} = (\nabla_{\mu} + iV_{\mu})\widetilde{\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2}\begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\mathcal{H}} & 0\\ 0 & \mathcal{H} \end{pmatrix}\gamma_{\mu}\widetilde{\epsilon} + \dots$$

(3.33)

In the rightmost terms we used conventions in which the chirality matrix is $\gamma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$. The two supersymmetry parameters ϵ , $\tilde{\epsilon}$ are complex Dirac spinors with R-charges 1, -1 respectively, and no central charges. The dots represent terms that vanish when we set $\Psi_{\mu} = \tilde{\Psi}_{\mu} = 0$. These equations have to be solved for the background fields as well as for ϵ , $\tilde{\epsilon}$, and the number of solutions for the latter is the number of preserved supercharges.

From the off-shell supergravity transformations of fields (which can be found in [6]) one deduces the deformed supersymmetry algebra on a background:²¹

$$\begin{cases} \{\delta_{\epsilon}, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\} = i\mathcal{L}_{K} - i\epsilon \mathbf{Q}\tilde{\epsilon} \\ \{\delta_{\epsilon_{1}}, \delta_{\epsilon_{2}}\} = \{\delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_{1}}, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}_{2}}\} = 0 \end{cases} \qquad \mathbf{Q} = \begin{pmatrix} z - \sigma - \frac{r}{2}\mathcal{H} & 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{z} - \tilde{\sigma} - \frac{r}{2}\tilde{\mathcal{H}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.34)

acting on a field $\varphi_{q,z,\tilde{z}}$ of fixed charges. The first term is a gauge-covariant Lie derivative, and it represents a translation along the vector field

$$K^{\mu} = \epsilon \gamma^{\mu} \tilde{\epsilon} . \tag{3.35}$$

It follows from the GKS equations that such a vector field is Killing, $\nabla_{(\mu}K_{\nu)} = 0$ and $\mathcal{L}_K \mathcal{H} = \mathcal{L}_K \widetilde{H} = 0$, unless it vanishes. The second term is a mix of R-symmetry, Z/\widetilde{Z} -symmetry and gauge/global symmetry rotations.

Let us discuss some important solutions to (3.33) (the full set of solutions in presented in [6]). The first solution, known for a long time [8], is the *topological A-twist*:

$$V_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu}^{ab}\varepsilon_{ab} , \qquad \epsilon = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\\epsilon_{-} \end{pmatrix} , \qquad \tilde{\epsilon} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\epsilon}_{+}\\0 \end{pmatrix} , \qquad \mathcal{H} = 0 , \qquad \widetilde{\mathcal{H}} = 0$$
(3.36)

where ω_{μ}^{ab} is the spin connection and $\epsilon_{-}, \tilde{\epsilon}_{+}$ are constant.²² This solution exists on any orientable Riemann surface Σ . There are two Killing spinors of opposite R-charge and

²¹The contraction of spinor indices is $\psi \chi = \psi_{\alpha} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} \chi_{\beta}$, namely the symbol $\psi \chi$ stands for $\psi^{\mathsf{T}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \chi$ in standard matrix notation. Moreover in this subsection σ indicates the full complex scalar in the vector multiplet, indicated by $\sigma - i\eta$ before.

²²More generally, $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}$ could be an arbitrary function; this does not affect the supersymmetry algebra. We cannot turn on holonomies for V_{μ} because $\epsilon, \tilde{\epsilon}$ (and the supercharges) would no longer be periodic and there would not be solutions.

chirality. On a compact Riemann surface of genus g, the background has (g-1) units of R-symmetry flux: $\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Sigma} dV = g - 1$. In particular the R-charge of all gauge-invariant operators should be quantized:

$$q\left(g-1\right)\in\mathbb{Z}.$$
(3.37)

The deformed supersymmetry algebra, in the absence of central charges, is $simply^{23}$

$$\delta_{\epsilon}^2 = \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}^2 = 0 , \qquad \{\delta_{\epsilon}, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\} = 0 . \qquad (3.38)$$

Similarly, there is the \overline{A} -twist with 1 - g units of R-symmetry flux. For g > 1 these are the only two solutions.

For g = 0 (topologically S^2), if the metric has a rotational symmetry around an axis, there exists a one-parameter family of deformations called the Ω -background in [6]. Let K^{μ} be the Killing vector field, which for definiteness we can take as $K = \partial_{\varphi}$ in the coordinates (2.1). Then

$$V_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{2}\omega_{\mu}^{12} , \quad \epsilon = \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_{\Omega}K_{\hat{z}} \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \epsilon_{-} , \quad \widetilde{\epsilon} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -\epsilon_{\Omega}K_{\hat{z}} \end{pmatrix} \widetilde{\epsilon}_{+} , \quad \mathcal{H} = -\frac{i}{2}\epsilon_{\Omega}\varepsilon^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}K_{\nu} , \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{H}} = 0 ,$$
(3.39)

where ϵ_{Ω} is a complex parameter. We have used the flat complex index that follows from $e^{\hat{z}} = e^{\hat{1}} + ie^{\hat{2}}$. In practice we can identify $C_{\mu} = \frac{\epsilon_{\Omega}}{2} K_{\mu}$. The background preserves two complex supercharges of opposite R-charge, and the deformed supersymmetry algebra is

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\} = i\epsilon_{\Omega} \mathcal{L}_{K}^{s'} + i\epsilon_{-} \tilde{\epsilon}_{+} Z , \qquad (3.40)$$

where $\mathcal{L}_{K}^{s'}$ is a Lie derivative covariant with respect to gauge/flavor rotations, not with respect to R, Z and \tilde{Z} , but where the spin s is replaced by $s' = s + \frac{q}{2}$. This is the background that we considered in subsection 3.4.

On S^2 there is a second class of interesting solutions with no net R-symmetry flux: they give *untwisted* backgrounds. The simplest case is that of a round S^2 , then

$$V_{\mu} = 0$$
, $\mathcal{H} = \widetilde{\mathcal{H}} = \frac{i}{r}$, $\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon = \frac{i}{2r}\gamma_{\mu}\epsilon$, $\nabla_{\mu}\widetilde{\epsilon} = \frac{i}{2r}\gamma_{\mu}\widetilde{\epsilon}$. (3.41)

The spinors solve the Killing spinor equation: on the round S^2 there are four solutions—two for ϵ and two for $\tilde{\epsilon}$ —so the number of preserved supersymmetries is maximal. With no central charges the deformed supersymmetry algebra is

$$\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\} = i\mathcal{L}_K - \frac{\epsilon\tilde{\epsilon}}{2r}R, \qquad (3.42)$$

and the Killing vectors K^{μ} generate the $\mathfrak{so}(3)$ isometry algebra of S^2 . The full superalgebra is $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)$. Notice that the background is not the analytic continuation of a real background in Lorentzian signature, and this in general breaks reflection positivity. However, if the theory

²³With central charges one finds the $\mathfrak{su}(1|1)$ superalgebra $\{\delta_{\epsilon}, \delta_{\tilde{\epsilon}}\} = i\epsilon_{-}\tilde{\epsilon}_{+}(z-\sigma)$.

is superconformal, the auxiliary fields \mathcal{H} , $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}$ couple to redundant operators and reflection positivity is recovered.

As described in subsection 2.1, on more general topological spheres with only U(1) isometry one can still preserve two supercharges of opposite R-charge without twisting. Considering for definiteness the metric $ds^2 = f(\theta)^2 d\theta^2 + r^2 \sin^2 \theta \, d\varphi^2$, the background is

$$V = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{r}{f} \right) d\varphi , \quad \epsilon = e^{\frac{i}{2}\theta\gamma_1} e^{\frac{i}{2}\varphi} \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} , \quad \tilde{\epsilon} = e^{\frac{i}{2}\theta\gamma_1} e^{-\frac{i}{2}\varphi} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \tilde{\epsilon}_0 \end{pmatrix} , \quad \mathcal{H} = \widetilde{\mathcal{H}} = \frac{i}{f} \quad (3.43)$$

with constant ϵ_0 , $\tilde{\epsilon}_0$.

One last example we want to mention is that of $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ theories with both vector and axial R-symmetries, placed on a flat T^2 . In this case one can turn on a flat connection for, say, the left-moving R-symmetry $U(1)_{\text{left}}$. As a result the left-moving supercharges are lifted, however there remain the two right-moving supercharges with opposite charge under $U(1)_{\text{right}}$. This case is discussed in section 4.

Supersymmetric actions on the curved backgrounds are constructed in a way similar to flat space: the supersymmetry variations of gauge-invariant D-terms and F-terms are total derivatives, therefore their spacetime integrals are supersymmetric invariants. The top Dterm component of a neutral general supermultiplet with q = 0 can be used to construct the super-Yang-Mills and matter kinetic actions, $\mathcal{L}_D = D$. For instance from the D-term of $-\frac{1}{2}\tilde{\Phi}e^{-2\nu}\Phi$ one obtains the kinetic action of a chiral multiplet Φ :

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Phi} = D_{\mu}\widetilde{\phi}D^{\mu}\phi + \widetilde{\phi}D\phi + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{q}{2}R_{s} + \mathcal{H}\widetilde{z} + \widetilde{\mathcal{H}}z\right)\widetilde{\phi}\phi + \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\phi}\{\mathbf{Q},\widetilde{\mathbf{Q}}\}\phi - \widetilde{F}F + i\widetilde{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}D_{\mu}\psi + i\widetilde{\psi}\widetilde{\mathbf{Q}}\psi + i\sqrt{2}\,\widetilde{\psi}\widetilde{\lambda}\phi + i\sqrt{2}\,\widetilde{\phi}\lambda\psi$$
(3.44)

where R_s is the scalar curvature. For NLSMs one uses the D-term of the Kähler potential $K(\tilde{\Phi}, \Phi)$. From the D-term of a gauge-invariant multiplet whose lowest component is $\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \tilde{\sigma} \sigma$ one obtains the SYM action

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{V}} = \frac{1}{2} \left(F_{12} - \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathcal{H}} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{H} \widetilde{\sigma} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{2} D_\mu \widetilde{\sigma} D^\mu \sigma + \frac{1}{8} [\sigma, \widetilde{\sigma}]^2 + i \widetilde{\lambda} \gamma^\mu D_\mu \lambda - i \widetilde{\lambda} \begin{pmatrix} [\widetilde{\sigma}, \cdot] & 0 \\ 0 & [\sigma, \cdot] \end{pmatrix} \lambda - \frac{1}{2} \left(D + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathcal{H}} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{H} \widetilde{\sigma} \right)^2$$
(3.45)

with trace implicit. The top F-term component of a neutral chiral multiplet with q = 2, $z = \tilde{z} = 0$ gives superpotential interactions,

$$\mathcal{L}_W = F_W + \tilde{F}_W , \qquad (3.46)$$

where F_W is the F-term component of the superpotential $W(\Phi)$:²⁴

$$F_W = \frac{\partial W}{\partial \phi_i} F_i - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 W}{\partial \phi_i \partial \phi_j} \psi_j \psi_i , \qquad \qquad \tilde{F}_W = \frac{\partial \tilde{W}}{\partial \tilde{\phi}_i} \tilde{F}_i + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 \tilde{W}}{\partial \tilde{\phi}_i \partial \tilde{\phi}_j} \tilde{\psi}_j \tilde{\psi}_i . \qquad (3.47)$$

²⁴Integrating out F_i , \tilde{F}_i one obtains the real positive potential $\sum_i \left|\frac{\partial W}{\partial \phi_i}\right|^2$. Alternatively, to keep the fields F_i , \tilde{F}_i one should redefine them with an *i*, then the kinetic action is positive-definite and the superpotential action is imaginary.

The top component of a twisted chiral multiplet with $q = z = \tilde{z} = 0$ (called twisted Fterm or G-term) can be corrected to give supersymmetric actions, since $\delta(G - i\tilde{\mathcal{H}}\omega)$ is a total derivative (here ω is the lowest component of a twisted chiral multiplet). The twisted superpotential action is then

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{W}} = G_{\mathcal{W}} - i\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}\mathcal{W}(\omega) + \widetilde{G}_{\mathcal{W}} + i\mathcal{H}\widetilde{\mathcal{W}}(\widetilde{\omega}) , \qquad (3.48)$$

where

$$G_{\mathcal{W}} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{W}}{\partial \omega_i} G_i - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{W}}{\partial \omega_i \partial \omega_j} \eta_j \eta_i$$
(3.49)

is the G-term of the twisted superpotential \mathcal{W} .

4 Elliptic genera of $\mathcal{N}{=}(2,2)$ and $\mathcal{N}{=}(0,2)$ theories

We discuss now the Euclidean path-integral of two-dimensional $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ supersymmetric theories on a torus T^2 . This quantity, called the *elliptic genus*, was first introduced in the physics literature in [72, 73, 74] in the context of free orbifolds and in [75, 76] in the context of non-linear sigma models. As usual, the path-integral on a circle computes the trace over a Hilbert space of states, and we start from such a Hamiltonian definition:

$$Z_{T^{2}}(\tau, z, u) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathrm{RR}}(-1)^{F} q^{H_{L}} \bar{q}^{H_{R}} y^{J} \prod_{a} x_{a}^{K_{a}} .$$
(4.1)

The trace is over the Ramond sector of the Hilbert space of the theory on a spatial circle, i.e. one takes periodic boundary conditions for fermions. Then F is the fermion number, we define the parameters

$$q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$$
, $y = e^{2\pi i z}$, $x_a = e^{2\pi i u_a}$, (4.2)

and q specifies the complex structure of a torus $w \cong w + 1 \cong w + \tau$, with $\tau = \tau_1 + i\tau_2$. H_L and H_R are the left- and right-moving Hamiltonians respectively, defined in Euclidean signature in terms of Hamiltonian and momentum as $2H_L = H + iP$, $2H_R = H - iP$. We assume that the theory has a left-moving U(1) R-symmetry J (which might be discrete if the theory is not conformal) and a flavor group K (with Cartan generators K_a). Their fugacities are y and x_a . Given a charge vector ρ^a , we use the notation $x^{\rho} = \prod_a x_a^{\rho^a} = e^{2\pi i \rho^a u_a}$. We also write $\rho(u) = \rho^a u_a$, considering $\rho \in \mathfrak{k}^*$ and $u \in \mathfrak{k}$, where \mathfrak{k} is the Cartan algebra of the flavor symmetry group K. The elliptic genus with $u_a \neq 0$ is sometimes called the equivariant elliptic genus, while setting $z = u_a = 0$ the elliptic genus reduces to the Witten index. The $q \to 0$ limit of the elliptic genus is called the χ_y genus.

Physically, the elliptic genus is interesting because it detects spontaneous supersymmetry breaking: if supersymmetry is broken, then the Witten index is zero (although the opposite is not necessarily true) [77]. Moreover, if the theory is superconformal the operators H_L , H_R , Jequal the zero-mode generators L_0 , \bar{L}_0 , J_0 of the superconformal algebra²⁵ and the elliptic

²⁵When not uniquely fixed, *e.g.* by the superpotential, the superconformal R-symmetries can be determined through the *c*-extremization principle of [78, 79].
genus is equal to the *superconformal index*, which counts superconformal primary operators in flat space.

Mathematically, the elliptic genus of a NLSM with complex target manifold X is a topological invariant—related to the elliptic cohomology of X [75]—equal to the Euler characteristic of a specific infinite-dimensional formal vector space $E_{q,y}$. The Witten index equals the Euler number of X. See *e.g.* [80].

If the theory has a discrete spectrum (at least in the equivariant sense), then the elliptic genus is a holomorphic function of q because the contributions from states with $H_R \neq 0$ cancels between pairs of states with opposite values of $(-1)^F$. The genus has very interesting modular transformation properties as well. Since the spectrum of the Ramond sector is invariant under charge conjugation:

$$Z_{T^2}(\tau, z, u) = Z_{T^2}(\tau, -z, -u) .$$
(4.3)

When the R-symmetry is non-anomalous and the theory flows to an IR fixed point, the modular transformations of the elliptic genus are:

$$Z_{T^2}\left(\frac{a\tau+b}{c\tau+d}, \frac{z}{c\tau+d}, \frac{u}{c\tau+d}\right) = \exp\left[\frac{\pi i c}{c\tau+d}\left(\frac{c_L}{3}z^2 - 2\mathcal{A}_L^a u_a z\right)\right] Z_{T^2}(\tau, z, u)$$
(4.4)

for $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Here c_L is the left-moving IR central charge, proportional to the 't Hooft anomaly of J, while \mathcal{A}_L^a is the 't Hooft anomaly between J and K_a :

$$c_L = -3 \sum_{\text{fermions}} \gamma_3 J^2 , \qquad \qquad \mathcal{A}_L^a = \sum_{\text{fermions}} \gamma_3 J K_a . \qquad (4.5)$$

The sums are taken over all fermions in the theory, and γ_3 is the chirality matrix that we take positive (negative) on right (left) movers. For a NLSM on a Calabi-Yau manifold X of complex dimension $d = c_L/3$, the elliptic genus is a Jacobi form of weight zero and index d/2.

Later on, the elliptic genus of Gepner models was computed using the known characters of $\mathcal{N}=2$ superconfomal algebras [81, 82]. Then it was realized that the elliptic genus of Landau-Ginzburg models can be computed by localization [83], which led to a formula for the elliptic genus of Gepner models using the orbifold Landau-Ginzburg description [84, 85, 86, 87]. In this review we will be mostly concerned with the more recent computation of the elliptic genus of gauge theories [88, 89, 67] with localization techniques. The resulting formula agrees with that of Landau-Ginzburg models in case the gauge group is trivial, and with known mathematical results of the elliptic genus of complete intersections in toric varieties [90, 91] when the theory has a smooth geometric phase.

It turns out that one can equally well consider the elliptic genus of theories with only $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ supersymmetry. Mathematically, they describe more general bundles than the tangent bundle on X. Their equivariant elliptic genus is defined as

$$Z_{T^2}(\tau, u) = \text{Tr}_{R} (-1)^F q^{H_L} \bar{q}^{H_R} \prod_a x_a^{K_a} .$$
(4.6)

If the theory has a low-energy description as a NLSM with target a holomorphic vector bundle over a compact complex manifold, as in the models in [92], the elliptic genus encodes the Euler characteristic of that vector bundle [93].²⁶

If the theory has discrete spectrum, the elliptic genus is a holomorphic function of τ with the following modular transformation properties:

$$Z_{T^2}\left(\frac{a\tau+b}{c\tau+d}, \frac{u}{c\tau+d}\right) = \epsilon(a, b, c, d)^{c_R-c_L} \exp\left[-\frac{\pi i c}{c\tau+d} \mathcal{A}^{ab} u_a u_b\right] Z_{T^2}(\tau, u)$$
(4.7)

for $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. The multiplier system $\epsilon(a, b, c, d)$ is a phase, independent of u_a , universally defined by

$$\frac{\eta\left(\frac{a\tau+b}{c\tau+d}\right)}{\theta_1\left(\frac{a\tau+b}{c\tau+d} \mid \frac{u}{c\tau+d}\right)} = \epsilon(a, b, c, d) \ e^{-\frac{i\pi c}{c\tau+d}x^2} \ \frac{\eta(\tau)}{\theta_1(\tau|u)} \ . \tag{4.8}$$

It is through ϵ that the gravitational anomaly shows up. In the theories under consideration, $c_R - c_L$ equals three times the number of right-moving minus left-moving fermions, while \mathcal{A}^{ab} are the flavor 't Hooft anomalies:

$$c_R - c_L = 3 \sum_{\text{fermions}} \gamma_3 , \qquad \qquad \mathcal{A}^{ab} = \sum_{\text{fermions}} \gamma_3 K_a K_b .$$
 (4.9)

One could also consider alternative elliptic genera where the trace is taken in the Neveu-Schwartz sector (on one or both sides), as in [88]. The resulting functions are all equivalent, because easily related by spectral flow.

The Jeffrey-Kirwan residue. The main focus in this review is the computation of the elliptic genera of gauge theories, through localization techniques. Such a computation has been done in [88, 89, 67] for the simplest theories, building on [83, 94], and then generalized in many ways, for instance in [95, 96, 97, 98]. In particular, the expression found in [89, 67] involves a particular type of higher-dimensional residue operation called the *Jeffrey-Kirwan* (JK) residue defined in [66] and motivated by [99]. Schematically:

$$Z_{T^2} = \sum_{u_*} \operatorname{JK-Res}_{u=u_*} Z_{1\text{-loop}}(u)$$

where $Z_{1-\text{loop}}$ is a meromorphic top-form on an *r*-dimensional complex manifold (*r* is the rank of the gauge group), and the sum is over all singular points. The JK residue depends on a choice of vector η , however the total sum does not (and the parameter η is just auxiliary). The details are presented below.

Such a residue operation arises from a careful treatment of the bosonic and fermionic zero-modes in the problem. It has then been realized that very similar systems of zeromodes arise in many other localization contexts, for instance for the Witten index in one

²⁶Setting $u_a = 0$, the equivariant elliptic genus reduces to the partition function of the chiral CFT associated to the half-twisted model.

dimension [100, 101], for the Nekrasov partition function [102] in four [103] and five [104] dimensions, for the topological twist in two dimensions [9, 10, 26] and its higher-dimensional generalizations [9]. In all these cases, the result of localization for gauge theories takes the form of a JK residue, possibly with extra boundary contributions.

4.1 Multiplets, Lagrangians and supersymmetry

In the path-integral formulation, the elliptic genus equals the Euclidean path-integral of the theory on a flat T^2 , in the presence of flat connections $A^{\rm R}$ and $A^{\rm flav}$ for the R- and flavor symmetries, respectively, coupled to the R- and flavor symmetry currents:

$$z = \oint_t A^{\mathcal{R}} - \tau \oint_s A^{\mathcal{R}} , \qquad u_a = \oint_t A^{a-\text{th flav}} - \tau \oint_s A^{a-\text{th flav}} , \qquad (4.10)$$

where t, s are the temporal and spatial cycles.²⁷ This is equivalent to specifying non-trivial boundary conditions twisted by the R- and flavor charges, along both the spatial and temporal cycles. Since the background is flat, the actions are just the standard ones. In the $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ case we have already discussed multiplets, supersymmetry transformations and actions for gauge theories in section 2 and section 3. So, let us move the $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ case.

We are interested in $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ gauge theories. The reader can consult [3, 92, 105] for more details. Using the complex coordinate w, the supersymmetry parameters satisfy $\gamma^{w} \epsilon =$ $\gamma^{w}\bar{\epsilon}=0$. It is convenient to write spinors in components, in particular the SUSY parameters are $\epsilon^+, \bar{\epsilon}^+$. We consider theories formulated in terms of chiral, Fermi and vector multiplets.

First we have a chiral multiplet $\Phi = (\phi, \bar{\phi}, \psi^-, \bar{\psi}^-)$ with variations

$$\delta\phi = -i\bar{\epsilon}^{+}\psi^{-} \qquad \qquad \delta\psi^{-} = 2i\,\epsilon^{+}D_{\bar{w}}\phi \\ \delta\bar{\phi} = -i\epsilon^{+}\bar{\psi}^{-} \qquad \qquad \delta\bar{\psi}^{-} = 2i\,\bar{\epsilon}^{+}D_{\bar{w}}\bar{\phi} .$$

$$(4.11)$$

Second we have a Fermi multiplet $\Lambda = (\psi^+, \bar{\psi}^+, G, \bar{G})$ with variations

$$\delta\psi^{+} = \bar{\epsilon}^{+}G + i\epsilon^{+}E \qquad \qquad \delta G = 2\epsilon^{+}D_{\bar{w}}\psi^{+} - \epsilon^{+}\psi_{E}^{-}$$

$$\delta\bar{\psi}^{+} = \epsilon^{+}\bar{G} + i\bar{\epsilon}^{+}\bar{E} \qquad \qquad \delta\bar{G} = 2\bar{\epsilon}^{+}D_{\bar{w}}\bar{\psi}^{+} - \bar{\epsilon}^{+}\bar{\psi}_{E}^{-}.$$

$$(4.12)$$

Here $\mathcal{E}(\Phi_i) = (E, \bar{E}, \psi_E^-, \bar{\psi}_E^-)$ is a chiral multiplet, holomorphic function of the fundamental chiral multiplets in the theory, and it is part of the definition of Λ . Notice that $E = E(\phi_i)$ and its fermionic partner is $\psi_E^- = \sum_i \psi_i^- \partial E / \partial \phi_i$. Third we have a vector multiplet $V = (A_\mu, \lambda^+, \overline{\lambda}^+, D)$ with variations

$$\delta A_w = \frac{1}{2} \left(\epsilon^+ \bar{\lambda}^+ - \bar{\epsilon}^+ \lambda^+ \right) \qquad \delta \bar{\lambda}^+ = \bar{\epsilon}^+ (-D - iF_{12}) \qquad \delta (-D - iF_{12}) = 2 \epsilon^+ D_{\bar{w}} \bar{\lambda}^+ \\ \delta A_{\bar{w}} = 0 \qquad \delta \lambda^+ = \epsilon^+ (-D + iF_{12}) \qquad \delta (-D + iF_{12}) = 2 \bar{\epsilon}^+ D_{\bar{w}} \lambda^+ .$$

$$(4.13)$$

Comparing with (4.12), notice that the fields in the second and third column form a Fermi multiplet $\Upsilon = (\bar{\lambda}^+, \lambda^+, -D - iF_{12}, -D + iF_{12})$ with $\mathcal{E} = 0$.

²⁷Choosing a constant connection $A_{\mu}^{\rm R}$, we have $z = (-2i\tau_2) A_{\bar{w}}^{\rm R}$ and similarly for the flavor holonomies.

The supersymmetric action for chiral multiplets comes from the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Phi} = D_{\mu}\bar{\phi}D^{\mu}\phi + i\bar{\phi}D\phi + 2\,\bar{\psi}^{-}D_{w}\psi^{-} - \bar{\psi}^{-}\lambda^{+}\phi + \bar{\phi}\bar{\lambda}^{+}\psi^{-}, \qquad (4.14)$$

for Fermi multiplets we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Lambda} = -2\,\bar{\psi}^{+}D_{\bar{w}}\psi^{+} + \bar{E}E + \bar{G}G + \bar{\psi}^{+}\psi^{-}_{E} - \bar{\psi}^{-}_{E}\psi^{+} \,, \qquad (4.15)$$

and for vector multiplets we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon} = \operatorname{Tr} \left[F_{12}^2 + D^2 - 2\,\bar{\lambda}^+ D_{\bar{w}}\lambda^+ \right] \,. \tag{4.16}$$

The last one equals the Lagrangian for the Fermi multiplet Υ . Interactions are specified by holomorphic functions $J^a(\phi)$ of the chiral multiplets (and anti-holomorphic functions $\bar{J}^a(\bar{\phi})$ of their partners), where *a* parametrizes the Fermi multiplets in the theory:

$$\mathcal{L}_J = \sum_a \left(i G_a J^a - \psi_a^+ \psi_J^{-a} \right), \qquad \qquad \mathcal{L}_{\bar{J}} = \sum_a \left(i \bar{G}_a \bar{J}^a - \bar{\psi}_a^+ \bar{\psi}_J^{-a} \right). \tag{4.17}$$

Their supersymmetry variation is a total derivative as long as

$$\sum_{a} E_{a}(\phi) J^{a}(\phi) = 0 .$$
 (4.18)

It turns out that all these actions are Q-exact. This reflects the fact that the elliptic genus is a "topological invariant", unaffected by continuous deformations of the parameters in the theory. Defining the anticommuting supercharge Q by using commuting spinor parameters and choosing them $\epsilon^+ = \bar{\epsilon}^+ = 1$, the action of Q is then immediately read off from the supersymmetry variations and one finds, up to total derivatives:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Phi} = \mathcal{Q}\left(2i\bar{\phi}D_{w}\psi^{-} - i\bar{\phi}\lambda^{+}\phi\right), \qquad \qquad \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda} = \mathcal{Q}\left(\bar{\psi}^{+}G - i\bar{E}\psi^{+}\right) \mathcal{L}_{J} = \mathcal{Q}\left(\sum_{a}i\psi_{a}^{+}J^{a}\right), \qquad \qquad \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon} = -\mathcal{Q}\operatorname{Tr}\left(\lambda^{+}(D + iF_{12})\right).$$

$$(4.19)$$

The $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ theories can be regarded as special cases of $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$, in which the leftmoving R-symmetry appears as a flavor symmetry. To reduce from (2,2) to (0,2) supersymmetry, we define projectors $P_{\pm} = (1 \pm \gamma_3)/2$. Then the chiral multiplet $\Phi_{(2,2)}$ splits into a chiral multiplet $\Phi = (\phi, \bar{\phi}, P_{-}\psi, P_{-}\bar{\psi})$ and a Fermi multiplet $\Lambda = (P_{+}\psi, P_{+}\bar{\psi}, F, \bar{F})$. The vector multiplet $V_{(2,2)}$ splits into a vector multiplet V and an adjoint chiral multiplet $\Sigma = (\sigma, \bar{\sigma}, P_{-}\lambda, P_{-}\bar{\lambda})$. If $\Phi_{(2,2)}$ is charged under $V_{(2,2)}$, then its Fermi component Λ has $\mathcal{E} = \Sigma \Phi$ (where Σ acts in the correct representation). Superpotential interactions $W(\Phi_{(2,2)})$ become interactions $J^{a}(\phi) = \partial W/\partial \phi_{a}$. A twisted chiral multiplet $Y_{(2,2)}$ (which must be neutral) splits into a chiral and a Fermi multiplet. In particular the twisted chiral multiplet $\Sigma_{(2,2)}$ constructed out of $V_{(2,2)}$ splits into Υ and Σ . A twisted superpotential $\widetilde{W}(\Sigma_{(2,2)})$ becomes an interaction $J^{\Upsilon}(\sigma) = \partial \widetilde{W}/\partial \sigma$, and a complexified Fayet-Iliopoulos term is simply a constant $J^{\Upsilon} = \frac{\theta}{2\pi} + i\zeta$.

4.2 The localization formula and the JK residue

We will first present the formula for the elliptic genus obtained from localization in [89, 67], and then outline its derivation in the next subsection.

The localization computation proceeds along the same steps as in section 2. First, the moduli space of BPS configurations is parametrized by flat *G*-connection on T^2 modulo gauge transformations, where *G* is the gauge group. For simplicity, we will assume that the non-Abelian part of *G* is connected and simply-connected.²⁸ Let \mathfrak{h} be the Cartan algebra of *G*, then the Cartan torus of *G* can be identified with $\mathfrak{h}/\Gamma_{\mathfrak{h}}$ where $\Gamma_{\mathfrak{h}}$ is the coroot lattice. We define

$$\mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{C}}/(\Gamma_{\mathfrak{h}} + \tau\Gamma_{\mathfrak{h}}) , \qquad (4.20)$$

then the moduli space is $\mathfrak{M}/\operatorname{Weyl}(G)$. We parametrize the complexified Cartan algebra $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{C}}$ by u_a , then \mathfrak{M} is the product of r copies of T^2 where $r = \operatorname{rank} G$. Similarly, we introduce variables ξ_b on the complexified Cartan algebra of the flavor group K and fugacities $\zeta_b = e^{2\pi i \xi_b}$.

Second, the one-loop determinants produce a meromorphic (r, 0)-form $Z_{1-\text{loop}}(\tau, z, u, \xi)$. In the $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ case, for a gauge theory with chiral multiplets transforming in the (possibly reducible) representation \mathfrak{R} , such a form is

$$Z_{1-\text{loop}} = \left(\frac{2\pi\eta(q)^3}{\theta_1(q,y^{-1})}\right)^r \prod_{\alpha \in G} \frac{\theta_1(q,x^\alpha)}{\theta_1(q,y^{-1}x^\alpha)} \prod_{\rho \in \mathfrak{R}} \frac{\theta_1(q,y^{R_\rho/2-1}\zeta^{K_\rho}x^\rho)}{\theta_1(q,y^{R_\rho/2}\zeta^{K_\rho}x^\rho)} \, du_1 \cdots du_r \,. \tag{4.21}$$

The first product is over the roots α of G, while the second one is over the weights ρ of \mathfrak{R} . The elliptic Dedekind and Jacobi functions are defined as

$$\eta(q) = q^{\frac{1}{24}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^n) , \qquad \theta_1(q,y) = -iq^{\frac{1}{8}}y^{\frac{1}{2}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^n)(1-yq^n)(1-y^{-1}q^{n-1}) . \quad (4.22)$$

Finally, $R_{\rho}/2$ is the left-moving R-charge (if the axial R-charge is zero, then R_{ρ} is the vector R-charge) and K_{ρ} is the flavor weight of the chiral multiplet associated to the weight ρ . These charges are constrained by superpotential interactions, and this is the only place where the superpotential appears. If extra (neutral) twisted chiral multiplets Σ_c with axial R-charge $R_c^{(A)}$ are present, one should also include the factor

$$\prod_{c} \frac{\theta_1 \left(q, y^{-R_c^{(A)}/2 + 1} \right)}{\theta_1 \left(q, y^{-R_c^{(A)}/2} \right)}$$

In the $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ case, for a theory with chiral multiplets in representation \mathfrak{R}_{chiral} and Fermi multiplets in representation \mathfrak{R}_{Fermi} , the meromorphic form is

$$Z_{1-\text{loop}} = \left(\frac{2\pi\eta(q)^2}{i}\right)^r \prod_{\alpha \in G} i \frac{\theta_1(q, x^\alpha)}{\eta(q)} \prod_{\rho \in \mathfrak{R}_{\text{chiral}}} \frac{i\eta(q)}{\theta_1(q, \zeta^{K_\rho} x^\rho)} \prod_{\rho \in \mathfrak{R}_{\text{Fermi}}} i \frac{\theta_1(q, \zeta^{K_\rho} x^\rho)}{\eta(q)} \, du_1 \cdots du_r \,.$$

$$\tag{4.23}$$

²⁸Non-simply-connected and disconnected groups can be treated as well, see *e.g.* [89].

Note that the only difference between u and ξ is that u will be integrated over. We will sometimes keep ξ implicit in the following formulæ.

The meromorphic form $Z_{1-\text{loop}}$ has poles in u, along hyperplanes corresponding to all chiral and off-diagonal vector multiplets for $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$, and to chiral multiplets for $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$. Each of those multiplets introduces a singular hyperplane $H_i \subset \mathfrak{M}$. We will use the index i for them, and call $Q_i \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ the weight of the multiplet under the gauge group. For the different types of multiplets we have:

$$\begin{aligned} &\text{vector}_{(2,2)}: \ H_i = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} -z + Q_i(u) = 0 \pmod{\mathbb{Z} + \tau \mathbb{Z}} \right\}, & Q_i = \alpha \\ &\text{chiral}_{(2,2)}: \ H_i = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} \frac{R_i}{2} z + Q_i(u) + K_i(\xi) = 0 \pmod{\mathbb{Z} + \tau \mathbb{Z}} \right\}, & Q_i = \rho \end{array} \right. \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} &\text{chiral}_{(0,2)}: \ H_i = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} Q_i(u) + K_i(\xi) = 0 \pmod{\mathbb{Z} + \tau \mathbb{Z}} \right\}, & Q_i = \rho \end{array} \right. \end{aligned}$$

$$\end{aligned}$$

Note that a single H_i can contain multiple parallel disconnected hyperplanes. We denote by $\mathbf{Q} = \{Q_i\}$ the set of all charge covectors. Then we define

$$\mathfrak{M}_{\rm sing} = \bigcup_i H_i \tag{4.25}$$

in \mathfrak{M} , and we denote by $\mathfrak{M}^*_{\text{sing}} \subset \mathfrak{M}_{\text{sing}}$ the set of isolated points in \mathfrak{M} where at least r linearly-independent hyperplanes meet:

$$\mathfrak{M}_{\text{sing}}^* = \left\{ u_* \in \mathfrak{M} \, \middle| \, \text{at least } r \text{ linearly independent } H_i \text{'s meet at } u_* \right\}. \tag{4.26}$$

Given $u_* \in \mathfrak{M}^*_{sing}$, we denote by $\mathsf{Q}(u_*)$ the set of charges of the hyperplanes meeting at u_* :

$$Q(u_*) = \{Q_i \mid u_* \in H_i\}.$$
(4.27)

Next, one has to choose a generic²⁹ non-zero $\eta \in \mathfrak{h}^*$. Then, the elliptic genus is given by the formula:³⁰

$$Z_{T^2}(\tau, z, \xi) = \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Weyl}(G)|} \sum_{u_* \in \mathfrak{M}^*_{\operatorname{sing}}} \operatorname{JK-Res}_{u=u_*} \left(\mathsf{Q}(u_*), \eta \right) \ Z_{1\operatorname{-loop}}(\tau, z, u, \xi) .$$

$$(4.28)$$

Here JK-Res is the Jeffrey-Kirwan residue operation, which is explained in detail below. It is locally constant as a function of η , but it can jump as η crosses from one chamber to another. Nonetheless the sum on the right hand side is independent of η .

²⁹Denote by $\operatorname{Cone_{sing}}(\mathsf{Q}) \subset \mathfrak{h}^*$ the union of the cones generated by all subsets of Q with r-1 elements. Then each connected component of $\mathfrak{h}^* \setminus \operatorname{Cone_{sing}}(\mathsf{Q})$ is called a *chamber*. By a "generic" covector we mean an $\eta \notin \operatorname{Cone_{sing}}(\mathsf{Q})$: such η identifies a chamber in \mathfrak{h}^* .

³⁰For a technical reason, one has to assume the following condition on the gauge theory charges: For any $u_* \in \mathfrak{M}^*_{sing}$, the set $Q(u_*)$ is contained in a half-space of \mathfrak{h}^* . A hyperplane arrangement with this property at u_* is called projective [106]. Notice that if the number of hyperplanes at u_* is exactly r, the arrangement is automatically projective. When the condition is not met, one needs to relax the constraints on R- and flavor charges coming from the superpotential, resolve u_* into multiple singularities which are separately projective, and eventually take a limit where the charges are the desired ones. If at every u_* the number of hyperplanes meeting at u_* is exactly r, we call the situation non-degenerate.

4.2.1 The Jeffrey-Kirwan residue

The Jeffrey-Kirwan residue operation has been introduced in [66]; there are several equivalent formulations available in the literature, and we follow [106]. We define the residue at $u_* = 0$; for generic u_* one just shifts the coordinates. Consider *n* hyperplanes meeting at $u = 0 \in \mathbb{C}^r$:

$$H_i = \left\{ u \in \mathbb{C}^r \, \middle| \, Q_i(u) = 0 \right\} \tag{4.29}$$

for i = 1, ..., n and with $Q_i \in (\mathbb{R}^r)^*$. Here we indicate the set of charges $Q(u_*) = \{Q_i\}$ simply by Q_* : the charges define the hyperplanes H_i and give them an orientation. The set Q_* defines a hyperplane arrangement (for further details on hyperplane arrangements see *e.g.* [107]). The coefficients defining the hyperplanes are all real, *i.e.* we are dealing with a complexified central arrangement. A residue operation is a linear functional on the space of meromorphic *r*-forms that are holomorphic on the complement of the arrangement, such that it annihilates exterior derivatives of rational (r-1)-forms.

Take a meromorphic r-form ω defined in a neighborhood U of u = 0, and holomorphic on the complement of $\bigcup_i H_i$. When n = r, we can define the residue of ω at u = 0 by its integral over $\prod_{i=1}^r C_i$, where each C_i is a small circle around H_i (and the overall sign depends on the order of the H_i 's). This stems from the fact that the homology group $H_r(U \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^r H_i, \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}$, and therefore there is a natural generator defined up to a sign. When n > r however, $H_r(U \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^n H_i, \mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{Z}^{c_{n,r}}$ with $c_{n,r} > 1$, and it is imperative to specify the precise cycle to choose.

For a projective arrangement and given an $\eta \in (\mathbb{R}^r)^*$, the Jeffrey-Kirwan residue is the linear functional defined by the conditions:

$$\operatorname{JK-Res}_{u=0}(\mathsf{Q}_*,\eta) \frac{dQ_{j_1}(u)}{Q_{j_1}(u)} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{dQ_{j_r}(u)}{Q_{j_r}(u)} = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sign} \det(Q_{j_1}\dots Q_{j_r}) & \text{if } \eta \in \operatorname{Cone}(Q_{j_1}\dots Q_{j_r}) \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.30)

where Cone denotes the cone spanned by the vectors in the argument. We can rewrite it as

$$JK-Res(\mathbf{Q}_*,\eta) \frac{du_1 \wedge \dots \wedge du_r}{Q_{j_1}(u) \cdots Q_{j_r}(u)} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{|\det(Q_{j_1} \dots Q_{j_r})|} & \text{if } \eta \in \operatorname{Cone}(Q_{j_1} \dots Q_{j_r}) \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.31)

after choosing coordinates u_a on \mathfrak{h} . The definition (4.30)-(4.31) is in general vastly overdetermined since there are many relations between the forms $\bigwedge_{\alpha=1}^{r} dQ_{j_{\alpha}}/Q_{j_{\alpha}}$, but it has been proven in [108] that (4.30) is consistent, and it is given by an integral over an explicit cycle. A constructive definition of the JK residue, as a sum of iterated standard residues, has been given in [106] and reviewed in [67].

In the simplest case of r = 1, applying (4.31) one finds

$$JK-Res_{u=0} \left(\{q\},\eta\right) \frac{du}{u} = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sign}(q) & \text{if } \eta q > 0 ,\\ 0 & \text{if } \eta q < 0 . \end{cases}$$
(4.32)

Substituting into (4.28), one finds that the elliptic genus in the rank-1 case is given by

$$Z_{T^2} = \frac{1}{|\text{Weyl}(G)|} \sum_{u_+ \in \mathfrak{M}_{\text{sing}}^+} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{u=u_+} Z_{1\text{-loop}} = -\frac{1}{|\text{Weyl}(G)|} \sum_{u_- \in \mathfrak{M}_{\text{sing}}^-} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{u=u_-} Z_{1\text{-loop}} \quad (4.33)$$

by choosing $\eta = 1$ and $\eta = -1$ respectively, where $\mathfrak{M}_{\text{sing}}^{+(-)}$ is the subset of singularities with positive (negative) associated charge. In other words, one should sum (with sign) the residues coming from fields of either positive or negative charge. As the sum of all residues vanishes, the result is independent of the choice of η .

4.3 The derivation

Let us briefly sketch how the formula (4.28) is derived. The formula and its derivation was first obtained in [89, 67] and then extended in [100, 9, 10, 26].

The standard localization procedure reduces the path-integral to an integral over the BPS supermanifold of zero-modes, schematically

$$Z_{T^2} = \int_{\mathcal{M}_{BPS}} \mathcal{D}\varphi_0 \ e^{-S[\varphi_0]} \ Z_{1\text{-loop}}[\varphi_0] \ . \tag{4.34}$$

In the present case, it turns out that \mathcal{M}_{BPS} contains fermionic zero-modes as well as singular loci with extra bosonic zero-modes. With a suitable regulator, the two problems solve each other and one is left with a contour integral within the bosonic component of \mathcal{M}_{BPS} .

Solving the bosonic BPS equations—read off from (4.11), (4.12) and (4.13)—chiral and Fermi multiplets are set to zero and one finds the moduli space of flat connections on T^2 modulo gauge transformations. In the simplest case of a gauge group G with connected and simply-connected non-Abelian part (and arbitrary Abelian part):

$$\mathcal{M}_{\rm BPS}\Big|_{\rm bos} = \mathfrak{M}/{\rm Weyl}(G) , \qquad \mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{C}}/(\Gamma_{\mathfrak{h}} + \tau\Gamma_{\mathfrak{h}}) . \qquad (4.35)$$

Here \mathfrak{M} is r copies of T^2 and we parametrize it by the variables u.

Around each of the BPS configurations, besides the bosonic zero-modes that parametrize $\mathcal{M}_{\text{BPS}}\Big|_{\text{bos}}$ there are also fermionic zero-modes and together they form complete supermultiplets. Each bosonic zero-mode is paired with a fermionic zero-mode coming from the Cartan gaugini (in $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ notation). The right-moving Cartan gaugini λ are not lifted because they are charged only under the R-symmetry, and we cannot turn on a flat connection for the R-symmetry without breaking supersymmetry. In a gauge where A_{μ} is constant, we can identify (up to unimportant coefficients) $u = A_{\bar{w}}$, then the fermionic zero-modes are constant λ^+ , $\bar{\lambda}^+$. We can close the supersymmetry algebra "off-shell" if we introduce an auxiliary bosonic zero-mode D_0 , which is the constant profile of D. The supersymmetry algebra follows from (4.13):

$$Qu = 0, \qquad Q\bar{u} = \frac{1}{2}\bar{\lambda}^{+}, \qquad Q\bar{\lambda}^{+} = 0, \qquad Q\lambda^{+} = -D_{0}, \qquad QD_{0} = 0$$

$$\tilde{Q}u = 0, \qquad \tilde{Q}\bar{u} = -\frac{1}{2}\lambda^{+}, \qquad \tilde{Q}\lambda^{+} = 0, \qquad \tilde{Q}\bar{\lambda}^{+} = -D_{0}, \qquad \tilde{Q}D_{0} = 0.$$
(4.36)

We used that the flux is zero and all modes are constant on T^2 .

The one-loop determinants, keeping the dependence on D_0 which serves as a regulator of the final expression, are easy to compute using the Hamiltonian definition. For instance, for an $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ chiral multiplet of charge weight ρ one finds

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(2,2) \text{ chiral}}(u,\bar{u},D_0) = \prod_{m,n} \frac{\left(m+n\tau + (1-\frac{R}{2})z - \rho(u)\right)\left(m+n\bar{\tau} + \frac{R}{2}\bar{z} + \rho(\bar{u})\right)}{\left|m+n\tau + \frac{R}{2}z + \rho(u)\right|^2 + i\rho(D_0)} .$$
 (4.37)

The determinants reduce to $Z_{1-\text{loop}}$ in (4.21) and (4.23) for $D_0 = 0$. Then they develop singularities on \mathfrak{M} along the hyperplanes H_i because extra bosonic zero-modes appear, but there are no divergences for generic $D_0 \neq 0$.

The last step is to integrate over the moduli space of BPS configurations. For simplicity, let us restrict to the case that G has rank 1. Since all action terms are Q-exact, we perform localization simply by sending to zero all interactions. The singular hyperplanes—which in this case are just points—arise because we take the limit $\mathbf{e} \to 0$, where \mathbf{e} is the gauge coupling. In the weakly-interacting theory the contribution from the neighborhood of a singular point $u_* \in \mathfrak{M}_{\text{sing}}$ where there are M quasi-zero-modes ϕ_i —whose charges Q_i have the same sign by the assumption in footnote 30—is roughly:

$$I = \int d^{2M}\phi \, \exp\left[-\sum_{i} |Q_{i}(u-u_{*})|^{2} |\phi_{i}|^{2} - \frac{\mathsf{e}^{2}}{2} \left(\zeta - \sum_{i} Q_{i} |\phi_{i}|^{2}\right)^{2}\right],\tag{4.38}$$

where ζ is the FI term. The second term comes from the D-term potential and it ensures that the integral is convergent, even at $u = u_*$. By rescaling $\phi_i \to |Q_i \mathbf{e}|^{-1/2} \phi_i$ we can find an upper bound $|I| \leq C/\mathbf{e}^M$ for some constant C. Therefore, we can split the integral over \mathfrak{M} into two pieces, removing from \mathfrak{M} an ε -neighborhood Δ_{ε} of $\mathfrak{M}_{\text{sing}}$. The integral over Δ_{ε} is bounded by $\varepsilon^2/\mathbf{e}^M$ up to constants, therefore in a scaling limit $\mathbf{e}, \varepsilon \to 0$ in which $\varepsilon^2/\mathbf{e}^M \to 0$ as well, it does not contribute. We thus have

$$Z_{T^2} = \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Weyl}(G)|} \lim_{\mathbf{e}, \varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\mathfrak{M} \setminus \Delta_{\varepsilon}} d^2 u \int_{\mathbb{R} + i\eta} dD_0 \int d\lambda^+ d\bar{\lambda}^+ \, \mathcal{Z}(u, \bar{u}, \lambda^+, \bar{\lambda}^+, D_0) \,. \tag{4.39}$$

We have restored the dependence on the zero-mode D_0 of the auxiliary field, since it will be used as a regulator momentarily. Then \mathcal{Z} is the effective partition function obtained by integrating out all massive modes. Setting $\lambda^+ = \bar{\lambda}^+ = 0$ and in the $\mathbf{e} \to 0$ limit it gives what we have written in (4.37), and further setting $D_0 = 0$ it gives the one-loop determinants in (4.21) and (4.23). The function \mathcal{Z} is holomorphic in D_0 around the origin as long as $u \notin \Delta_{\varepsilon}$. Therefore we have the freedom to shift the real integration contour on the complex D_0 -plane along the imaginary direction, as long as this shift is small: in (4.39) we have called η such a shift.

The partition function $\mathcal{Z}(u, \bar{u}, \lambda^+, \bar{\lambda}^+, D_0)$ depends on the gaugino zero-modes because of the Lagrangian couplings $\lambda \psi \phi$ to the matter fields we have integrated out. As noticed in [9, 10], the dependence is fixed by supersymmetry. From the algebra (4.36) it follows

$$0 = \tilde{Q}\mathcal{Z} = -\frac{\lambda^{+}}{2}\frac{\partial\mathcal{Z}}{\partial\bar{u}} - D_{0}\frac{\partial\mathcal{Z}}{\partial\bar{\lambda}^{+}} \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \frac{\partial^{2}\mathcal{Z}}{\partial\lambda^{+}\partial\bar{\lambda}^{+}} = -\frac{1}{2D_{0}}\frac{\partial\mathcal{Z}}{\partial\bar{u}}\Big|_{\lambda^{+}=\bar{\lambda}^{+}=0}.$$
 (4.40)

The integral over the fermionic zero-modes produces a total derivative, and by Stoke's theorem we obtain the contour integral expression

$$Z_{T^2} = \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Weyl}(G)|} \lim_{\mathbf{e}, \varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\partial \Delta_{\varepsilon}} du \int_{\mathbb{R}+i\eta} \frac{dD_0}{D_0} \mathcal{Z}(u, \bar{u}, D_0) .$$
(4.41)

Consider a component of $\partial \Delta_{\varepsilon}$ around a point $u_* \in \mathfrak{M}_{sing}$. Suppose that we have chosen $\eta > 0$. From the unregularized expression in (4.37) of the chiral one-loop determinant, we see that the poles in the complex D_0 -plane are in the half $\rho \operatorname{Im} D_0 > 0$. If $\rho < 0$ the poles are in the negative half-plane. As $\varepsilon \to 0$ they collapse towards $D_0 = 0$, because the term in absolute value is of order ε on the contour $\partial \Delta_{\varepsilon}$, however the contour $\mathbb{R} + i\eta$ is safely far from them. The D_0 -integral remains finite as $\varepsilon \to 0$, and then the *u*-integral vanishes because its contour shrinks. On the contour, if $\rho > 0$ the poles are in the upper D_0 -half-plane and, as $\varepsilon \to 0$, they would cross the contour $\mathbb{R} + i\eta$. To avoid that, we shift the contour to $\mathbb{R} - i\eta$ and we collect minus the residue at $D_0 = 0$. As before, the integral along $\mathbb{R} - i\eta$ does not yield any contribution as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Minus the residue at $D_0 = 0$, though, gives

$$\lim_{\mathbf{e},\varepsilon\to 0} \int_{\partial\Delta_{\varepsilon}} du \ \mathcal{Z}(u,\bar{u},0) = \operatorname{Res}_{u=u_*} Z_{1-\operatorname{loop}}(u) \ ,$$

up to constants that can be fixed in one known example. Had we chosen $\eta < 0$ instead, a similar argument goes through and one obtains minus the residue at $u = u_*$ if $\rho < 0$, zero if $\rho > 0$.

We reach the conclusion that for $\eta > 0$ we collect the residues of $Z_{1-\text{loop}}(u)$ at the points $u_* \in \mathfrak{M}^+_{\text{sing}}$ corresponding to chiral fields with positive charges, while for $\eta < 0$ we collect minus the residues at the points $u_* \in \mathfrak{M}^-_{\text{sing}}$ corresponding to chiral fields with negative charges, reproducing (4.33). The generic higher-rank case is much more intricate, but conceptually very similar, and it leads to the JK residue. We refer the reader to the references for details.

4.4 Extensions and applications

The localization formula we presented has been generalized in many ways. The authors of [96, 97] have considered gauge theories with Stückelberg fields, which in the IR may realize non-compact sigma models a prototype of which is the $SL(2, \mathbb{R})/U(1)$ (cigar) coset. The resulting genus is a Jacobi-like form that is non-holomorphic in the modular parameter τ of the torus, with mock modular behavior. The reason is that those models have a continuous spectrum above a threshold, even when equivariant parameters are turned on, and the density of states of bosons and fermions in the continuum need not be equal.

The prototype $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ GLSM is the one introduced by Hori and Kapustin in [109]. The model has a U(1) vector field V, a chiral multiplet Φ of charge 1, and a chiral Stückelberg field P that transforms as

$$P \to P + i\Lambda$$
 (4.42)

under super-gauge transformations $V \to V - i\Lambda + i\overline{\Lambda}$. Moreover the imaginary part of p (the scalar in P) is periodic, $p \sim p + 2\pi i$. The action is

$$S = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^2 w \, d^4 \theta \left[\bar{\Phi} e^V \Phi + \frac{k}{4} \left(P + \bar{P} + V \right)^2 - \frac{1}{2e^2} \bar{\Sigma} \Sigma \right] \,, \tag{4.43}$$

where k > 0 and Σ is the field-strength twisted chiral multiplet. When written in components, the imaginary part of p acts as a standard Stückelberg field that gives the photon a mass, while the real part is a dynamical FI term. Integrating out the massive photon and after some RG flow, one obtains the $SL(2, \mathbb{R})_k/U(1)$ SCFT with central charge $c = 3 + \frac{6}{k}$, which in the large k limit has a description as the NLSM with cigar target

$$ds^{2} = 2k \left(du^{2} + \tanh^{2} u \, d\psi^{2} \right) \tag{4.44}$$

with $\psi \cong \psi + 2\pi$, and a non-trivial background dilaton [110].

When computing the elliptic genus with localization, the presence of the field P introduces many differences. First, the action involving P is naively Q-exact but in fact it gives rise to a non-trivial boundary term in field space [109], therefore the final answer will depend on k. Luckily, P appears quadratically in the action and so its path-integral can be computed exactly.

Second, the field P has fermionic zero-modes χ^- , $\bar{\chi}^-$ coupled to the gaugino zero-modes λ^+ , $\bar{\lambda}^+$. Therefore, when integrating over the fermionic zero-modes they are absorbed at tree level and we simply generate a constant factor—instead of a total derivative as before. The integration over the bosonic zero-modes of P and the massive modes is standard, and the details can be found in [111, 96, 97]. A point to note is that the imaginary part of p is a periodic scalar which admits winding modes: $p_2(w+1) = p_2(w) + 2\pi n$, $p_2(w+\tau) = p_2(w) + 2\pi m$. The path-integral over P then gives

$$Z_P = \frac{k}{D_0 \tau_2} \frac{\theta_1(q, y)}{\eta(q)^3} \sum_{m, n \in \mathbb{Z}} \exp\left[-\frac{\pi k}{\tau_2} \left(m + n\tau + u + \frac{z}{k}\right) \left(m + n\bar{\tau} + \bar{u} + \frac{z}{k}\right)\right].$$
(4.45)

The one-loop determinant of the chiral multiplet is also modified. The UV left-moving R-symmetry J_{μ} is anomalous and the IR conserved superconformal R-symmetry is obtained by mixing with the gauge-invariant quantity $A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}p_2$. The R-symmetry background experienced by Φ thus depends on the winding numbers (m, n):

$$Z_{\Phi} = y^{\rho n} \frac{\theta_1(q, y^{R/2-1} x^{\rho})}{\theta_1(q, y^{R/2} x^{\rho})} , \qquad (4.46)$$

where ρ is the gauge charge. Putting everything together, and generalizing to multiple chiral multiplets Φ_i , one finds the formula:

$$Z_{T^2} = k \int_{T^2} \frac{d^2 u}{\tau_2} \prod_i \frac{\theta_1(q, y^{\frac{R_i}{2} - 1} x^{\rho_i})}{\theta_1(q, y^{\frac{R_i}{2}} x^{\rho_i})} \sum_{m, n \in \mathbb{Z}} y^n \sum_i \rho_i \, e^{-\frac{\pi k}{\tau_2} \left(m + n\tau + u + \frac{z}{k}\right) \left(m + n\bar{\tau} + \bar{u} + \frac{z}{k}\right)} \,. \tag{4.47}$$

The cigar coset theory corresponds to a single field with $\rho = 1$ and R = 0. Notice that in the presence of multiple chiral multiplets with coincident poles, the integral is divergent and it should be regularized with care.

The expression above is not holomorphic in τ : it is the product of a usual Jacobi form and an Appell-Lerch sum. The latter are intimately related to a very interesting class of functions called mock modular forms [112, 113, 114]. Their key feature is that they transform as modular forms, but they suffer from a holomorphic anomaly.

The example above can obviously be generalized to more Abelian groups and matter contents. As an interesting application, [115] studies the equivariant elliptic genera of a class of gravitational instantons that are given by hyper-Kähler four-manifolds of asymptotically locally flat (ALF) type. The simplest of these spaces is the Taub-NUT manifold, while more general constructions yield the multi-center A_k ALF spaces of Gibbons and Hawking [116] and other spaces. Taub-NUT can be obtained from an $\mathcal{N}=(4,4)$ GLSM consisting of a U(1) vector multiplet, a hypermultiplet of charge 1 and a neutral Stückelberg hypermultiplet [117].³¹ The model has $SU(2)^3$ R-symmetry and $U(1)_f$ flavor symmetry (one SU(2)corresponds to rotations of \mathbb{R}^3 , while $U(1)_f$ rotates the circle). The coupling k controls the size of the asymptotic circle, and in the $k \to \infty$ limit the model turns into \mathbb{C}^2 . Localization in this case gives³²

$$Z_{T^2} = k \int_{\mathbb{C}} \frac{d^2 u}{\tau_2} \, \frac{\theta_1(q, xy\zeta_1) \,\theta_1(q, xy^{-1}\zeta_1)}{\theta_1(q, x\zeta_1\zeta_2) \,\theta_1(q, x\zeta_1\zeta_2^{-1})} \, e^{-\frac{k\pi}{\tau_2}|u|^2} \,, \tag{4.48}$$

where we have used the sum over winding sectors to "unfold" the integral over the whole complex plane. Here ζ_1, ζ_2, y are fugacities for $U(1)_f$ and for two left-moving R-symmetries, respectively. In the $k \to \infty$ limit one obtains the equivariant elliptic genus of \mathbb{C}^2 , which equals the integrand of (4.48) evaluated at u = 0 and it is holomorphic in τ .

Physically, the equivariant deformations produce a potential roughly proportional to the length of the orbits of the associated U(1) actions. In the case of Taub-NUT the potential produced by $\zeta_1 = e^{2\pi i \xi_1}$ is

$$V = \frac{\xi_1^2}{\frac{1}{k} + \frac{1}{|\vec{x}|^2}} , \qquad (4.49)$$

where \vec{x} is a coordinate on \mathbb{R}^3 . Around the origin $(\vec{x} = 0)$ the potential is quadratic and it gives a discrete IR spectrum, while at large $|\vec{x}|$ it is a constant allowing for a continuous spectrum of scattering states. The latter are responsible for the loss of holomorphy in τ .

One can also generalize the elliptic genus to the *twining genera*: in the minimal $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ case, given a theory with a discrete symmetry g that commutes with the right-moving supersymmetry algebra, they are defined as

$$Z_g(\tau, u) = \text{Tr}_{R} (-1)^F g q^{H_L} \bar{q}^{H_R} \prod_a x_a^{K_a}$$
(4.50)

with an insertion of g into the trace. These objects decompose into characters of the discrete symmetry group, and therefore contain valuable information about the spectrum of the theory. As shown in [95], it is easy to extend the localization computation to the twining genera. If the symmetry element g acts on chiral and Fermi multiplets as

$$g \Phi_i = e^{2\pi i \alpha_i} \Phi_i , \qquad g \Lambda_i = e^{2\pi i \beta_i} \Lambda_i , \qquad (4.51)$$

³¹In $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ notation, the model has a vector multiplet V, two neutral chiral multiplets Φ , Ψ , two chiral multiplets Q, \tilde{Q} of charges ± 1 , and a Stückelberg chiral multiplet P. There is also a superpotential $W = \tilde{Q}\Phi Q + \Phi \Psi$.

³²In this model the R-symmetry current is not anomalous, therefore the Stückelberg field has no R-charge.

the corresponding one-loop determinants are modified to

$$Z_{\Phi_i} = \frac{i \eta(q) e^{\pi i \alpha_i}}{\theta_1(q, e^{2\pi i \alpha_i} x^{\rho_i})}, \qquad \qquad Z_{\Lambda_i} = \frac{i \theta_1(q, e^{2\pi i \beta_i} x^{\rho_i})}{\eta(q) e^{\pi i \beta_i}}.$$
(4.52)

Then one takes the JK residue at the (possibly shifted) poles. The formula has been used for instance in [95] to study the twining genera of $\mathcal{N}=(0,4)$ NLSM with K3 target under the action of elements of M_{24} , the largest Mathieu group, in connection with the so-called "moonshine conjectures".

For $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ gauge theories, the elliptic genus is one of the few quantities that can be computed non-pertubatively via localization.³³ Therefore it constitutes a crucial test of conjectured IR dualities among different gauge theories. One example are the trialities of [118], which will be discussed in subsection 5.4.

To conclude, we mention two recent applications of the elliptic genus of gauge theories. One is in the context of "AGT correspondences" [119] (see also Contribution [120]). Through the compactification of M5-branes on $T^2 \times \mathcal{M}_4$, where \mathcal{M}_4 is an arbitrary four-manifold, one can try to relate the elliptic genus of certain $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ gauge theories (which depend on \mathcal{M}_4) and the Vafa-Witten partition function [121] of 4d $\mathcal{N}=4$ SYM on \mathcal{M}_4 . This program has been initiated in [122]. Another application is to interpret the partition functions of certain 6d SCFTs as the generating functions of the elliptic genera of their BPS strings [123] (see Contribution [124]).

5 Dualities

The supersymmetric observables exactly computed in previous sections provide powerful means to test dualities. We review in this section a few such applications of the sphere partition function and the elliptic genus. First we consider mirror symmetry in subsection 5.1, comparing sphere partition functions of 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ GLSMs which flow to mirror Calabi-Yau manifolds. In subsection 5.2 we discuss Seiberg-like dualities between 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ gauge theories with U(N) gauge groups and (anti)fundamental matter. Then in subsection 5.3 we list generalizations, while subsection 5.4 describes 2d $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ dualities which have been checked using the elliptic genus.

5.1 Mirror symmetry

Numerous NLSMs with Calabi-Yau target spaces can be realized as the low-energy limit of gauged linear sigma models. The Calabi-Yau moduli space coincides with the conformal manifold of the NLSM, which is typically spanned by exactly marginal (chiral and twisted chiral) operators of the GLSM. Twisted chiral operators alter the (complexified) Kähler structure of the Calabi-Yau, while chiral operators alter its complex structure. Both the moduli space of Kähler structure deformations and that of complex structure deformations are Kähler manifolds, whose metric derives from a Kähler potential.

³³For deformations of $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ gauge theories, one can also compute correlators on S^2 [26].

As reviewed in Contribution [17], these Kähler potentials can be efficiently computed from GLSM sphere partition functions [18, 13, 19, 20]. Placing a GLSM on the sphere preserves either the vector or the axial R-symmetry. These two choices lead to distinct partition functions Z_A and Z_B , computed in section 2 and subsection 3.2. Both are independent of the superrenormalizable gauge coupling hence are invariant under the RG flow. The first one depends only on twisted chiral parameters (FI parameters, theta angles, twisted masses, vector R-charges) and gives the Kähler potential \mathcal{K}_K on the moduli space of Kähler structure deformations, while the second one depends only on chiral parameters (the superpotential) and gives the Kähler potential \mathcal{K}_C on the moduli space of complex structure deformations:

$$Z_A = e^{-\mathcal{K}_K}$$
 and $Z_B = e^{-\mathcal{K}_C}$. (5.1)

This streamlines the extraction of genus zero Gromov-Witten invariants from \mathcal{K}_K (see [18, 125, 126, 62]). Remarkably, most known Calabi-Yau manifolds are paired such that the moduli space of complex structure deformations of one is identical to the moduli space of Kähler structure deformations of the other and viceversa. The manifolds are called mirrors of each other. The interchange of \mathcal{K}_K and \mathcal{K}_C can be shown by proving that Z_A of one GLSM is equal to Z_B of the other.

Mirror symmetry generalizes to GLSMs whose low-energy limit is an NLSM on a Kähler manifold (with non-negative first Chern class) rather than a Calabi-Yau manifold: a large class of GLSMs have Landau-Ginzburg models as their mirrors [45]. In this section, we prove following [13, 21] (an example was worked out in [11]) that Z_A of a GLSM is equal to Z_B of the Landau-Ginzburg mirror proposed by Hori and Vafa. In fact, to avoid switching back and forth between the backgrounds that preserve $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_A$ and $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_B$, we apply to the Landau-Ginzburg model the involution of the superconformal algebra which exchanges these two subalgebras and exchanges vector/chiral multiplets with twisted vector/chiral multiplets. As a result, we wish to write Z_A of a GLSM (computed in section 2) as Z_A of a Landau-Ginzburg model of twisted chiral multiplets (computed in subsection 3.2).

The key mathematical identity is (omitting irrelevant constant factors)³⁴

$$\frac{\Gamma(a)}{\Gamma(1+b)} = \int_0^\infty dt \, e^{-t} t^{a-1} \int_{\text{Hankel}} ds \, e^s s^{-b-1} = \int_{-\infty}^\infty \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d^2 Y \exp\left(-e^{-Y} - aY + e^{-\bar{Y}} + b\bar{Y}\right),\tag{5.2}$$

where $Y \cong Y + 2\pi i$ is periodic and $a + b \in \mathbb{Z}$. This identity applies readily to the one-loop determinant (2.18) of a chiral multiplet:

$$Z_{1\text{-loop}}^{\text{chiral}} = \prod_{w} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{q}{2} - ir\tau - \frac{\mathfrak{n}}{2} - irw(\sigma) - \frac{w(\mathfrak{m})}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1 - \frac{q}{2} + ir\tau - \frac{\mathfrak{n}}{2} + irw(\sigma) - \frac{w(\mathfrak{m})}{2}\right)} = \prod_{w} \int d^2 Y_w \, e^{-\frac{q}{2}(Y_w + \bar{Y}_w)} \, e^{-4\pi i r \widetilde{W}_w - 4\pi i r \overline{\widetilde{W}}_w} \tag{5.3}$$

³⁴The Hankel contour goes around the cut of s^{-b-1} along the negative real axis, at a constant distance $\epsilon > 0$ above and below it. To prove the second equality, either redefine $Y = -\log t$ and $\bar{Y} = -\log s$, or decompose Y = x + iy and recognize that the last expression is the Fourier transform $2\pi \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dx \, e^{(b-a)x} J_{a+b}(2e^{-x})$ of the Bessel function of the first kind.

where the twisted superpotential \widetilde{W} involves the bottom component $\Sigma = r\sigma - i\mathfrak{m}/2$ of the field strength twisted chiral multiplet:

$$4\pi i r \widetilde{W}_w = e^{-Y_w} - \left(i r \tau + \frac{\mathfrak{n}}{2} + i w(\Sigma)\right) Y_w .$$

$$(5.4)$$

For non-zero R-charges, the weight factor $\exp\left[-\frac{q}{2}(Y_w + \bar{Y}_w)\right]$ is naturally absorbed in the integration measure (up to a constant) by using the variables $\widetilde{X}_w = \exp\left(-\frac{q}{2}Y_w\right)$.

Translating the full partition function of a GLSM to the variables Y and Σ yields

$$Z_{\text{GLSM}} = \int d^2 \Sigma \prod_{\alpha>0} \left[e^{\pi \alpha (\Sigma - \bar{\Sigma})} \alpha(\Sigma) \,\alpha(\bar{\Sigma}) \right] \prod_{I,w} \left[\int d^2 Y_w^I \, e^{-\frac{q_I}{2} (Y_w^I + \bar{Y}_w^I)} \right] e^{-4\pi i r \widetilde{W} - 4\pi i r \widetilde{\widetilde{W}}} \tag{5.5}$$

where Σ has a GNO quantized imaginary part, we dropped a factor of $r^{c/3}$ and numerical constants, and where

$$4\pi i r \widetilde{W} = \sum_{\ell} \left[\left(\vartheta_{\ell} + 2\pi i \zeta_{\ell} \right) \operatorname{Tr}_{\ell} \Sigma \right] + \sum_{I,w} \left[e^{-Y_w^I} - \left(i r \tau_I + \frac{\mathfrak{n}_I}{2} + i w(\Sigma) \right) Y_w^I \right].$$
(5.6)

This twisted superpotential was found much earlier [45] to be generated by vortices.

Equation (5.5) is the Z_A partition function (3.6) of a Landau-Ginzburg model with twisted chiral multiplets Σ and Y in a certain target space (whose volume form leads to the nontrivial integration measure) and subject to the twisted superpotential (5.6), or equivalently the Z_B partition function of a model with chiral multiplets. We can go further in the case of Landau-Ginzburg models mirror to Abelian GLSMs: then Σ appears only linearly in the twisted superpotential hence plays the role of a Lagrange multiplier. Integrating it out yields delta function constraints between the variables Y^I :

$$i\vartheta_{\ell} - 2\pi\zeta_{\ell} + \sum_{I} Y^{I} Q_{I}^{\ell} \in 2\pi i\mathbb{Z} .$$

$$(5.7)$$

Here Q_I^{ℓ} denotes the charge of the *I*-th chiral multiplet under the ℓ -th gauge group and we have dropped the index w as each irreducible representation is one-dimensional. Each of the *N* constraints (5.7) eliminates one of the N_f twisted chiral multiplets Y^I . The twisted superpotential reads

$$4\pi i r \widetilde{W} = \sum_{I=1}^{N_f} \left[e^{-Y^I} - \left(i r \tau_I + \frac{\mathfrak{n}_I}{2} \right) Y^I \right]_{(5.7)}$$
(5.8)

and the integration measure reduces to (up to permutations of the Y^{I} 's)

$$\prod_{I=1}^{N_f - N} \int d^2 Y^I \, e^{-\frac{q_I'}{2} \left(Y^I + \bar{Y}^I\right)} \tag{5.9}$$

where q'_I are certain combinations of R-charges, most conveniently determined by mixing the R-symmetry with gauge symmetries so that R-charges of eliminated twisted chiral multiplets

vanish. Switching to variables $\widetilde{X}^I = \exp(-\frac{q'}{2}Y^I)$ yields a Landau-Ginzburg model whose target space is flat, but with a conical singularity at $\widetilde{X} = 0$.

Let us consider as an example the quintic hypersurface in \mathbb{CP}^4 . We start with a U(1)GLSM with 5 chiral multiplets X_i of gauge charge +1 and R-charge q and a chiral multiplet P of gauge charge -5 and R-charge $q_P = 2 - 5q$, with a superpotential $W = P G_5(X)$ where G_5 is a generic homogeneous polynomial of degree 5. The parameter q mixes the R-symmetry with the gauge symmetry. Following the steps above, we introduce twisted chiral fields Y_1, \ldots, Y_5, Y_P then integrate out Σ and obtain the constraint (5.7), namely $5Y_P = 2\pi\zeta - i\vartheta + Y_1 + \ldots + Y_5 \pmod{2\pi i}$. For convenience, mix the R-symmetry with the gauge symmetry to set $q \to 2/5$ so that $q_P = 0$. The variables $\widetilde{X}_i = \exp(-Y_i/5) \in \mathbb{C}^*/\mathbb{Z}_5$ absorb the integration measure, at the cost of an orbifold singularity at the origin. In those variables, the twisted superpotential of the Landau-Ginzburg model reads

$$4\pi i r \widetilde{W} = \widetilde{G}_5(\widetilde{X}) = \widetilde{X}_1^5 + \widetilde{X}_2^5 + \widetilde{X}_3^5 + \widetilde{X}_4^5 + \widetilde{X}_5^5 + e^{(-2\pi\zeta + i\vartheta)/5} \widetilde{X}_1 \widetilde{X}_2 \widetilde{X}_3 \widetilde{X}_4 \widetilde{X}_5 .$$
(5.10)

This model does not depend on the 101 parameters in the original superpotential $PG_5(X)$, hence it can only be the mirror of the quintic GLSM at a specific point in the moduli space. Since the theories coincide at that point, their whole moduli spaces must be the same, but let us describe more precisely how this comes about. Continuing from Z_A of the Landau-Ginzburg model, we add a U(1) twisted vector multiplet under which each \widetilde{X}_i has charge +1 and a twisted chiral multiplet \tilde{P} of charge -5 and replace \tilde{W} by $\tilde{P}\tilde{G}_5(\tilde{X})$ to make it gauge invariant. The Z_A partition function (3.10) of this twisted GLSM coincides with that of the Landau-Ginzburg model. The twisted GLSM is a special case of the quintic GLSM with multiplets replaced by twisted multiplets and $G_5 \to G_5$. When its FI parameter χ is negative, the low-energy limit is the Landau-Ginzburg model (5.10): the D-term equation $\sum_i |\widetilde{X}_i|^2 - 5|\widetilde{P}|^2 = \chi$ forces $P \neq 0$ and the F-term equation then sets all $\widetilde{X}_i = 0$. When $\chi > 0$ instead, the low-energy limit is an NLSM on the quintic hypersurface $\widetilde{G}_5 = 0$, orbifolded as described above. This orbifold has fixed points and curves. Blowing up the singularities requires a choice of 100 volume parameters which combine with χ to reproduce the 101 chiral parameters of the original GLSM. The NLSM on the blown-up orbifold of $\{G_5 = 0\}$ could also be described by a twisted $U(1)^{101}$ GLSM with 106 twisted chiral multiplets, but this is somewhat cumbersome.

The partition functions Z_A and Z_B of mirror theories have also been proven equal for all complete intersections in products of weighted projective spaces.

5.2 Seiberg duality with unitary groups

We now describe a 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ analogue of 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ Seiberg duality, explain how sphere partition functions and elliptic genera of the dual theories are compared, and deduce some variants of this duality in the next subsection. The first such $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ dualities were analyzed in [127].

The duality states that two theories (named "electric" and "magnetic" theories) have the same infrared limit. The electric theory has a U(K) gauge group, N_f fundamental chiral

multiplets ϕ_F $(1 \leq F \leq N_f)$, and N_a antifundamental chiral multiplets ϕ_A $(1 \leq A \leq N_a)$. We assume $N \leq \max(N_f, N_a)$, as otherwise supersymmetry is spontaneously broken (both the elliptic genus and the sphere partition function vanish, see footnote 4) and there is no duality. The magnetic theory has the same field content with

$$(K, N_f, N_a) \rightarrow (K', N'_f, N'_a) = \left(\max(N_f, N_a) - K, N_a, N_f \right)$$

and additionally it has $N_a N_f$ gauge singlet chiral multiplets M_{AF} with a cubic superpotential $W = M_{AF} \tilde{\phi}'_F \phi'_A$. The complexified FI parameters $t = 2\pi\zeta + i\vartheta$ and the vector R-charges are

$$(-1)^{N'_{f}-K'}e^{-t'} = \left[(-1)^{N_{f}-K}e^{-t}\right]^{-1} \text{ namely } \zeta' = -\zeta, \ \vartheta' = -\vartheta + \min(N_{f}, N_{a})\pi \tag{5.11}$$

$$q'_A = 1 - \tilde{q}_A, \qquad \tilde{q}'_F = 1 - q_F, \qquad q'^{(M)}_{AF} = \tilde{q}_A + q_F.$$
 (5.12)

These R-charges give the superpotential R-charge 2 as required by supersymmetry, and are also consistent with the matching of chiral rings: M_{AF} is mapped to the meson $\tilde{\phi}_A \phi_F$ of the electric theory. The flavor symmetry $S[U(N_f) \times U(N_a)]$ shared by the two theories can be coupled to a background vector multiplet to include twisted masses and flavor fluxes (the same in both theories), and M transforms in the bifundamental representation of $U(N_f) \times U(N_a)$.

Charge conjugation lets us assume $N_a \leq N_f$. It would in fact be enough to check the duality for $N_a = N_f$, then decouple chiral multiplets by giving them large twisted masses.

Let us compare elliptic genera of the two theories [88, 67]. Recall that the elliptic genus $Z_{T^2}(\tau, z, \xi)$ depends on the period τ of T^2 , an R-symmetry holonomy z, and flavor symmetry holonomies ξ in the flavor Cartan algebra. It is a sum of JK residues (4.28) of $Z_{1-\text{loop}}(\tau, z, u, \xi)$ at values of the gauge holonomies u (in the gauge Cartan algebra) where this meromorphic (rank G, 0)-form has poles. More precisely, each component of u lies in a torus $\mathbb{C}/(\mathbb{Z} + \tau\mathbb{Z})$ and similarly for ξ . For the electric theory,³⁵

$$Z_{1-\text{loop}}(\tau, z, u, \xi, \tilde{\xi}) = \frac{1}{K!} \left(\frac{2\pi\eta(q)^3}{\theta_1(\tau|-z)} \right)^K \prod_{i\neq j}^K \frac{\theta_1(\tau|u_i - u_j)}{\theta_1(\tau|u_i - u_j - z)} \times \prod_{i=1}^K \left(\prod_{F=1}^{N_f} \frac{\theta_1(\tau|u_i - \xi_F + (\frac{q_F}{2} - 1)z)}{\theta_1(\tau|u_i - \xi_F + \frac{q_F}{2}z)} \prod_{A=1}^{N_a} \frac{\theta_1(\tau|-u_i + \tilde{\xi}_A + (\frac{\tilde{q}_A}{2} - 1)z)}{\theta_1(\tau|-u_i + \tilde{\xi}_A + \frac{\tilde{q}_A}{2}z)} \right) d^K u \quad (5.13)$$

In the following we omit R-charges by shifting $\xi_F \to \xi_F + (q_F/2)z$ and $\tilde{\xi}_A \to \tilde{\xi}_A - (\tilde{q}_A/2)z$.

Consider first the case $N_a = N_f$. The elliptic genus is a sum of residues of (5.13) at a set of poles which depends on a choice of auxiliary parameter η in the gauge Cartan algebra. Choosing $\eta = (1, ..., 1)$ selects poles due to fundamental chiral multiplets, at $u_i = \xi_{F_i}$ for $1 \leq i \leq K$, with all F_i distinct. Altogether, poles which contribute are labelled by K-element

³⁵With a slight abuse of notation, we identify $\theta_1(\tau|z) \equiv \theta_1(q,y)$ where, as usual, $q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$ and $y = e^{2\pi i z}$.

subsets \mathcal{I} of $\{1, \ldots, N_f\}$:

$$Z_{T^{2}}^{U(K)}(\tau, z, \xi, \tilde{\xi}) = \sum_{\mathcal{I} \in C(K, N_{f})} \prod_{F \in \mathcal{I}} \left(\prod_{E \notin \mathcal{I}} \frac{\theta_{1}(\tau | \xi_{F} - \xi_{E} - z)}{\theta_{1}(\tau | \xi_{F} - \xi_{E})} \prod_{A=1}^{N_{a}} \frac{\theta_{1}(\tau | -\xi_{F} + \tilde{\xi}_{A} - z)}{\theta_{1}(\tau | -\xi_{F} + \tilde{\xi}_{A})} \right)$$
$$= \left(\prod_{F=1}^{N_{f}} \prod_{A=1}^{N_{a}} \frac{\theta_{1}(\tau | -\xi_{F} + \tilde{\xi}_{A} - z)}{\theta_{1}(\tau | -\xi_{F} + \tilde{\xi}_{A})} \right) Z_{T^{2}}^{U(N_{f} - K)}(\tau, z, -\frac{z}{2} - \xi, \frac{z}{2} - \tilde{\xi}) . \quad (5.14)$$

Besides straightforward rearrangements, the second line uses $\theta_1(\tau|-z) = -\theta_1(\tau|z)$. Restoring the R-charges by $\xi_F \to \xi_F - (q_F/2)z$ and $\tilde{\xi}_A \to \tilde{\xi}_A + (\tilde{q}_A/2)z$, we recognize the genus of the dual theory with R-charges (5.12).

For $N_a \neq N_f$ the left-moving U(1) R-symmetry is anomalous and reduces to $\mathbb{Z}_{|N_f-N_a|}$. The R-symmetry fugacity y must obey $y^{N_f-N_a} = 1$, as $Z_{1\text{-loop}}$ is multiplied by $y^{N_f-N_a}$ upon shifting any component of u by τ . Unfortunately, $Z_{1\text{-loop}}$ is ill-defined at y = 1 so the localization calculation of the elliptic genus fails in that case (and whenever $y^K = 1$). However, we can introduce $N_f - N_a$ chiral multiplets P_j in the det⁻¹ representation of U(K) to cancel the R-symmetry anomaly and allow generic y, then take the limit $y^{N_f-N_a} \to 1$. Provided we choose R-charges of P_j to be $q_j = q + 2j$ for some q, their one-loop determinant contributions to the elliptic genus cancel as $y^{N_f-N_a} \to 1$ (for y = 1 a physical explanation is that one can turn on twisted masses for the P_j):

$$\left(\prod_{j=1}^{N_f - N_a} \frac{\theta_1(q, y^{q/2 + j - 1} x^{-1})}{\theta_1(q, y^{q/2 + j} x^{-1})}\right) \xrightarrow{y^{N_f - N_a} \to 1} 1 .$$
(5.15)

The elliptic genus of the theory enriched with the P_j can be computed with $\eta = (1, ..., 1)$ as above and yields exactly (5.14) once one takes the limit (5.15). For the allowed values $(N_f - N_a)z \in \mathbb{Z}$, the above turns out to simplify to

$$Z_{T^{2}}^{U(K)}(\tau, z, \xi, \tilde{\xi})_{y^{N_{f}-N_{a}}=1} = y^{-KN_{a}/2} \binom{N_{f}}{K}_{y} = y^{-KN_{a}/2} \frac{\prod_{j=N_{f}+1-K}^{N_{f}} \left(y^{j/2} - y^{-j/2}\right)}{\prod_{j=1}^{K} \left(y^{j/2} - y^{-j/2}\right)} .$$
(5.16)

The elliptic genus vanishes for $y^K \neq 1$: this could be derived by using $\eta = (-1, \ldots, -1)$ in the theory without P_j . Incidentally, we learn by setting y = 1 that the theories have $\binom{N_f}{K}$ vacua.

 $\binom{N_f}{K}$ vacua. The equality of elliptic genera implies that BPS states of the dual theories have identical flavor and R-symmetry charges, but does not fix the map of (complexified) FI parameters nor the superpotential. These are fixed by comparing A-type and B-type sphere partition functions, respectively.

Next, we sketch the proof [11, 41, 128] that A-type sphere partition functions $Z_{S^2}^A$ of the two theories coincide. This probes their twisted chiral rings (these have also been proven isomorphic). As described in subsection 2.5 the partition function can be localized to (2.38):

a "Higgs branch configuration" (labeled by \mathcal{I} below) in the bulk of the sphere with vortices at the North pole and antivortices at the South pole. In detail,

$$Z_{S^2}^A = \sum_{\mathcal{I} \in C(K,N_f)} Z_0^{\mathcal{I}} Z_+^{\mathcal{I}}(e^{-t}) Z_-^{\mathcal{I}}\left(e^{-\bar{t} + i\pi(N_f - N_a)}\right)$$
(5.17)

where the semiclassical contribution $Z_0^{\mathcal{I}}$ and the (anti)vortex contributions $Z_{\pm}^{\mathcal{I}}$ are expressed in terms of the combinations $\Sigma_F^{\pm} = q_F/2 + ir\tau_F \pm \mathfrak{n}_F/2$ of R-charge, twisted mass and flavor flux of fundamental chiral multiplets and similarly $\tilde{\Sigma}_A^{\pm} = -\tilde{q}_A/2 + ir\tilde{\tau}_A \pm \tilde{\mathfrak{n}}_A/2$ for antifundamentals:

$$Z_0^{\mathcal{I}} = \prod_{F \in \mathcal{I}} \left(e^{-t\Sigma_F^+ - \bar{t}\Sigma_F^-} \prod_{E \notin \mathcal{I}} \frac{\Gamma(\Sigma_E^+ - \Sigma_F^+)}{\Gamma(1 - \Sigma_E^- + \Sigma_F^-)} \prod_{A=1}^{N_a} \frac{\Gamma(\Sigma_F^+ - \tilde{\Sigma}_A^+)}{\Gamma(1 - \Sigma_F^- + \tilde{\Sigma}_A^-)} \right)$$
(5.18)

$$Z_{\pm}^{\mathcal{I}}(x) = \sum_{(k_F \ge 0)_{F \in \mathcal{I}}} \prod_{F \in \mathcal{I}} \frac{x^{n_F} \prod_{A=1}^{N_a} (\Sigma_F^{\pm} - \Sigma_A^{\pm})_{k_F}}{\prod_{E \notin \mathcal{I}} \left(-\Sigma_E^{\pm} + \Sigma_F^{\pm} - k_E \right)_{k_F} \prod_{E \notin \mathcal{I}} \left(\Sigma_E^{\pm} - \Sigma_F^{\pm} - k_F \right)_{k_F}}.$$
 (5.19)

Dual partition functions are compared term by term. The semiclassical parts $Z_{0,\text{electric}}^{\mathcal{I}}$ and $Z_{0,\text{magnetic}}^{\{1,\dots,N_f\}\setminus\mathcal{I}}$ are equal up to simple factors elaborated on below. Terms of order x^k for some $k \geq 0$ in the vortex partition functions can be recast as a k-dimensional contour integral such that the poles on one side of the contour are labelled by $(k_F \geq 0)_{F \in \mathcal{I}}$ with $\sum_F k_F = k$. Provided $N_a \leq N_f - 2$, there is no pole at infinity and the sum of residues is equal to a sum over poles on the other side of the contour, which reproduces the k-vortex partition function of the dual theory. For $|N_a - N_f| \leq 1$ the integrand is singular at infinity and more tedious calculations are needed. The result is

$$Z_{U(K)}^{N_f,N_a}\left(\Sigma^{\pm},\tilde{\Sigma}^{\pm};t\right) = a_+\left(e^{-t-i\pi K'}\right)a_-\left(e^{-\bar{t}+i\pi K'}\right)$$
$$\times \prod_{F,A}\frac{\Gamma(\Sigma_F^+ - \tilde{\Sigma}_A^+)}{\Gamma(1 - \Sigma_F^- + \tilde{\Sigma}_A^-)}Z_{U(K')}^{N_a,N_f}\left(\tilde{\Sigma}^{\pm} + \frac{1}{2},\Sigma^{\pm} - \frac{1}{2};t'\right) \quad (5.20)$$

where the factors a_{\pm} depend on Σ_F^{\pm} and $\widetilde{\Sigma}_A^{\pm}$ and are (anti)holomorphic functions of t:

$$a_{\pm}(z) = z^{-K'/2} \prod_{F=1}^{N_f} \left[e^{\pm i\pi K'} z \right]^{\sum_F^{\pm}} \prod_{A=1}^{N_a} \left[e^{\pm i\pi K'} \right]^{\sum_A^{\pm}} G_{\pm}(z)$$
(5.21)

and the last function is $G_{\pm}(z) = 1$ for $N_a \leq N_f - 2$, $G_{\pm}(z) = e^{\mp z}$ for $N_a = N_f - 1$, and $G_{\pm}(z) = (1+z)^{K'-\sum_F \Sigma_F^{\pm} + \sum_A \widetilde{\Sigma}_A^{\pm}}$ for $N_a = N_f$. The last two factors in (5.20) are the partition function of the dual theory with its mesons: shifts of Σ^{\pm} and $\widetilde{\Sigma}^{\pm}$ by $\frac{1}{2}$ realize the map of R-charges (5.12). The factors a_{\pm} are ambiguities due to finite renormalization of the partition function, but in quiver gauge theories they become physical and have neat interpretations in terms of cluster algebras [41] or Liouville/Toda correlation functions [128]. The phase of $a_{\pm}a_{\pm}$ comes from a background twisted superpotential that depends on t and on the background field strength (twisted chiral) multiplets incorporating twisted masses and flavor fluxes. The absolute value is independent of these background fields and can be ignored for our purposes. It comes from improving the R-symmetry current. Ambiguities of the sphere partition function under multiplication by (anti)holomorphic functions of t play an important role in Contribution [17].

We will not elaborate on the comparison of B-type sphere partition functions performed very recently in [129]. It yields that if the electric theory is endowed with a superpotential $W = W(\tilde{\phi}_A \phi_F)$, then the magnetic theory has the superpotential $W(M_{AF}) + M_{AF}\tilde{\phi}'_F \phi'_A$. This is consistent with the matching of chiral rings $M_{AF} = \tilde{\phi}_A \phi_F$ and $\tilde{\phi}'_F \phi'_A = 0$.

5.3 Variants of Seiberg duality

We now turn to consequences and analogues of the $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ Seiberg duality.

The $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ SU(K) gauge theory with N_f fundamental chiral multiplets is dual to the theory with $K \to K' = N_f - K$, as described in [127]. Chiral rings are generated by baryons, which match provided R-charges are $q'_F = -q_F + \sum_F q_F/K'$. Chiral multiplets of the two theories are in the (anti)fundamental of an $SU(N_f)$ flavor symmetry and have charges 1/Kand 1/K' under a U(1) baryonic symmetry. Elliptic genera are shown to match in [88, 67] A-type sphere partition functions are shown to match [11] by integrating partition functions of the analogous U(K) and $U(N_f - K)$ theories:

$$Z_{SU(K)}^{N_f}(q_F) = \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} 4\pi \, d\zeta \, Z_{U(K)}^{N_f}(q_F; \zeta, \vartheta) = \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{d\vartheta}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} 4\pi \, d\zeta \, Z_{U(N_f-K)}^{N_f}(q'_F; -\zeta, -\vartheta + \#\pi) = Z_{SU(N_f-K)}^{N_f}(q'_F).$$
(5.22)

We have used that partition functions of U(K) and $U(N_f - K)$ theories are equal up to (5.21), namely powers of e^{-t} and $e^{-\bar{t}}$ that can be absorbed by shifting the Coulomb branch parameter σ and the flux \mathfrak{m} . This shifts R-charges from $1 - q_F$ to q'_F given above, and affects twisted masses and flavor fluxes in the same way, compatible with flavor symmetries.

In the presence of $N_a \leq N_f - 2$ additional antifundamental chiral multiplets, all steps of (5.22) go through (ζ -dependent factors prevent the last step for $N_a = N_f - 1$ and $N_a = N_f$) and yield

$$Z_{SU(K)}^{N_f,N_a}(q_F,\tilde{q}_A) = \prod_{F,A} \gamma(\tilde{q}_A/2 + q_F/2) Z_{SU(N_f-K)}^{N_a,N_f} \left(2 - \tilde{q}_A + \frac{1}{K'} \sum_F q_F, -q_F + \frac{1}{K'} \sum_F q_F \right).$$
(5.23)

At first this suggests that the two theories may be dual. However, chiral rings do not match: the mesons $\tilde{\phi}_A \phi_F$ and baryons $\phi_{F_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \phi_{F_K}$ of the electric theory match with the singlets and baryons of the magnetic theory, but there is no chiral operator in the magnetic theory with the same R-charge as antibaryons $\tilde{\phi}_{A_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \tilde{\phi}_{A_K}$. The lack of duality is confirmed by noting that elliptic genera fail to match. A similar situation was observed in [30] where two GLSMs with equal Z_A were shown to flow to different SCFTs, whose Calabi-Yau target spaces thus have the same quantum Kähler moduli space despite having different complex structure moduli spaces.

The same technique gives pairs of U(K) and U(K') theories that have equal sphere partition functions but are not all dual. Start from the equality of partition functions of U(K) and $U(N_f - K)$ theories with N_f fundamentals and $N_a \leq N_f - 2$ antifundamentals and additional singlets for the magnetic theory³⁶. Add L singlets on both sides and gauge a $U(1) \subset S[U(N_f) \times U(N_a)] \times U(1)^L$ flavor symmetry, then shift its generator by that of $U(1) \subset U(K)$ or $U(1) \subset U(N_f - K)$. Integrate over FI and theta parameters associated to the mixed U(1). This yields partition functions of U(K) and $U(N_f - K)$ theories with matter in N_f fundamental, N_a antifundamental, and L singlet representations of the SU gauge group and with arbitrary U(1) gauge charges. As in dualities above, the magnetic theory has $N_f N_a$ additional singlets, now charged under the U(1) gauge group. Despite sphere partition functions being equal, the theories are not expected to be dual in general: their chiral rings typically do not match due to antibaryons dressed by singlets. It would be interesting to find out which of these pairs of theories are indeed dual. In [127], the duality was established for $N_a = 0$, L = 1, and with a superpotential $W = P G_d(B)$ where P is the additional singlet in the det^{-d} representation of U(K), and $G_d(B)$ is a degree dpolynomial in the baryons B. See also [130] for the case of $N_a = 1$ multiplets in the $\overline{\Box} \otimes \det^{-1}$ representation and other negative powers of det (then chiral rings contain no U(1)-invariant antibaryons).

Quiver gauge theories with $U(N_i)$ gauge and flavor symmetry factors and bifundamental chiral multiplets have multiple duals. These are obtained by gauging part of the flavor symmetry $S[U(N_f) \times U(N_a)]$ in the duality between U(K) and $U(\max(N_a, N_f) - K)$ theories above. Denote by $a_{ij} \ge 0$ the number of chiral multiplets in the antifundamental representation of $U(N_i)$ and the fundamental of $U(N_j)$ for $i \ne j$. Let $N_f(k) = \sum_i N_i a_{ik}$ and $N_a(k) = \sum_j a_{kj} N_j$ be the numbers of (anti)fundamental chiral multiplets for the node $U(N_k)$. For any gauge factor $U(N_k)$ there exists a dual with

$$N_k \to N'_k = \max\left(N_f(k), N_a(k)\right) - N_k, \qquad a'_{ij} = \begin{cases} a_{ij} + a_{ik}a_{kj} & \text{if } i \neq k \text{ and } j \neq k\\ a_{ji} & \text{if } i = k \text{ or } j = k \end{cases}$$
(5.24)

with cubic superpotential terms coupling the $N_j a'_{jk} = a_{kj}N_j$ fundamental and $a'_{ki}N_i = N_i a_{ik}$ antifundamental chiral multiplets of $U(N'_k)$ with the corresponding $N_i a_{ik} a_{kj}N_j$ singlets of $U(N'_k)$ while preserving the $U(N_i)$ and $U(N_j)$ symmetries. The map of (complexified) FI parameters is more elaborate: for example in quivers with all $N_a(i) = N_f(i)$ so that FI parameters do not run

$$z'_{k} = z_{k}^{-1}$$
 and for $k \neq i$, $z'_{i} = z_{i} z_{k}^{a_{ki}} (z_{k} + 1)^{a_{ik} - a_{ki}}$ (5.25)

in terms of the Kähler parameters $z_j = \exp(-t_j + i\pi(N_f(j) - N_j))$. One can typically apply further Seiberg dualities to other nodes in the quiver, obtaining a web of dualities. However, after dualizing the node $U(N_k)$, the quiver gauge theory involves adjoint matter if

³⁶To ease the parallel description of dual theories we have charge conjugated one theory.

 $a_{ik} \neq 0 \neq a_{ki}$ for some *i*: then one cannot apply Seiberg duality to $U(N_i)$. This motivates the restriction to quivers such that for any of the dual descriptions, whenever $a_{ij} \neq 0 \neq a_{ji}$ for some $i \neq j$, there exists a quadratic superpotential giving mass to $2\min(a_{ij}, a_{ji})$ of these bifundamental chiral multiplets, which can thus be removed without affecting the infrared limit. The condition is difficult to check, but has been proven for various classes of quivers. Then all dual quivers can be taken to have $a_{ij} = 0$ or $a_{ji} = 0$ for all i, j, and the matter content is equally described by the antisymmetric matrix $B_{ij} = a_{ij} - a_{ji}$. In [41] it was observed that B, together with the beta function of FI parameters, and the z_j , reproduce the structure of cluster seeds. Dualities act on this data as cluster mutations. The connection between cluster algebras and 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ quiver dualities is stronger than in higher dimensions, as it concerns not only the quiver described by B but also cluster coefficients and cluster variables.

Seiberg duality can also be realized as an explicit symmetry in a 2d CFT [128]: the A-type sphere partition function of U(K) gauge theories with N_f fundamental and $N_a \leq N_f$ antifundamental chiral multiplets is equal to a correlator in the A_{N_f-1} Toda CFT. Toda CFT charge conjugation reproduces precisely $K' = N_f - K$ and the map of FI parameters, R-charges and twisted masses. This instance of the AGT correspondence goes further: one can include adjoint matter and obtain two other dualities.

- A generalization of N=(2, 2)* dualities studied in [41]. The duality relates U(K) and U(K') gauge theories with N fundamental, N antifundamental and one adjoint chiral multiplet X with a superpotential W = ∑_{F=1}^N φ̃_FX^{l_F}φ_F for arbitrary integers l_F ≥ 0. The magnetic theory has K' = ∑_F l_F − K colors (for K' < 0 supersymmetry is broken and there is no duality). When all l_F = 1, the theories are N=(2, 2)* theories (mass deformations of N=(4, 4) SQCD). A-type sphere partition functions of the two theories were proven to be equal in [128]. Chiral rings are generated by φ̃_AX^kφ_F with 0 ≤ k < l_A, l_F and by Tr X^k for 0 ≤ k < K or 0 ≤ k < K' depending on the theory. This mismatch has not been investigated but might be cured by the superpotential. Just like Seiberg duality, (part of the) flavor symmetries can be gauged to produce dualities between quivers.
- An $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ Kutasov-Schwimmer duality. The electric theory has U(K) gauge group with N_f fundamentals, N_a antifundamentals and one adjoint X with superpotential $W = \operatorname{Tr} X^{l+1}$ for some $l \geq 1$. The magnetic theory is identical with $(K, N_f, N_a, l) \rightarrow$ $(\max(N_f, N_a)l - K, N_a, N_f, l)$ and lN_fN_a gauge singlets M_{jFA} for $0 \leq j < l$, with a superpotential $W = M_{jAF} \tilde{\phi}'_F X'^j \phi'_A + \operatorname{Tr} X'^{(l+1)}$. Chiral rings match under $X \to X'$ and $\tilde{\phi}_A X^j \phi_F \to M_{jAF}$. A-type sphere partition functions were proven to be equal in [128]. It would be interesting to investigate the existence of analogues of Brodie dualities, where the electric and magnetic theories have two adjoint chiral multiplets X and Ysubject to a superpotential $W = \operatorname{Tr}(X^{k+1} + XY^2)$.

Orthogonal and symplectic gauge groups were considered by Hori [131]. For instance, the USp(2k) gauge theory with 2p + 1 fundamentals ϕ_I and m singlets M^a subject to a cubic superpotential $W = A_a^{[IJ]} M^a \langle \phi_I, \phi_J \rangle$ with generic coefficients $A_a^{[IJ]}$ is dual to the theory with

 $k \to p - k$ and $m \to {\binom{2p+1}{2}} - m$ provided these numbers are positive. Sphere partition functions of these dual theories have not been compared: the usual method of comparing Higgs branch expressions fails due to the absence of FI parameter. Gauging a U(1) flavor symmetry gives further dualities [30, 132], whose gauge group $U(1) \times USp(2k)$ (and its \mathbb{Z}_2 quotient) allow FI-theta parameters. Sphere partition functions have been compared for theories whose low-energy limit has a Calabi-Yau threefold target space. Presumably, integrating over the FI-theta parameters as in (5.22) should help prove that Hori duals have equal A-type sphere partition function.

5.4 $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ trialities

We describe dualities [118] between $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ theories with a gauge group U(K) and (anti)fundamental matter. The theories are expected to flow at intermediate energy scales to NLSMs on bundles over Grassmannians [133] and each duality is due to an isomorphism between bundles over Gr(K, N) and Gr(N - K, N) [134].

We let N_P , N_{Φ} , N_{Ψ} denote the number of antifundamental chirals P, fundamental chirals Φ , and antifundamental Fermi multiplets Ψ (which could be mapped to fundamental ones by exchanging E and J interactions). The SU(K) gauge anomaly $N_P/2 + N_{\Phi}/2 - N_{\Psi}/2 - K$ due to fermions in the matter and vector multiplets must vanish, thus $K = (N_P + N_{\Phi} - N_{\Psi})/2$. The U(1) gauge anomaly $N_PK + N_{\Phi}K - N_{\Psi}K = 2K^2$ of these multiplets is cancelled³⁷ by adding two Fermi multiplets $\Omega_{1,2}$ with U(1) charge K, *i.e.*, in the determinant representation of U(K). For convenience, we also include N_PN_{Φ} neutral Fermi multiplets Γ with a J-term interaction $\Gamma P\Phi$.

Theories with $(N_P, N_{\Phi}, N_{\Psi})$ equal to the same (N_1, N_2, N_3) up to cyclic permutations, depicted by the quivers in Figure 1, are expected to flow to the same infrared fixed point. As evidence, we show that the elliptic genus³⁸ is invariant under cyclic permutations of $(N_P, N_{\Phi}, N_{\Psi})$. The classical flavor symmetry is $S[U(N_P) \times U(N_{\Phi}) \times U(N_{\Psi}) \times U(2)]$ with holonomies $(\xi_i^P, \xi_i^{\Phi}, \xi_i^{\Psi}, \xi_i^{\Omega})$ modulo gauge transformations, but mixed flavor-gauge anomalies reduce Abelian symmetries to a two-dimensional subgroup: this can be used for instance to fix the $U(1)_{\Omega}$ holonomy $\sum_i \xi_i^{\Omega} = -\sum_i \xi_i^P - \sum_i \xi_i^{\Phi} + \sum_i \xi_i^{\Psi}$ (we took Φ in the $\overline{\Box}$ of $SU(N_{\Phi})$). Up to a constant, the elliptic genus is a sum of residues of

$$\frac{\prod_{\ell=1}^{2} \theta(\xi_{\ell}^{\Omega} + \sum_{a} u_{a}) \prod_{a=1}^{K} \prod_{i=1}^{N_{\Psi}} \theta(\xi_{i}^{\Psi} - u_{a}) \prod_{j=1}^{N_{P}} \prod_{k=1}^{N_{\Phi}} \theta(\xi_{j}^{P} - \xi_{k}^{\Phi})}{\prod_{a=1}^{K} \prod_{i=1}^{N_{P}} \theta(\xi_{i}^{P} - u_{a}) \prod_{j=1}^{N_{\Phi}} \theta(u_{a} - \xi_{j}^{\Phi})} \prod_{a \neq b}^{K} \theta(u_{a} - u_{b}) \theta'(0)^{K} d^{K} u_{a}}$$

where $\theta(u) = \theta_1(\tau|u)/i\eta(q) = -\theta(-u)$ has zeros at $\mathbb{Z} + \tau\mathbb{Z}$, no poles, and $\theta'(0) = 2\pi i\eta(q)^2$. Several sets of poles give the same sum of residues: poles due to P (at $\{u_a\} = \{\xi_j^P | j \in J\}$ for each set of K distinct flavors $J \subset \{1, \ldots, N_P\}$) with residue

$$\frac{\prod_{\ell=1}^{2} \theta(\xi_{\ell}^{\Omega} + \sum_{j \in J} \xi_{j}^{P}) \prod_{j \in J} \prod_{i=1}^{N_{\Psi}} \theta(\xi_{i}^{\Psi} - \xi_{j}^{P}) \prod_{j \notin J} \prod_{k=1}^{N_{\Phi}} \theta(\xi_{j}^{P} - \xi_{k}^{\Phi})}{\prod_{j \in J} \prod_{i \notin J} \theta(\xi_{i}^{P} - \xi_{j}^{P})};$$
(5.26)

³⁷One could consider SU(K) gauge theories and omit $\Omega_{1,2}$.

³⁸While [118] work in the NSNS sector we work in the RR sector; results are related by spectral flow.



Figure 1: Quivers for three $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ theories related by triality: $K_i = (N_1 + N_2 + N_3)/2 - N_i$ and $(N_P, N_{\Phi}, N_{\Psi})$ is one of (N_2, N_3, N_1) , (N_3, N_1, N_2) , (N_1, N_2, N_3) . The table lists how the chirals P, Φ and Fermis Ψ, Γ, Ω transform under the gauge group $U(K) = U(\frac{1}{2}(N_P + N_{\Phi} - N_{\Psi}))$ and the classical flavor symmetry $S[U(N_P) \times U(N_{\Phi}) \times U(N_{\Psi}) \times U(2)]$ which loses one Abelian factor due to a flavor-gauge anomaly.

or poles due to Φ (at $\{u_a\} = \{\xi_j^{\Phi} | j \in J\}$ for $J \subset \{1, \dots, N_{\Phi}\}$) with residue

$$\frac{\prod_{\ell=1}^{2} \theta(\xi_{\ell}^{\Omega} + \sum_{j \in J} \xi_{j}^{\Phi}) \prod_{j \notin J} \prod_{i=1}^{N_{P}} \theta(\xi_{i}^{P} - \xi_{j}^{\Phi}) \prod_{j \in J} \prod_{k=1}^{N_{\Psi}} \theta(\xi_{k}^{\Psi} - \xi_{j}^{\Phi})}{\prod_{j \in J} \prod_{i \notin J} \theta(\xi_{j}^{\Phi} - \xi_{i}^{\Phi})} .$$
(5.27)

Up to a sign, (5.26) is mapped to (5.27) under $(N_P, \xi^P) \to (N_\Phi, \xi^\Phi) \to (N_\Psi, \xi^\Psi) \to (N_P, \xi^P)$ and $J \to J^{\complement}$. One also has a shift $\xi_i^{\Omega} \to \xi_i^{\Omega} - \sum_j \xi_j^{\Omega} - \sum_j \xi_j^P$ fixed by the above constraint on $\sum \xi^{\Omega}$. Elliptic genera of theories in Figure 1 are thus equal, with $S[U(N_1) \times U(N_2) \times U(N_3) \times SU(2)]$ flavor symmetries identified. Another outcome of the calculation is that the elliptic genus vanishes if $K > N_P$ or $K > N_{\Phi}$ in any frame, which is equivalent to K < 0in a dual frame. This suggests that supersymmetry is broken unless (N_1, N_2, N_3) obey the triangle inequality.

Lack of space forces us to only mention variants of the Gadde-Gukov-Putrov triality. Gauging flavor symmetries leads to dualities between $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ quiver gauge theories with bifundamental chiral/Fermi multiplets and Fermi multiplets in determinant representations; however, most quivers have either gauge anomalies or spontaneous supersymmetry breaking. Such quivers were obtained from brane brick models in [135]. As shown in [136], a twisted dimensional reduction of the 6d (2,0) theory on $S^2 \times \Sigma$ yields $\mathcal{N}=(0,4)$ Lagrangians labelled by pants decompositions of Σ , and changes in pants decomposition give $\mathcal{N}=(0,4)$ dualities. Similarly, twisted dimensional reductions on S^2 of 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ and 4d $\mathcal{N}=2$ dualities yield twodimensional (0,2) or (0,4) or (2,2) dualities [137], in particular an SU(K) variant of the (0,2) triality above. All of these dualities are checked by comparing elliptic genera. The dimensional reduction is based on [138, 9] (see also [139, 140, 141]).

6 Conclusion

We have reviewed the main localization calculations in two dimensions on the sphere (section 2), other curved backgrounds (section 3) and the torus (section 4), and discussed applications

to mirror symmetry and gauge theory dualities (section 5). We now conclude this review by mentioning other developments.

Two-dimensional gauge theory descriptions of several non-critical strings in 6d SCFTs have been tested by comparing topological vertex results to the elliptic genus of a string. As discussed in Contribution [124], this was done for M-strings [123, 142, 143, 144] (namely M2-branes suspended between M5-branes), E-strings [145, 146] (M2-branes suspended between M5- and M9-branes), little strings [147] (strings on type IIA or IIB NS5-branes), and for a class of 6d $\mathcal{N}=(1,0)$ SCFTs engineered from F-theory [148, 149].

Nekrasov's instanton partition function of 4d $\mathcal{N}=2$ theories such as SU(N) super-Yang-Mills can be reproduced by an appropriate (R-preserving) S^2 partition function [150].³⁹ The 4d theory is engineered by N fractional D3-branes on $\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_2$ and its instantons by k D(-1)-branes. Blowing up the singular point yields a D1–D5 brane system, described in the gauge theory limit by a 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ U(k) GLSM on the blown-up sphere \mathbb{CP}^1 . In the zeroradius limit, its sphere partition function reproduces the equivariant volume of the ADHM moduli space of k instantons, while for non-zero radius it captures genus zero Gromov-Witten invariants of the ADHM moduli space [16, 152]. This construction was later used to extract spectra of hydrodynamic quantum integrable systems [153, 154].

Another appearance of integrable models in relation to 2d localization is that elliptic genera give solutions to Yang-Baxter equations [155, 156]. In this context, the Yang-Baxter equation amounts to the invariance of the genus under $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ Seiberg-like dualities.

We have already mentioned that twisted dimensional reductions of 4d $\mathcal{N}=1$ theories on a sphere yield 2d $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ theories and that 4d dualities become 2d dualities. The 2d $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ elliptic genus is thus a limit of a $T^2 \times S^2$ partition function [9]. Similarly, the partition function of 3d $\mathcal{N}=2$ theories on Lens spaces, described in Contribution [157], reduces to an S^2 partition function when the circle fiber of the Lens space shrinks to zero size (see also [158, 159]). The S^2 partition function also appears when localizing 4d $\mathcal{N}=2$ theories on S^4 on their Higgs branch [160, 161].

In four-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories, a class of surface operators can be constructed by coupling a two-dimensional theory to the bulk fields supersymmetrically (see also Contribution [162]). Superconformal indices of coupled 2d/4d systems were computed in [88] (see [163, 164] for related 5d calculations) and led to discovering the node-hopping duality (see also [165]): coupling the same 2d $\mathcal{N}=(2, 2)$ theory to different fields in a 4d $\mathcal{N}=2$ quiver theory gives the same surface operator at low energies. The AGT correspondence relates the node-hopping duality to crossing symmetry in a 2d CFT [128]: the S^4 partition function of the 4d theory is identified with a Toda CFT correlator, adding a surface operator on $S^2 \subset S^4$ corresponds to inserting a (degenerate) vertex operator in the correlator, and different choices of couplings correspond to different OPEs of that vertex operator with others. Kähler parameters (the 4d gauge coupling and 2d FI/theta parameters) correspond to positions of vertex operators in the correlator and are expected to transform non-trivially

³⁹In a different approach [151], for 4d $\mathcal{N}=2$ theories engineered by string theories on a Calabi-Yau threefold X, the Seiberg-Witten Kähler potential can be obtained as that of X, itself derived from the S^2 partition function of a GLSM flowing to an NLSM on X.

under node-hopping. The map could be found by comparing $S^2 \subset S^4$ partition functions of these 2d/4d systems, but instanton-vortex partition functions which appear when localizing [166] are unknown. It would be interesting to derive them.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Nikolay Bobev, Cyril Closset, Stefano Cremonesi, Nima Doroud, Richard Eager, Jaume Gomis, Kentaro Hori, Sungjay Lee, Daniel S. Park, Mauricio Romo, Yuji Tachikawa, Ran Yacoby, Alberto Zaffaroni and Peng Zhao for collaborations and insightful discussions over the years on some of the material presented here. F.B. is supported in part by the Royal Society as a Royal Society University Research Fellowship holder, and by the MIUR-SIR grant RBSI1471GJ "Quantum Field Theories at Strong Coupling: Exact Computations and Applications".

References

- [1] V. Pestun and M. Zabzine, eds., Localization techniques in quantum field theory, vol. xx. Journal of Physics A, 2016. 1608.02952. https://arxiv.org/src/1608.02952/anc/LocQFT.pdf, http://pestun.ihes.fr/pages/LocalizationReview/LocQFT.pdf.
- [2] N. Seiberg, "Electric magnetic duality in supersymmetric nonAbelian gauge theories," Nucl. Phys. B435 (1995) 129-146, arXiv:hep-th/9411149 [hep-th].
- [3] E. Witten, "Phases of N=2 theories in two-dimensions," Nucl. Phys. B403 (1993) 159-222, arXiv:hep-th/9301042 [hep-th].
- [4] G. Festuccia and N. Seiberg, "Rigid Supersymmetric Theories in Curved Superspace," JHEP 06 (2011) 114, arXiv:1105.0689 [hep-th].
- [5] T. Dumitrescu, "An Introduction to Supersymmetric Field Theories in Curved Space," Journal of Physics A xx (2016) 000, 1608.02957.
- [6] C. Closset and S. Cremonesi, "Comments on $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ supersymmetry on two-manifolds," *JHEP* **07** (2014) 075, arXiv:1404.2636 [hep-th].
- [7] J. Bae, C. Imbimbo, S.-J. Rey, and D. Rosa, "New Supersymmetric Localizations from Topological Gravity," JHEP 03 (2016) 169, arXiv:1510.00006 [hep-th].
- [8] E. Witten, "Topological Sigma Models," Commun. Math. Phys. 118 (1988) 411.
- [9] F. Benini and A. Zaffaroni, "A topologically twisted index for three-dimensional supersymmetric theories," JHEP 07 (2015) 127, arXiv:1504.03698 [hep-th].

- [10] C. Closset, S. Cremonesi, and D. S. Park, "The equivariant A-twist and gauged linear sigma models on the two-sphere," *JHEP* 06 (2015) 076, arXiv:1504.06308 [hep-th].
- [11] F. Benini and S. Cremonesi, "Partition Functions of $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ Gauge Theories on S^2 and Vortices," Commun. Math. Phys. **334** (2015) no. 3, 1483–1527, arXiv:1206.2356 [hep-th].
- [12] N. Doroud, J. Gomis, B. Le Floch, and S. Lee, "Exact Results in D=2 Supersymmetric Gauge Theories," *JHEP* 05 (2013) 093, arXiv:1206.2606 [hep-th].
- [13] J. Gomis and S. Lee, "Exact Kahler Potential from Gauge Theory and Mirror Symmetry," JHEP 04 (2013) 019, arXiv:1210.6022 [hep-th].
- [14] V. Pestun, "Localization of gauge theory on a four-sphere and supersymmetric Wilson loops," Commun. Math. Phys. 313 (2012) 71-129, arXiv:0712.2824 [hep-th].
- [15] J. Halverson, V. Kumar, and D. R. Morrison, "New Methods for Characterizing Phases of 2D Supersymmetric Gauge Theories," *JHEP* 09 (2013) 143, arXiv:1305.3278 [hep-th].
- [16] G. Bonelli, A. Sciarappa, A. Tanzini, and P. Vasko, "Vortex partition functions, wall crossing and equivariant Gromov-Witten invariants," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 333 (2015) no. 2, 717–760, arXiv:1307.5997 [hep-th].
- [17] D. Morrison, "Gromov-Witten invariants and localization," Journal of Physics A (2016), 1608.02956.
- [18] H. Jockers, V. Kumar, J. M. Lapan, D. R. Morrison, and M. Romo, "Two-Sphere Partition Functions and Gromov-Witten Invariants," *Commun. Math. Phys.* **325** (2014) 1139–1170, arXiv:1208.6244 [hep-th].
- [19] E. Gerchkovitz, J. Gomis, and Z. Komargodski, "Sphere Partition Functions and the Zamolodchikov Metric," JHEP 11 (2014) 001, arXiv:1405.7271 [hep-th].
- [20] J. Gomis, Z. Komargodski, P.-S. Hsin, A. Schwimmer, N. Seiberg, and S. Theisen, "Anomalies, Conformal Manifolds, and Spheres," arXiv:1509.08511 [hep-th].
- [21] N. Doroud and J. Gomis, "Gauge theory dynamics and Kahler potential for Calabi-Yau complex moduli," JHEP 12 (2013) 99, arXiv:1309.2305 [hep-th].
- [22] S. Sugishita and S. Terashima, "Exact Results in Supersymmetric Field Theories on Manifolds with Boundaries," JHEP 11 (2013) 021, arXiv:1308.1973 [hep-th].
- [23] D. Honda and T. Okuda, "Exact results for boundaries and domain walls in 2d supersymmetric theories," JHEP 09 (2015) 140, arXiv:1308.2217 [hep-th].

- [24] K. Hori and M. Romo, "Exact Results In Two-Dimensional (2,2) Supersymmetric Gauge Theories With Boundary," arXiv:1308.2438 [hep-th].
- [25] H. Kim, S. Lee, and P. Yi, "Exact partition functions on \mathbb{RP}^2 and orientifolds," *JHEP* **02** (2014) 103, arXiv:1310.4505 [hep-th].
- [26] C. Closset, W. Gu, B. Jia, and E. Sharpe, "Localization of twisted $\mathcal{N}=(0,2)$ gauged linear sigma models in two dimensions," arXiv:1512.08058 [hep-th].
- [27] N. Hama, K. Hosomichi, and S. Lee, "SUSY Gauge Theories on Squashed Three-Spheres," JHEP 05 (2011) 014, arXiv:1102.4716 [hep-th].
- [28] N. Hama and K. Hosomichi, "Seiberg-Witten Theories on Ellipsoids," JHEP 09 (2012) 033, arXiv:1206.6359 [hep-th]. [Addendum: JHEP10,051(2012)].
- [29] P. Goddard, J. Nuyts, and D. I. Olive, "Gauge Theories and Magnetic Charge," Nucl. Phys. B125 (1977) 1.
- [30] K. Hori and J. Knapp, "Linear sigma models with strongly coupled phases one parameter models," JHEP 11 (2013) 070, arXiv:1308.6265 [hep-th].
- [31] K. Hori, C. Y. Park, and Y. Tachikawa, "2d SCFTs from M2-branes," JHEP 11 (2013) 147, arXiv:1309.3036 [hep-th].
- [32] M. Fujitsuka, M. Honda, and Y. Yoshida, "Higgs branch localization of 3d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories," *PTEP* **2014** (2014) no. 12, 123B02, arXiv:1312.3627 [hep-th].
- [33] F. Benini and W. Peelaers, "Higgs branch localization in three dimensions," JHEP 05 (2014) 030, arXiv:1312.6078 [hep-th].
- [34] W. Peelaers, "Higgs branch localization of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories on $S^3 \times S^1$," JHEP 08 (2014) 060, arXiv:1403.2711 [hep-th].
- [35] Y. Yoshida, "Factorization of 4d N=1 superconformal index," arXiv:1403.0891 [hep-th].
- [36] T. Fujimori, T. Kimura, M. Nitta, and K. Ohashi, "2d Partition Function in Omega-background and Vortex/Instanton Correspondence," JHEP 12 (2015) 110, arXiv:1509.08630 [hep-th].
- [37] M. F. Atiyah and R. Bott, "The Moment map and equivariant cohomology," *Topology* 23 (1984) 1–28.
- [38] N. Berline and M. Vergne, "Classes caractéristiques équivariantes. Formule de localisation en cohomologie équivariante," *C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris* **295** (1982) 539–541.
- [39] G. 't Hooft, "On the Phase Transition Towards Permanent Quark Confinement," Nucl. Phys. B138 (1978) 1.

- [40] E. Gerchkovitz, J. Gomis, N. Ishtiaque, A. Karasik, Z. Komargodski, and S. S. Pufu, "Correlation Functions of Coulomb Branch Operators," arXiv:1602.05971 [hep-th].
- [41] F. Benini, D. S. Park, and P. Zhao, "Cluster Algebras from Dualities of 2d N = (2, 2) Quiver Gauge Theories," Commun. Math. Phys. 340 (2015) no. 1, 47–104, arXiv:1406.2699 [hep-th].
- [42] E. Witten, "The Verlinde algebra and the cohomology of the Grassmannian," arXiv:hep-th/9312104 [hep-th].
- [43] K. Hosomichi, "Orbifolds, Defects and Sphere Partition Function," arXiv:1507.07650 [hep-th].
- [44] I. Biswas, "Parabolic bundles as orbifold bundles," Duke Math. J. 88 (1997) no. 2, 305–325. http://dx.doi.org/10.1215/S0012-7094-97-08812-8.
- [45] K. Hori and C. Vafa, "Mirror symmetry," arXiv:hep-th/0002222 [hep-th].
- [46] E. Witten, "Mirror manifolds and topological field theory," arXiv:hep-th/9112056 [hep-th].
- [47] T. Buscher, U. Lindstrom, and M. Rocek, "New Supersymmetric σ Models With Wess-Zumino Terms," *Phys. Lett.* **B202** (1988) 94.
- [48] U. Lindstrom, M. Rocek, I. Ryb, R. von Unge, and M. Zabzine, "New N = (2,2) vector multiplets," JHEP 08 (2007) 008, arXiv:0705.3201 [hep-th].
- [49] S. J. Gates, Jr., C. M. Hull, and M. Rocek, "Twisted Multiplets and New Supersymmetric Nonlinear Sigma Models," *Nucl. Phys.* B248 (1984) 157.
- [50] M. Gualtieri, Generalized Complex Geometry. PhD thesis, Oxford University, 2003. arXiv:math/0401221 [math.DG].
- [51] M. Gualtieri, "Generalized Complex Geometry," Ann. of Math. (2) 174 (2011) 75-123, arXiv:math/0703298 [math.DG].
- [52] F. Benini, P. M. Crichigno, D. Jain, and J. Nian, "Semichiral Fields on S² and Generalized Kähler Geometry," arXiv:1505.06207 [hep-th].
- [53] H. Ooguri, Y. Oz, and Z. Yin, "D-branes on Calabi-Yau spaces and their mirrors," Nucl. Phys. B477 (1996) 407-430, arXiv:hep-th/9606112 [hep-th].
- [54] K. Hori, A. Iqbal, and C. Vafa, "D-branes and mirror symmetry," arXiv:hep-th/0005247 [hep-th].

- [55] M. Herbst, K. Hori, and D. Page, "Phases Of N=2 Theories In 1+1 Dimensions With Boundary," arXiv:0803.2045 [hep-th].
- [56] R. Minasian and G. W. Moore, "K theory and Ramond-Ramond charge," JHEP 11 (1997) 002, arXiv:hep-th/9710230 [hep-th].
- [57] N. P. Warner, "Supersymmetry in boundary integrable models," Nucl. Phys. B450 (1995) 663-694, arXiv:hep-th/9506064 [hep-th].
- [58] A. Sen, "Tachyon condensation on the brane anti-brane system," JHEP 08 (1998) 012, arXiv:hep-th/9805170 [hep-th].
- [59] S. Hosono, "Central charges, symplectic forms, and hypergeometric series in local mirror symmetry," arXiv:hep-th/0404043 [hep-th].
- [60] L. Katzarkov, M. Kontsevich, and T. Pantev, "Hodge theoretic aspects of mirror symmetry," arXiv:0806.0107 [math.AG].
- [61] H. Iritani, "An integral structure in quantum cohomology and mirror symmetry for toric orbifolds," Adv. Math. 222 (2009) no. 3, 1016–1079, 0903.1463 [math.AG].
- [62] J. Halverson, H. Jockers, J. M. Lapan, and D. R. Morrison, "Perturbative Corrections to Kaehler Moduli Spaces," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 333 (2015) no. 3, 1563–1584, arXiv:1308.2157 [hep-th].
- [63] E. Witten, "Topological Quantum Field Theory," Commun. Math. Phys. 117 (1988) 353.
- [64] D. R. Morrison and M. R. Plesser, "Summing the instantons: Quantum cohomology and mirror symmetry in toric varieties," *Nucl. Phys.* B440 (1995) 279–354, arXiv:hep-th/9412236 [hep-th].
- [65] A. B. Givental, "Equivariant Gromov-Witten Invariants," Internat. Math. Res. Notices 13 (1996) 613, arXiv:alg-geom/9603021 [alg-geom].
- [66] L. C. Jeffrey and F. C. Kirwan, "Localization for nonabelian group actions," *Topology* 34 (1995) no. 2, 291–327, arXiv:alg-geom/9307001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0040-9383(94)00028-J.
- [67] F. Benini, R. Eager, K. Hori, and Y. Tachikawa, "Elliptic Genera of 2d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Gauge Theories," *Commun. Math. Phys.* **333** (2015) no. 3, 1241–1286, arXiv:1308.4896 [hep-th].
- [68] T. T. Dumitrescu and N. Seiberg, "Supercurrents and Brane Currents in Diverse Dimensions," JHEP 07 (2011) 095, arXiv:1106.0031 [hep-th].
- [69] M. F. Sohnius and P. C. West, "An Alternative Minimal Off-Shell Version of N=1 Supergravity," Phys. Lett. B105 (1981) 353.

- [70] M. Sohnius and P. C. West, "The Tensor Calculus and Matter Coupling of the Alternative Minimal Auxiliary Field Formulation of N = 1 Supergravity," Nucl. Phys. **B198** (1982) 493.
- [71] S. J. Gates, M. T. Grisaru, M. Rocek, and W. Siegel, "Superspace Or One Thousand and One Lessons in Supersymmetry," *Front. Phys.* 58 (1983) 1–548, arXiv:hep-th/0108200 [hep-th].
- [72] A. N. Schellekens and N. P. Warner, "Anomalies and Modular Invariance in String Theory," *Phys. Lett.* B177 (1986) 317.
- [73] A. N. Schellekens and N. P. Warner, "Anomaly Cancellation and Selfdual Lattices," *Phys. Lett.* B181 (1986) 339.
- [74] K. Pilch, A. N. Schellekens, and N. P. Warner, "Path Integral Calculation of String Anomalies," Nucl. Phys. B287 (1987) 362.
- [75] E. Witten, "Elliptic Genera and Quantum Field Theory," Commun. Math. Phys. 109 (1987) 525.
- [76] E. Witten, "The Index of the Dirac Operator in Loop Space," in *Elliptic Curves and Modular Form in Algebraic Topology*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics. 1988. http://alice.cern.ch/format/showfull?sysnb=0088339.
- [77] E. Witten, "Constraints on Supersymmetry Breaking," Nucl. Phys. B202 (1982) 253.
- [78] F. Benini and N. Bobev, "Exact two-dimensional superconformal R-symmetry and c-extremization," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **110** (2013) no. 6, 061601, arXiv:1211.4030 [hep-th].
- [79] F. Benini and N. Bobev, "Two-dimensional SCFTs from wrapped branes and c-extremization," JHEP 06 (2013) 005, arXiv:1302.4451 [hep-th].
- [80] V. Gritsenko, "Elliptic genus of Calabi-Yau manifolds and Jacobi and Siegel modular forms," arXiv:math/9906190 [math].
- [81] T. Eguchi, H. Ooguri, A. Taormina, and S.-K. Yang, "Superconformal Algebras and String Compactification on Manifolds with SU(N) Holonomy," *Nucl. Phys.* B315 (1989) 193.
- [82] H. Ooguri, "Superconformal Symmetry and Geometry of Ricci Flat Kahler Manifolds," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A4 (1989) 4303–4324.
- [83] E. Witten, "On the Landau-Ginzburg description of N=2 minimal models," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A9 (1994) 4783-4800, arXiv:hep-th/9304026 [hep-th].

- [84] P. Berglund and M. Henningson, "Landau-Ginzburg orbifolds, mirror symmetry and the elliptic genus," Nucl. Phys. B433 (1995) 311-332, arXiv:hep-th/9401029 [hep-th].
- [85] T. Kawai, Y. Yamada, and S.-K. Yang, "Elliptic genera and N=2 superconformal field theory," Nucl. Phys. B414 (1994) 191-212, arXiv:hep-th/9306096 [hep-th].
- [86] T. Kawai and S.-K. Yang, "Duality of orbifoldized elliptic genera," Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 118 (1995) 277-298, arXiv:hep-th/9408121 [hep-th].
- [87] P. Berglund and M. Henningson, "On the elliptic genus and mirror symmetry," arXiv:hep-th/9406045 [hep-th].
- [88] A. Gadde and S. Gukov, "2d Index and Surface operators," JHEP 03 (2014) 080, arXiv:1305.0266 [hep-th].
- [89] F. Benini, R. Eager, K. Hori, and Y. Tachikawa, "Elliptic genera of two-dimensional N=2 gauge theories with rank-one gauge groups," *Lett. Math. Phys.* **104** (2014) 465–493, arXiv:1305.0533 [hep-th].
- [90] X. Ma and J. Zhou, "Elliptic genera of complete intersections," Internat. J. Math. 16 (2005) no. 10, 1131–1155, arXiv:math/0411081 [math.AG]. http://dx.doi.org/10.1142/S0129167X05003259.
- [91] S. Guo and J. Zhou, "Elliptic genera of complete intersections in weighted projective spaces," *Internat. J. Math.* 22 (2011) no. 5, 695–712. http://dx.doi.org/10.1142/S0129167X11007008.
- [92] J. Distler and S. Kachru, "(0,2) Landau-Ginzburg theory," Nucl. Phys. B413 (1994) 213-243, arXiv:hep-th/9309110 [hep-th].
- [93] T. Kawai and K. Mohri, "Geometry of (0,2) Landau-Ginzburg orbifolds," Nucl. Phys. B425 (1994) 191-216, arXiv:hep-th/9402148 [hep-th].
- [94] P. A. Grassi, G. Policastro, and E. Scheidegger, "Partition Functions, Localization, and the Chiral de Rham complex," arXiv:hep-th/0702044 [HEP-TH].
- [95] S. Harrison, S. Kachru, and N. M. Paquette, "Twining Genera of (0,4) Supersymmetric Sigma Models on K3," *JHEP* 04 (2014) 048, arXiv:1309.0510 [hep-th].
- [96] S. Murthy, "A holomorphic anomaly in the elliptic genus," JHEP 06 (2014) 165, arXiv:1311.0918 [hep-th].
- [97] S. K. Ashok, N. Doroud, and J. Troost, "Localization and real Jacobi forms," JHEP 04 (2014) 119, arXiv:1311.1110 [hep-th].

- [98] D. Israel and M. Sarkis, "New supersymmetric index of heterotic compactifications with torsion," JHEP 12 (2015) 069, arXiv:1509.05704 [hep-th].
- [99] E. Witten, "Two-dimensional gauge theories revisited,"
 J. Geom. Phys. 9 (1992) 303-368, arXiv:hep-th/9204083 [hep-th].
- [100] K. Hori, H. Kim, and P. Yi, "Witten Index and Wall Crossing," JHEP 01 (2015) 124, arXiv:1407.2567 [hep-th].
- [101] C. Cordova and S.-H. Shao, "An Index Formula for Supersymmetric Quantum Mechanics," arXiv:1406.7853 [hep-th].
- [102] N. A. Nekrasov, "Seiberg-Witten prepotential from instanton counting," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7 (2003) no. 5, 831-864, arXiv:hep-th/0206161 [hep-th].
- [103] S. Nakamura, "On the Jeffrey-Kirwan residue of BCD-instantons," PTEP 2015 (2015) no. 7, 073B02, arXiv:1502.04188 [hep-th].
- [104] C. Hwang, J. Kim, S. Kim, and J. Park, "General instanton counting and 5d SCFT," *JHEP* 07 (2015) 063, arXiv:1406.6793 [hep-th].
- [105] J. Distler, "Notes on (0,2) superconformal field theories," in *Trieste HEP Cosmology* 1994:0322-351, pp. 0322-351. 1995. arXiv:hep-th/9502012 [hep-th].
- [106] A. Szenes and M. Vergne, "Toric reduction and a conjecture of Batyrev and Materov," Invent. Math. 158 (2004) no. 3, 453-495, arXiv:math/0306311 [math.AT]. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00222-004-0375-2.
- [107] P. Orkik and H. Terao, Arrangements of Hyperplanes, vol. 300 of Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1992.
- [108] M. Brion and M. Vergne, "Arrangement of hyperplanes. I. Rational functions and Jeffrey-Kirwan residue," Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 32 (1999) 715–741, arXiv:math/9903178 [math.DG].
- [109] K. Hori and A. Kapustin, "Duality of the fermionic 2-D black hole and N=2 Liouville theory as mirror symmetry," JHEP 08 (2001) 045, arXiv:hep-th/0104202 [hep-th].
- [110] E. Witten, "On string theory and black holes," Phys. Rev. **D44** (1991) 314–324.
- [111] S. K. Ashok and J. Troost, "Elliptic genera and real Jacobi forms," JHEP 01 (2014) 082, arXiv:1310.2124 [hep-th].
- [112] S. P. Zwegers, Moch theta functions. PhD thesis, Utrecht, 2002. arXiv:0807.4834.

- [113] D. Zagier, "Ramanujan's mock theta functions and their applications [d'après Zwegers and Bringmann-Ono]," in Séminaire BOURBAKI, 60 ème année, n. 986. 2006-2007.
- [114] A. Dabholkar, S. Murthy, and D. Zagier, "Quantum Black Holes, Wall Crossing, and Mock Modular Forms," arXiv:1208.4074 [hep-th].
- [115] J. A. Harvey, S. Lee, and S. Murthy, "Elliptic genera of ALE and ALF manifolds from gauged linear sigma models," JHEP 02 (2015) 110, arXiv:1406.6342 [hep-th].
- [116] G. W. Gibbons and S. W. Hawking, "Gravitational Multi Instantons," *Phys. Lett.* B78 (1978) 430.
- [117] D. Tong, "NS5-branes, T duality and world sheet instantons," JHEP 07 (2002) 013, arXiv:hep-th/0204186 [hep-th].
- [118] A. Gadde, S. Gukov, and P. Putrov, "(0, 2) trialities," JHEP 03 (2014) 076, arXiv:1310.0818 [hep-th].
- [119] L. F. Alday, D. Gaiotto, and Y. Tachikawa, "Liouville Correlation Functions from Four-dimensional Gauge Theories," *Lett. Math. Phys.* 91 (2010) 167–197, arXiv:0906.3219 [hep-th].
- [120] Y. Tachikawa, "A brief review of the 2d/4d correspondences," Journal of Physics A xx (2016) 000, 1608.02964.
- [121] C. Vafa and E. Witten, "A Strong coupling test of S duality," Nucl. Phys. B431 (1994) 3-77, arXiv:hep-th/9408074 [hep-th].
- [122] A. Gadde, S. Gukov, and P. Putrov, "Fivebranes and 4-manifolds," arXiv:1306.4320 [hep-th].
- [123] B. Haghighat, A. Iqbal, C. Kozkaz, G. Lockhart, and C. Vafa, "M-Strings," Commun. Math. Phys. 334 (2015) no. 2, 779–842, arXiv:1305.6322 [hep-th].
- [124] S. Kim and K. Lee, "Indices for 6 dimensional superconformal field theories," Journal of Physics A xx (2016) 000, 1608.02969.
- [125] E. Sharpe, "Predictions for Gromov-Witten invariants of noncommutative resolutions," J. Geom. Phys. 74 (2013) 256-265, arXiv:1212.5322 [hep-th].
- [126] Y. Honma and M. Manabe, "Exact Kahler Potential for Calabi-Yau Fourfolds," JHEP 05 (2013) 102, arXiv:1302.3760 [hep-th].
- [127] K. Hori and D. Tong, "Aspects of Non-Abelian Gauge Dynamics in Two-Dimensional $\mathcal{N}=(2,2)$ Theories," *JHEP* **05** (2007) 079, arXiv:hep-th/0609032 [hep-th].

- [128] J. Gomis and B. Le Floch, "M2-brane surface operators and gauge theory dualities in Toda," arXiv:1407.1852 [hep-th].
- [129] N. Doroud. Private communication, 2016.
- [130] K. Ueda and Y. Yoshida, "Equivariant A-twisted GLSM and Gromov-Witten invariants of CY 3-folds in Grassmannians," arXiv:1602.02487 [hep-th].
- [131] K. Hori, "Duality In Two-Dimensional (2,2) Supersymmetric Non-Abelian Gauge Theories," JHEP 10 (2013) 121, arXiv:1104.2853 [hep-th].
- [132] A. Gerhardus and H. Jockers, "Dual Pairs of Gauged Linear Sigma Models and Derived Equivalences of Calabi-Yau threefolds," arXiv:1505.00099 [hep-th].
- [133] A. Gadde, S. Gukov, and P. Putrov, "Exact Solutions of 2d Supersymmetric Gauge Theories," arXiv:1404.5314 [hep-th].
- [134] B. Jia, E. Sharpe, and R. Wu, "Notes on nonabelian (0,2) theories and dualities," *JHEP* 08 (2014) 017, arXiv:1401.1511 [hep-th].
- [135] S. Franco, S. Lee, and R.-K. Seong, "Brane Brick Models and 2d (0,2) Triality," arXiv:1602.01834 [hep-th].
- [136] P. Putrov, J. Song, and W. Yan, "(0,4) dualities," arXiv:1505.07110 [hep-th].
- [137] A. Gadde, S. S. Razamat, and B. Willett, "On the reduction of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories on \mathbb{S}^2 ," *JHEP* **11** (2015) 163, arXiv:1506.08795 [hep-th].
- [138] C. Closset and I. Shamir, "The $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Chiral Multiplet on $T^2 \times S^2$ and Supersymmetric Localization," *JHEP* **03** (2014) 040, arXiv:1311.2430 [hep-th].
- [139] M. Honda and Y. Yoshida, "Supersymmetric index on $T^2 \times S^2$ and elliptic genus," arXiv:1504.04355 [hep-th].
- [140] M. Honda, "N=2 minimal model from 4d supersymmetric theory," arXiv:1508.06111 [hep-th].
- [141] S. Cecotti, J. Song, C. Vafa, and W. Yan, "Superconformal Index, BPS Monodromy and Chiral Algebras," arXiv:1511.01516 [hep-th].
- [142] B. Haghighat, C. Kozcaz, G. Lockhart, and C. Vafa, "Orbifolds of M-strings," *Phys. Rev.* D89 (2014) no. 4, 046003, arXiv:1310.1185 [hep-th].
- [143] K. Hosomichi and S. Lee, "Self-dual Strings and 2D SYM," JHEP 01 (2015) 076, arXiv:1406.1802 [hep-th].
- [144] Y. Sugimoto, "The Enhancement of Supersymmetry in M-strings," arXiv:1508.02125 [hep-th].

- [145] J. Kim, S. Kim, K. Lee, J. Park, and C. Vafa, "Elliptic Genus of E-strings," arXiv:1411.2324 [hep-th].
- [146] J. Kim, S. Kim, and K. Lee, "Higgsing towards E-strings," arXiv:1510.03128 [hep-th].
- [147] J. Kim, S. Kim, and K. Lee, "Little strings and T-duality," arXiv:1503.07277 [hep-th].
- [148] B. Haghighat, A. Klemm, G. Lockhart, and C. Vafa, "Strings of Minimal 6d SCFTs," Fortsch. Phys. 63 (2015) 294-322, arXiv:1412.3152 [hep-th].
- [149] A. Gadde, B. Haghighat, J. Kim, S. Kim, G. Lockhart, and C. Vafa, "6d String Chains," arXiv:1504.04614 [hep-th].
- [150] G. Bonelli, A. Sciarappa, A. Tanzini, and P. Vasko, "The Stringy Instanton Partition Function," JHEP 01 (2014) 038, arXiv:1306.0432 [hep-th].
- [151] D. S. Park and J. Song, "The Seiberg-Witten Kahler Potential as a Two-Sphere Partition Function," JHEP 01 (2013) 142, arXiv:1211.0019 [hep-th].
- [152] M. Manabe, "Stringy Instanton Counting and Topological Strings," JHEP 07 (2015) 097, arXiv:1501.00064 [hep-th].
- [153] G. Bonelli, A. Sciarappa, A. Tanzini, and P. Vasko, "Six-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories, quantum cohomology of instanton moduli spaces and gl(N) Quantum Intermediate Long Wave Hydrodynamics," JHEP 07 (2014) 141, arXiv:1403.6454 [hep-th].
- [154] G. Bonelli, A. Sciarappa, A. Tanzini, and P. Vasko, "Quantum Cohomology and Quantum Hydrodynamics from Supersymmetric Quiver Gauge Theories," arXiv:1505.07116 [hep-th].
- [155] M. Yamazaki and W. Yan, "Integrability from 2d $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ dualities," J. Phys. A48 (2015) 394001, arXiv:1504.05540 [hep-th].
- [156] J. Yagi, "Quiver gauge theories and integrable lattice models," JHEP 10 (2015) 065, arXiv:1504.04055 [hep-th].
- [157] B. Willett, "Localization on three-dimensional manifolds," Journal of Physics A xx (2016) 000, 1608.02958.
- [158] F. Benini, T. Nishioka, and M. Yamazaki, "4d Index to 3d Index and 2d TQFT," *Phys. Rev.* D86 (2012) 065015, arXiv:1109.0283 [hep-th].
- [159] M. Yamazaki, "Four-dimensional superconformal index reloaded," Theor. Math. Phys. 174 (2013) 154–166. [Teor. Mat. Fiz.174,177(2013)].
- [160] H.-Y. Chen and T.-H. Tsai, "On Higgs Branch Localization of Seiberg-Witten Theories on Ellipsoid," arXiv:1506.04390 [hep-th].
- [161] Y. Pan and W. Peelaers, "Ellipsoid partition function from Seiberg-Witten monopoles," JHEP 10 (2015) 183, arXiv:1508.07329 [hep-th].
- [162] K. Hosomichi, " $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY gauge theories on S^4 ," Journal of Physics A **xx** (2016) 000, 1608.02962.
- [163] D. Gaiotto and H.-C. Kim, "Surface defects and instanton partition functions," arXiv:1412.2781 [hep-th].
- [164] M. Bullimore, H.-C. Kim, and P. Koroteev, "Defects and Quantum Seiberg-Witten Geometry," JHEP 05 (2015) 095, arXiv:1412.6081 [hep-th].
- [165] H.-Y. Chen and H.-Y. Chen, "Heterotic Surface Defects and Dualities from 2d/4d Indices," JHEP 10 (2014) 004, arXiv:1407.4587 [hep-th].
- [166] J. Lamy-Poirier, "Localization of a supersymmetric gauge theory in the presence of a surface defect," arXiv:1412.0530 [hep-th].